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3) CSEA Agmt. & 32 Compliance Attached: | Yes

Revenue: Federal Aid: State Aid:
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Department:
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Contract Specific Contact: Ana Sousa
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Contract Specific Phone: (516) 571-0113

Address: 240 Old Country Rd, Mineola, NY 11501

Phone: (516) 571-3249

Email: ccasolaro@nassaucountyny.gov

Contract Summary

Purpose: PMQA Services for ERP Project Implementation

Method of Procurement: RFP

Procurement History: N/A

Description of General Provisions: PMQA Services:
Pre-Implementation
Implementation

Post Implementation

Impact on Funding / Price Analysis: $1,059,130.00 in Capital Funds

Change in Contract from Prior Procurement: N/A

Recommendation: Approve as Submitted




Advisement Information

Fund | Control | Resp. Center Object Index Code Sub Object Budget Code Line Amount
PWCAPCAP 00002
CAP 00 PWCAPCAP 00002 97139 000 01 $91,298.00
Project Number 97139
Project Detail 000
TOTAL $91,298.00
Additional Info Funding Source Amount
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Transaction County
Federal $0.00
Renewal State $0.00
% Increase Capital $91,298.00
% Decrease Other $0.00
Total $91,298.00
Routing Slip
Department
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DPW
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Final Approval Ken Arnold 03/16/2023 03:39PM Approved
County Attorney
RE & Insurance Verification Nick Sarandis 03/16/2023 04:44PM Approved
Approval as to Form Thomas Montefinise 03/16/2023 04:39PM Approved
NIFS Approval Mary Nori 03/20/2023 03:45PM Approved
Final Approval Mary Nori 03/20/2023 03:45PM Approved
OMB
NIFS Approval Nadiya Gumieniak 03/16/2023 04:42PM Approved
NIFA Approval Christopher Nolan 03/20/2023 02:06PM Approved
Final Approval Christopher Nolan 03/20/2023 02:06PM Approved
Compliance & Vertical DCE
Procurement Compliance Robert Cleary 03/20/2023 04:57PM Approved
Approval
DCE Compliance Approval Robert Cleary 03/20/2023 04:57PM Approved
Vertical DCE Approval Arthur Walsh 03/21/2023 02:15PM Approved
Final Approval Arthur Walsh 03/21/2023 02:15PM Approved
Legislative Affairs Review
Final Approval Christopher Leimone 03/22/2023 11:58AM Approved




Legislature

Final Approval In Progress
Comptroller

Claims Approval Pending
Legal Approval Pending
Accounting / NIFS Approval Pending
Deputy Approval Pending
Final Approval Pending
NIFA

NIFA Approval Pending




RULES RESOLUTION NO.  -2023

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE
A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE OFFICE OF THE NASSAU COUNTY
COMPTROLLER, AND GARTNER, INC.

WHEREAS, the County has negotiated a personal services agreement with Gartner,
Inc. to provide Project Monitoring & Quality Assurance services in connection with the
financial based enterprise resource planning migration & implementation services and

perform other related services, a copy of which is on file with the Clerk of the Legislature;

now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature

authorizes the County Executive to execute the said agreement with Gartner, Inc.



CONTRACT FOR SERVICES

THIS AGREEMENT, (together with the schedules, appendices, attachments and exhibits, if
any, this “Agreement”), dated as of the date (the “Effective Date”) that this Agreement is executed by
Nassau County, is entered into by and between (i) Nassau County, a municipal corporation having its
principal office at 1550 Franklin Avenue, Mineola, New York 11501 (the “County”), acting for and on
behalf of the Office of the Nassau County Comiplroller (the “Comptroller” or the “Office”), having its
principal office at 240 Old Country Road, Mineola, New York 11501, and (ii) Gartner, having its
principal office at 291 Broadway, gth floor, New York, NY 10007 (the “Contractor”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the County desires to hire the Contractor to perform the services described in
this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor desires to perform the services described in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this is a personal service contract within the intent and purview of Section 2206
of the County Charter;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants contained in
this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

1.  Term. This Agreement shall begin upon issuance by the Office to the Contractor of a
written notice to proceed and shall terminate twenty-four (24) months from the notice to proceed
date , unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The Office shall
have an option to renew this Agreement for one (1) additional year, for completion of any County-
requested Additional Services (as per procedure defined below). The Office shall exercise such
renewal option by written notice thereof to the Contractor. The renewal option shall be at the sole
discretion of the Office and shall be subject to sooner termination in accordance with the provisions
of this Agreement.

2.  Services. The services to be provided by the Contractor under this Agreement shall
consist of providing the County with twenty-four (24) months of Project Monitoring & Quality
Assurance (“PMQA") services in connection with the financial based enterprise resource planning
(“ERP”) migration & implementation services as the County seeks to modernize its current financial
mainframe system, known as the Nassau Integrated Financial System (“NIFS”) to a new financial
system (“System”) (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”). These services include the specific
services listed below, as well as in the following exhibits, which are attached to and incorporated into
this Agreement by reference: Exhibit A: the Contractor’s Best and Final Offer Submission (“Services”)
and such other services that are directly incidental to the performance of the Services. The Contractor
will coordinate with the County to develop a mutually agreeable schedule for the Contractor to
participate in on-site meetings at the County related to delivery of PMQA Services, which will include
in-person attendance for key meetings such as project and work stream kick-off(s), risk reporting
reviews and steering committee meetings. For on-site meetings at the County, the County will provide
the Contractor with office space and internet access, as required.

The Services to be provided by the Contractor under this Agreement will be conducted in two (2)
parts:

L. Part I — Pre-Implementation PMQA (“Initiate™):
1




II.

ii.

iii.

iv.

viii.

ii.

iii.

iv.

Conduct PMQA kickoff meeting.
Confirm and document PMQA goals, objectives, responsibilities, and approach.

Identify and document key stakeholders and validate core project team.

Review proposed sample deliverables to ensure that the breadth, depth, and format
of the deliverables are acceptable.

Ensure System Integrator (“SI”) suggested solution meets the requirements

outlined in the selected SI statement of work.

As part of a baseline risk and readiness assessment, identify any potential pre-
implementation risks and recommend mitigation options.

Provide regular status reports and facilitate status report meetings, as necessary.

Prepare and provide baseline risk and readiness assessment report.

Part IT —=PMQA assistance (“Assurance”) :

Prepare and provide a PMQA plan that contains key contract milestones and an
escalation process for review and concurrence on critical project decisions
within the project’s governance structure.

Ensure that the project planning assumptions, budget, and resources are
adequate to support the work-breakdown structure and schedule.

As part of the SI’s system/data integration deliverable(s), assess the degree to
which existing interface information has been collected to include data flows and
requirements from those that maintain third-party system interfaces.

Evaluate the ongoing project readiness, including but not limited to, resources
available and timing of tasks necessary to complete the Project.

Evaluate the ongoing placement of the Project’s personnel planning and identify
areas where adequate staff may not be available, including support staff to be
adequately trained and prepared to provide system management after go-live.

Provide recommendations for departmental planning sessions to be conducted
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by the County and/or SI to provide a project level overview to County employees
and to assess issues and concerns that County staff may have relative to the
Project.

vii. Evaluate the project’s communication processes and procedures to verify they
support communications and work product sharing between all Project
stakeholders, including vendors; and assess if communication plans and
strategies are effective, implemented, monitored and complete.

viii. Perform ongoing risk and issue identification, mitigation and reporting.

ix. Review all deliverables in SI contract, including but not limited to, future
requirements, traceability matrix, roadmap, business case, and deadlines.

x. Track and report on any Project issues.

xi. Monitor Project progress/status (scope/risk management, schedule, budget,
quality).

xii. Ensure that the SI's Project approach is followed as outlined in their statement
of work.

xiii. Provide targeted work stream support as part of ongoing risk and issue
identification and mitigation, as required.

xiv. Review SI End User Training and Knowledge Transfer Plans and identify any
deficiencies with respect to what will be required for County maintenance and
operation of the new System.

xv. Evaluate the plans, requirements, environment, tools, and procedures for system
testing, including but not limited to verifying that test scenarios cover all
requirements, and that appropriate IT and business process controls are tested.

xvi. Review and make recommendations on the training strategy and materials
developed for end-user training.

xvii. Provide regular status reports and facilitate status report meetings, as necessary.

xviii. Review and verify the development of a Go Live Readiness Assessment checklist for
County and SI.

o/



xix. Review SI go-live planning documentation related to the County’s ongoing system

II1.

ii.

iii.

iv.

3.

follows:

IL.

operations, third party integrations and support model; identify any significant
risks/issues and work with the County to develop risk/issue mitigation plan(s), as
required.

Additional Services

Contractor shall provide an analysis report (“Report”) with key findings, and
recommendations to County stakeholders as identified by Office. The Report shall
include comments and recommendations on the County’s Project Plan, ERP Needs
Assessment Report and Solution Gap Log (“Pre-Implementation Deliverables”).
The Pre-Implementation Deliverables will be provided by the Office to the
Contractor.

Review and provide recommendations related to the County’s draft ERP RFP scope
of services, including functional and technical attachments

Review and provide insights and observations related to the County’s ERP RFP
proposals for shortlisted vendors

As requested by the Office, provide contract negotiation support to the County
during its discussion with selected system integrator (“SI”). This shall include
technical and pricing guidance, best practices, and quality assurance
documentation reviews related to the SI's proposed statement of work. Review of
legal terms and conditions are not included in scope.

Payment. (a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 3(a)(IV) hereof, the maximum
amount to be paid to the Contractor as full consideration for the Contractor’s Services under this
Agreement, including during the renewal of the Agreement, as provided above, shall not exceed one
million fifty-nine thousand one hundred thirty dollars ($1,059,130.00) (“Maximum Amount”), which
shall be subject to encumbrance and payable in accordance with the pricing structure set forth as

All Services will be billed at a blended hourly rate of four hundred twenty dollars

($420) per hour, subject to the not-to-exceed amounts, per part, listed below:

i For Part I — Initiate, the not-to-exceed amount is two hundred forty-one
thousand nine hundred fifty-seven dollars (241,957.00) (“Part I Maximum”).

ii, For Part II — Assurance, the not-to-exceed amount is seven hundred twenty-
five thousand eight hundred seventy-five dollars ($725,875.00) (“Part II
Maximum”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, any amounts not expended
within the Part I Maximum can be utilized for Part II services beyond the Part

II Maximum.

1ii. For additional related services (“Additional Services”) the not-to-exceed
amount is ninety-one thousand two hundred ninety-eight dollars ($91,298.00)

as further described below in Section 3(a)(IV).

The parties acknowledge that the Maximum Amount of compensation for the Services
rendered by the Contractor during the term of this Agreement shall not exceed the
amounts listed above unless this Agreement is amended to include additional funds or
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III.

for a continuation of Services beyond the term of this Agreement. Contractor agrees
that this compensation includes reimbursement for Contractor’s travel time and
expenses and for all other costs incidental to the Services to be provided by Contractor
under this Agreement, including but not limited to, attending meetings at the
Comptroller’s Office and providing testimony at the Nassau County Legislature, in
connection with this Agreement.

PMQA Services will be billed monthly, for a period of sixteen (16) months,
commensurate with the completion of activities completed in the previous month.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the final ten percent (10%) of the not-to-exceed final
amount payable under each part listed in Section 3(a)(I), shall not be payable until the
full completion of all services in that applicable part (“Completion”). Completion shall
be demonstrated by written approval from the Office that the respective part has been
completed by Contractor. Payment associated with Additional Services will be billed
as costs are incurred. Refer to Appendix 1: Payment Schedule below.

If there is a material change (i) in the scope of Services or Additional Services to be
provided under this Agreement, or (i) in any circumstance with respect to this
Agreement (or any attachments hereto), the parties shall negotiate in good faith, prior
to any services performed, to make an equitable adjustment to the maximum amounts
set forth in Section 3(a), to the extent that such exceeds the amounts listed above in
Section 3(a)(1)(iv) and incorporate said adjustments into written contractamendments,
subject to all necessary County approvals.

i.  Should the need for any such Additional Services, in addition to Additional
Services outlined above, be identified by the Contractor, it shall be the
Contractor’s responsibility to inform the Office, as soon as possible, in writing.
Further, it is expressly understood that the County shall not be liable for any
such additional expenses without having first granted its expressed authority
in a written agreement which has received all required County approvals, third
party approvals and other governmental approvals, including, if required,
approval by the County Legislature and the Nassau Interim Finance Authority.

ii.  Any Additional Services requested by the County and agreed to by the
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall be billed at a blended hourly rate
of four hundred twenty dollars ($420) per hour.

(b) Vouchers; Voucher Review, Approval and Audit. Payments shall be made to the

Contractor in arrears, in accordance with the Plan milestones, and shall be contingent upon (i) the
Contractor submitting a claim voucher (the “Voucher”) in a form satisfactory to the County, that (a)
states with reasonable specificity the services provided and the payment requested as consideration
for such services, (b) certifies that the services rendered and the payment requested are in accordance
with this Agreement, and (c) is accompanied by documentation satisfactory to the County supporting
the amount claimed, and (ii) review, approval and audit of the Voucher by the Comptroller or his or
her duly designated representative.

(¢) No Duplication of Payments. Payments under this Agreement shall not duplicate

payments for any work performed or to be performed under other agreements between the Contractor
and any funding source including the County.

(d) Payments in Connection with Termination or Notice of Termination. Unless a provision of
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this Agreement expressly states otherwise, payments to the Contractor following the termination of
this Agreement shall not exceed payments made as consideration for services that were (i) performed
prior to termination, (ii) authorized by this Agreement to be performed, and (iii) not performed after
the Contractor received notice that the County did not desire to receive such services.

4. Independent Contractor. The Contractor is an independent contractor of the County.
The Contractor shall not, nor shall any officer, director, employee, servant, agent or independent
contractor of the Contractor (a “Contractor Agent”), be (i) deemed a County employee, (ii) commit
the County to any obligation, or (iii) hold itself, himself, or herself out as a County employee or
Person with the authority to commit the County to any obligation. As used in this Agreement the
word “Person” means any individual person, entity (including partnerships, corporations and
limited liability companies), and government or political subdivision thereof (including agencies,
bureaus, offices and departments thereof).

5. No Arrears or Default. The Contractor is not in arrears to the County upon any debt or
contract and it is not in default as surety, contractor, or otherwise upon any obligation to the County,
including any obligation to pay taxes to, or perform services for or on behalf of, the County.

6. Compliance with Law. (a) Generally. The Contractor shall comply with any and all
applicable Federal, State and local Laws, including, but not limited to those relating to conflicts of
interest, human rights, a living wage, disclosure of information and vendor registration in connection
with its performance under this Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Contractor is bound by
and shall comply with the terms of Appendix EE attached hereto and with the County’s registration
protocol. As used in this Agreement the word “Law” includes any and all statutes, local laws, ordinances,
rules, regulations, applicable orders, and/or decrees, as the same may be amended from time to time,

enacted, or adopted.

(b) Nassau County Living Wage Law. Pursuant to LL 1-2006, as amended, and to the
extent that a waiver has not been obtained in accordance with such law or any rules of the County
Executive, the Contractor agrees as follows:

§)] Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of the LivingWage
Law, as amended.

(i) Failure to comply with the Living Wage Law, as amended, may constitute a
material breach of this Agreement, the occurrence of which shall be
determined solely by the County. Contractor has the right to cure such breach
within thirty days of receipt of notice of breach from the County. In the event
that such breach is not timely cured, the County may terminate this Agreement
as well as exercise any other rights available to the County under applicable
law.

(iii) It shall be a continuing obligation of the Contractor to inform the Countyof
any material changes in the content of its certification of compliance,
attached to this Agreement as Appendix L, and shall provide to the County
any information necessary to maintain the certification’s accuracy.

(c) Records Access. The parties acknowledge and agree that all records, information,

and data (“Information”) acquired in connection with performance or administration of this
Agreement remains the sole property of the County and shall be used and disclosed solely for the
purpose of performance and administration of the Agreement or as required by law. The Contractor
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acknowledges that Contractor Information in the County’s possession may be subject to disclosure
under Article 6 of the New York State Public Officer’s Law (“Freedom of Information Law” or “FOIL”).
In the event that such a request for disclosure is made, the County shall make reasonable efforts to
notify the Contractor of such request prior to disclosure of the Information so that the Contractor may
take such action as it deems appropriate.

(d) Prohibition of Gifts. In accordance with County Executive Order 2-2018, the
Contractor shall not offer, give, or agree to give anything of value to any County employee, agent,
consultant, construction manager, or other person or firm representing the County (a “County
Representative”), including members of a County Representative’s immediate family, in connection
with the performance by such County Representative of duties involving transactions with the
Contractor on behalf of the County, whether such duties are related to this Agreement or any other
County contract or matter. As used herein, “anything of value” shall include, but not be limited to,
meals, holiday gifts, holiday baskets, gift cards, tickets to golf outings, tickets to sporting events,
currency of any kind, or any other gifts, gratuities, favorable opportunities or preferences. For
purposes of this subsection, an immediate family member shall include a spouse, child, parent, or
sibling. The Contractor shall include the provisions of this subsection in each subcontract entered
into under this Agreement.

(e) Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest. In accordance with County Executive Order 2-
2018, the Contractor has disclosed as part of its response to the County’s Business History Form, or
other disclosure form(s), any and all instances where the Contractor employs any spouse, child, or
parent of a County employee of the agency or department that contracted or procured the goods
and/or services described under this Agreement. The Contractor shall have a continuing obligation,
as circumstances arise, to update this disclosure throughout the term of this Agreement.

(f) Vendor Code of Ethics. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor hereby
certifies and covenants that:

(i) The Contractor has been provided a copy of the Nassau County Vendor Code
of Ethics issued on June 5, 2019, as may be amended from time to time (the
“Vendor Code of Ethics”), and will comply with all of its provisions;

(ii) All of the Contractor’s Participating Employees, as such term is defined in the
Vendor Code of Ethics (the “Participating Employees”), have been provided a
copy of the Vendor Code of Ethics prior to their participation in the underlying
procurement;

(iii)  All Participating Employees have completed the acknowledgment requiredby
the Vendor Code of Ethics;

(iv)  The Contractor will retain all of the signed Participating Employee
acknowledgements for the period it is required to retain other records
pertinent to performance under this Agreement;

W) The Contractor will continue to distribute the Vendor Code of Ethics, obtain
signed Participating Employee acknowledgments as new Participating
Employees are added or changed during the term of this Agreement, and retain
such signed acknowledgments for the period the Contractor isrequired to
retain other records pertinent to performance under this Agreement;and



(vi)  The Contractor has obtained the certifications required by the Vendor Codeof
Ethics from any subcontractors or other lower tier participants who have
participated in procurements for work performed under this Agreement.

7. Rights to Work. Notwithstanding the requirements set forth in Solicitation, the County shall
retain ownership of any project Deliverable(s) specifically created for and required to be submitted to the
County by virtue of this agreement. The Deliverables may also include any data, modules, components,
designs, utilities, subsets, objects, program listings, tools, models, methodologies, leading practices, and
specifications (collectively, “Technical Elements”).The Contractor may use, reproduce, display and
distribute excerpts and data from the deliverables, either alone or together with other material, in the
ordinary course of Contractor’s business with the County’s consent, so long as such excerpts and data do
not identify County by name or contain any of the County’s confidential or proprietary information, and
provided further that Contractor retains all right, title and interest in and to Contractor’s copyrighted
proprietary research and other pre-existing materials and data, such as Data Collection Templates and
Survey Tools for Applications and Infrastructure, and benchmark comparisons (“Preexisting Intellectual
Property”). To the extent that any such Technical Elements are integrated into any Deliverables, the
Contractor shall grant the County, a perpetual, worldwide, nonexclusive, paid-up license to use such
Technical Elements in connection with the Deliverables and copy and modify such Technical Elements as
integrated into such Deliverables.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall preclude Contractor from rendering services to others or
developing work products that are competitive with, or functionally comparable to, the Services. Contractor
shall not be restricted in its use of ideas, concepts, or know-how.

Preexisting Materials: County shall retain its rights in all data and any proprietary material that
County supplies to Contractor. If the County provides Contractor with materials owned or controlled by
County or with use of, or access to, such materials, the County grants to Contractor all rights and licenses
that are necessary for the term of the agreement for Contractor to fulfill its obligations under each Statement
of Work. Contractor grants to County for internal purposes only a worldwide, royalty-free, perpetual license
to use, reproduce, display, distribute copies of, and prepare derivative works of any Contractor “Preexisting
Intellectual Property” embodied in the Deliverables.

8. Data Protection. Contractor acknowledges that it may have access to certain of
the County’s computer and communications systems and networks for the purposes set forth
in this Agreement. If any data is made available or accessible to Contractor, its employees,
agents or contractors, pertaining to County business or financial affairs, or to County’s
projects, transactions, clients or customers, Contractor will not store, copy, analyze, monitor
or otherwise use that data except for the purposes set forth in this Agreement for the benefit
of the County. Contractor will comply fully with all applicable laws, regulations, and
government orders relating to personally identifiable information (“PII”) and data privacy
with respect to any such data that Contractor receives or has access to under the Agreement
or in connection with the performance of any services for the County. Contractor will otherwise
protect PIT and will not use, disclose, or transfer across borders such PII except as necessary
to perform under this Agreement or as authorized by the data subject or in accordance with
applicable law. To the extent that Contractor receives PII related to the performance of this
Agreement, Contractor will protect the privacy and legal rights of the County’s personnel,
clients, customers and contractors.

9. Minimum Service Standards. Regardless of whether required by Law: (a) The
Contractor shall, and shall cause Contractor Agents to, conduct its, his or her activities in
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connection with this Agreement so as not to endanger or harm any Person orproperty.

(b) The Contractor shall deliver Services under this Agreement in a professional manner
consistent with the best practices of the industry in which the Contractor operates. The Contractor
shall take all actions necessary or appropriate to meet the obligation described in the immediately
preceding sentence, including obtaining and maintaining, and causing all Contractor Agents to obtain
and maintain, all approvals, licenses, and certifications (“Approvals”) necessary or appropriate in
connection with this Agreement. The Contractor shall also provide notice regarding any changes to
key staff working on the Project. Office shall have the right to interview any new candidate assigned
to material role in the Project.

10. Indemnification; Defense: Cooperation. (a) the Contractor shall be solely responsible for
and shall indemnify and hold harmless the County, the Office and its officers, employees, and agents (the
“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all liabilities, losses, costs, expenses (including, without
limitation, attorneys’ fees and disbursements) and damages (“Losses”), to the extent caused by the
negligence or willful misconduct of the Contractor or a Contractor Agent including Losses in connection
with any threatened investigation, litigation or other proceeding or preparing a defense to or prosecuting
the same; provided, however, that the Contractor shall not be responsible for that portion, if any, of a Loss
that is caused by the negligence of the County.

The Contractor shall, upon the County’s demand and at the County’s direction, promptly and
diligently defend, at the Contractor’s own risk and expense, any and all suits, actions, or proceedings which
may be brought or instituted against one or more Indemnified Parties for which the Contractor is
responsible under this Section, and, further to the Contractor’s indemnification obligations, the Contractor
shall pay and satisfy any judgment, decree, loss or settlement in connection therewith.

The Contractor shall, and shall cause Contractor Agents to, cooperate with the County and the Office
in connection with the investigation, defense or prosecution of any action, suit or proceeding in connection
with this Agreement, including the acts or omissions of the Contractor and/or a Contractor Agent in
connection with this Agreement.

Intellectual Property Indemnity: Upon notification of a claim against County alleging any
Contract Deliverable infringes a copyright, patent or trade secret of any third party, Contractor will defend
such claim at its expense and will pay any costs or damages that may be finally awarded against County.
Contractor will not indemnify County however, if the claim of infringement is caused by (1) County’s
misuse or modification of the Deliverable; (2) County’s failure to use corrections or enhancements made
available by Contractor; (3) County’s use of the Deliverable in combination with any product or information
not owned or developed by Contractor, unless the County is directed to do so by the Contractor;
(4) Information direction, specification or materials provided by County. If any Deliverable is, or in
Contractor’s opinion is likely to be, held to be infringing, Contractor shall at its expense either: (a) procure
the right for County to continue using it, (b) replace it with a non-infringing equivalent, (c) modify it to
make it non-infringing, or (d) direct the return of the Deliverable and refund to County the fees paid for
such Deliverable.

In no way shall anything contained herein be construed as a waiver or limit to the County’s rights to
recover damages against the Contractor, or their subcontractors or agents, or against other third party. The
provisions of this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

11. Insurance. (a) Types and Amounts. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain
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throughout the term of this Agreement, at its own expense: (i) one or more policies for commercial
general liability insurance, which policy(ies) shall name “Nassau County” as an additional insured
and have a minimum single combined limit of liability of not less than One Million Dollars
($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) aggregate coverage, (ii)
if contracting in whole or part to provide professional services, one or more policies for professional
liability insurance, which policy(ies) shall have a minimum single limit of liability of not less than
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per claim (iii) compensation insurance for the benefit of the
Contractor’s employees (“Workers’ Compensation Insurance”), which insurance is in compliance
with the New York State Workers’ Compensation Law, and (iv) such additional insurance as the
County may from time to time specify.

(b) Acceptability; Deductibles; Subcontractors. All insurance obtained and maintained by the
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall be (i} written by one or more commercial insurance
carriers licensed to do business in New York State, except that insurance markets based in London,
and/or the domestic surplus lines markets that operate on a non-admitted basis are permitted,
provided that the Contractor’s broker can provide financial data to establish that a market is equal to
or exceeds the financial strengths associated with the A.M. Best's rating of A or better, and the non-
admitted status does not affect the Contractor’s insurance coverage in the United States, and is
otherwise acceptable to the County, and which is (ii) in form and substance acceptable to the County.
The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the payment of all deductibles to which such policies
are subject. The Contractor shall require any subcontractor hired in connection with this Agreement
to carry insurance with the same limits and provisions required to be carried by the Contractor under
this Agreement.

(c) Delivery; Coverage Change; No Inconsistent Action. Prior to the execution of this

Agreement, copies of current certificates of insurance evidencing the insurance coverage required by
this Agreement shall be delivered to the Office. Not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date of any
expiration or renewal of, or actual, proposed or threatened reduction or cancellation of coverage
under, any insurance required hereunder, the Contractor shall provide written notice to the Office of
the same and deliver to the Office renewal or replacement certificates of insurance. The Contractor
shall cause all insurance to remain in full force and effect throughout the term of this Agreement and
shall not take or omit to take any action that would suspend or invalidate any of the required
coverages. The failure of the Contractor to maintain Workers’ Compensation Insurance shall render
this contract void and of no effect. The failure of the Contractor to maintain the other required
coverages shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement upon which the County reserves the
right to consider this Agreement terminated as of the date of such failure.

12. Assignment; Amendment; Waiver; Subcontracting. This Agreement and the rights

and obligations hereunder may not be in whole or part (i) assigned, transferred or disposed of, (i)
amended, (iii) waived, or (iv) subcontracted, without the prior written consent of the County
Executive or his or her duly designated deputy (the “County Executive”) and the Contractor, and
any purported assignment, other disposal or modification without such prior written consent shall
be null and void. The failure of a party to assert any of its rights under this Agreement, including
the right to demand strict performance, shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

13. Termination. (a) Generally. The County, upon giving thirty (30) calendar days’ written
notice identifying specifically the basis for such notice, may terminate this Agreement For Cause,
except the Vendor shall have an opportunity to cure a breach, where such breach is not a breach of a
material term or condition, within the 30-business day cure period. The County may also terminate
this Agreement for its convenience upon thirty (30) calendar day’s written notice to Contractor. In
the event of such termination, Contractor shall be entitled to payment of all fees incurred prior to the
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effective date of receipt by the Vendor of the notice of termination. Additionally, all provisions of
this Agreement which are by their nature intended to survive the expiration or termination of this
Agreement for breach and/or County’s convenience shall survive such expiration or termination.

(b) “For Cause” shall include but is not limited to (i) a breach of this Agreement; (ii) failure
to obtain and maintain in full force and effect al Approvals required for the services described in this
agreement to be legal and professionally rendered; and (iii) the termination or impending
termination of federal or state funding for the services provided under this Agreement.

(¢) Contractor Assistance upon Termination. In connection with the termination or
impending termination of this Agreement the Contractor shall, regardless of the reason for
termination, take all actions reasonably requested by the County (including those set forth in other
provisions of this Agreement) to assist the County in transitioning the Contractor’s responsibilities
under this Agreement. The provisions of this subsection shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.

14. Accounting Procedures; Records. The Contractor shall maintain and retain, for a
period of six (6) years following the later of termination of or final payment under this Agreement,
complete and accurate records, documents, accounts and other evidence, whether maintained
electronically or manually (“Records”), pertinent to performance under this Agreement. Records
shall be maintained in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and, if the
Contractor is a non-profit entity, must comply with the accounting guidelines set forth in the
applicable provisions of the Code of Federal Regulations, 2 C.F.R. Part 200, as may be amended.
Such Records shall at all times be available for audit and inspection by the Comptroller, any other
governmental authority with jurisdiction over the provision of services hereunder and/or the
payment therefore, and any of their duly designated representatives. The provisions of this Section
shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

15. Limitations on Actions and Special Proceedings against the County. No action or special
proceeding shall lie or be prosecuted or maintained against the County upon any claims arising out of

or in connection with this Agreement unless:

(a) Notice. Atleastthirty (30) days prior to seeking relief, the Contractor shall have presented
the demand or claim(s) upon which such action or special proceeding is based in writing to the Office
for adjustment and the County shall have neglected or refused to make an adjustment or payment on
the demand or claim for thirty (30) days after presentment. The Contractor shall send or deliver
copies of the documents presented under this Section to each of (i) the Office and the (ii) the County
Attorney (at the address specified above for the County) on the same day that documents are sent or
delivered to the Office. The complaint or necessary moving papers of the Contractor shall allege that
the above-described actions and inactions preceded the Contractor’s action or special proceeding
against theCounty.

(b) Time Limitation. Such action or special proceeding is commenced within the earlier of (i)
one (1) year of the first to occur of (A) final payment under or the termination of this Agreement,
and (B) the accrual of the cause of action, and (ii) the time specified in any other provision of this
Agreement.

16. Work Performance Liability. The Contractor is and shall remain primarily liable for the
successful completion of all work in accordance with this Agreement irrespective of whether the
Contractor is using a Contractor Agent to perform some, or all of the work contemplated by this
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Agreement, and irrespective of whether the use of such Contractor Agent has been approved by the
County.

17. Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue; Governing Law. Unless otherwise specified in this
Agreement or required by Law, exclusive original jurisdiction for all claims or actions with respect

to this Agreement shall be in the Supreme Court in Nassau County in New York State and the parties
expressly waive any objections to the same on any grounds, including venue and forum non
conveniens. This Agreement is intended as a contract under, and shall be governed and construed in
accordance with, the Laws of New York State, without regard to the conflict of laws provisas thereof.

18. Notices. Any notice, request, demand or other communication required to be given or
made in connection with this Agreement shall be (a) in writing, (b) delivered or sent (i) by hand
delivery, evidenced by a signed, dated receipt, (ii) postage prepaid via certified mail, return receipt
requested, or (iii) overnight delivery via a nationally recognized courier service, (c) deemed given or
made on the date the delivery receipt was signed by a County employee, three (3) business days after
it is mailed or one (1) business day after it is released to a courier service, as applicable, and (d)(i) if
to the Office, to the attention of Deputy Comptroller XXXXX, or her successor, at the address
specified above for the Office, (ii) if to the Contractor, to the attention of the person who executed this
Agreement on behalf of the Contractor at the address specified above for the Contractor, or in each
case to such other persons or addresses as shall be designated by written notice.

19. All Legal Provisions Deemed Included; Severability; Supremacy.

(a) Every provision required by Law to be inserted into or referenced by this Agreement is
intended to be a part of this Agreement. If any such provision is not inserted or referenced or is not
inserted or referenced in correct form then (i) such provision shall be deemed inserted into or
referenced by this Agreement for purposes of interpretation and (ii) upon the application of either
party this Agreement shall be formally amended to comply strictly with the Law, without prejudice
to the rights of either party.

(b) In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any
way be affected or impaired thereby.

(c) Unless the application of this subsection will cause a provision required by Law to be
excluded from this Agreement, in the event of an actual conflict between the terms and conditions
set forth above the signature page to this Agreement and those contained in any schedule, exhibit,
appendix, or attachment to this Agreement, the following order of priority shall apply, starting with
first priority and ending with last priority:

A. Terms and conditions set forth above the signature page of this Agreement;

B. Appendix EE: Equal Employment Opportunities for Minorities and Women; and
Appendix L: Certificate of Compliance (Nassau County Living Wage Law);

C. Exhibit A: the Contractor’s Best and Final Offer Submission;

To the extent possible, all the terms of this Agreement should be read together as not conflicting.
(d) Each party has cooperated in the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement.

Therefore, in the event that construction of this Agreement occurs, it shall not be construed against
either party as drafter
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20. Section and Other Headings. The section and other headings contained in this
Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement.

21. Administrative Service Charge. The Contractor agrees to pay the County an
administrative service charge of Five Hundred Thirty-Three dollars ($533.00) for the processing of
this Agreement pursuant to Ordinance Number 74-1979, as amended by Ordinance Numbers 201-
2001, 128-2006, and 153-2018. The administrative service charge shall be due and payable to the
County by the Contractor upon signing this Agreement.

22, Executory Clause. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement:

(a) Approval and Execution. The County shall have no liability under this Agreement
(including any extension or other modification of this Agreement) to any Person unless (i) all
County approvals, third party approvals and other governmental approvals have been obtained,
including, if required, approval by the County Legislature, and (ii) this Agreement has been
executed by the County Executive (as defined in this Agreement).

(b) Availability of Funds. The County shall have no liability under this Agreement
(including any extension or other modification of this Agreement) to any Person beyond funds
appropriated or otherwise lawfully available for this Agreement, and, if any portion of the funds for
this Agreement are from the state and/or federal governments, then beyond funds available to the
County from the state and/or federal governments.

23.  Limitation of Liability: Except for direct claims arising from liability for personal injury
or death or for damage to property caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Contractor or its
employees, and indemnification obligations set forth herein, neither party shall be liable for any
consequential, indirect, special or incidental damages, such as damages for lost profits, business failure
or loss arising out of use of the Deliverables or the Services, whether or not advised of the possibility of
such damages. Except for liability for personal injury or death or for damage to property caused by the
negligence or willful misconduct of Contractor or its employees, and indemnification obligations set forth
herein, Contractor’s total liability arising out of this Agreement and the provision of the Services shall be
limited to three times (3X) the value of the Maximum Amount of the Agreement under the specific
Statement of Work under which such liability arises.

24. Warranty: ALL SERVICES ARE PROVIDED ON AN “AS IS” BASIS. CONTRACTOR
DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE,
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. THE INFORMATION IN THE DELIVERABLES HAS BEEN
OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT CONTRACTOR BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE. ALL
DELIVERABLES SPEAK AS OF THE DATE OF DELIVERY TO THE COUNTY.

25. Third-Party Beneficiaries: This Agreement is for the benefit of the parties only. None of
the provisions of this Agreement are for the benefit of, or enforceable by, any third party. It is the intention
of Contractor and the County that no third party shall have the right to (i) rely on the Services provided
by Contractor, or (ii) seek to impose liability on Contractor as a result of the Services or any Deliverables
furnished to County.

26. Entire Agreement. This Agreement represents the full and entire understanding and
agreement between the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements (whether written or oral) of the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Contractor and the County have executed this Agreement as
of the Effective Date.

Gartner

By: ../ CZL// ’d/ Uy
Name:_Dayed V¢ ams
Title: Ccm{'rac(s Mmaor—
Date: 221 (2013

\

NASSAU COUNTY

By:

Name;
Title:_ County Executive
o Deputy County Executive
Date:

PLEASE EXECUTE IN BLUE INK
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L
STATE OF NEW-YORI)

)ss.:
COUNTY OF NASSAH) [ CC~

Onth ¢Z7 day of r C/ID in the year 2(Q&before me personally came
D(\ VAR, V | Y Ohiz— to me _personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did
depgse an say hat or she res1des in the County of L ; that he or she is the
@ Al Goner, THC. the corporation described
herein and whlch execu’ted the above instrument; and that he or she 51gned his or her name thereto
by authority of the board of directors of said corporation.

JJ Jaoffoy-

MELISSI\A MCKAY
%. Notary Public - State of Florida
Commission # HH 122101
My Comm, Expires Apr 26, 2025

Bonded throunh National Notary Assn.

COUNTY OF NASSAU)
On the day of in the year 20___before me personally came
to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did
depose and say that he or she resides in the County of ; that he or she is the

County Executive of the County of Nassau, the municipal corporation described herein and which
executed the above instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto pursuant to
Section 205 of the County Government Law of Nassau County.

NOTARY PUBLIC
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Appendix EE
Equal Employment Opportunities for Minorities and Women

The provisions of this Appendix EE are hereby made a part of the document to which it is
attached.

The Contractor shall comply with all federal, State and local statutory and constitutional
anti-discrimination provisions. In addition, Local Law No. 14-2002, entitled “Participation by
Minority Group Members and Women in Nassau County Contracts,” governs all County Contracts
as defined herein and solicitations for bids or proposals for County Contracts. In accordance with
Local Law 14-2002:

(a) The Contractor shall not discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status in recruitment,
employment, job assignments, promotions, upgrading, demotions, transfers, layoffs, terminations,
and rates of pay or other forms of compensation. The Contractor will undertake or continue existing
programs related to recruitment, employment, job assignments, promotions, upgrading, transfers,
and rates of pay or other forms of compensation to ensure that minority group members and women
are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination.

(b) At the request of the County contracting agency, the Contractor shall request each
employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative of workers with which it has a
collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such
employment agency, union, or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color,
national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status and that such employment agency, labor union,
or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the Contractor’s obligations
herein.

(¢) The Contractor shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, that, in
the performance of the County Contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment
opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age,
disability or marital status.

(d) The Contractor shall make best efforts to solicit active participation by certified
minority or women-owned business enterprises (“Certified M/WBEs”) as defined in Section 101 of
Local Law No. 14-2002, for the purpose of granting of Subcontracts.

(e) The Contractor shall, in its advertisements and solicitations for Subcontractors, indicate
its interest in receiving bids from Certified M/WBEs and the requirement that Subcontractors must
be equal opportunity employers.

() Contractors must notify and receive approval from the respective Office Head prior to
issuing any Subcontracts and, at the time of requesting such authorization, must submit a signed
Best-Efforts Checklist.

(g) Contractors for projects under the supervision of the County’s Department of Public
Works shall also submit a utilization plan listing all proposed Subcontractors so that, to the greatest
extent feasible, all Subcontractors will be approved prior to commencement of work. Any additions
or changes to the list of subcontractors under the utilization plan shall be approved by the
Commissioner of the Department of Public Works when made. A copy of the utilization plan any
additions or changes thereto shall be submitted by the Contractor to the Office of Minority Affairs
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simultaneously with the submission to the Department of Public Works.

(h) At any time after Subcontractor approval has been requested and prior to being granted,
the contracting agency may require the Contractor to submit Documentation Demonstrating Best
Efforts to Obtain Certified Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises. In addition, the
contracting agency may require the Contractor to submit such documentation at any time after
Subcontractor approval when the contracting agency has reasonable cause to believe that the existing
Best-Efforts Checklist may be inaccurate. Within ten working days (10) of any such request by the
contracting agency, the Contractor must submit Documentation.

(i) In the case where a request is made by the contracting agency or a Deputy County
Executive acting on behalf of the contracting agency, the Contractor must, within two (2) working
days of such request, submit evidence to demonstrate that it employed Best Efforts to obtain
Certified M/WBE participation through proper documentation.

() Award of a County Contract alone shall not be deemed or interpreted as approval of all
Contractor’s Subcontracts and Contractor’s fulfillment of Best Efforts to obtain participation by
Certified M/WBEs.

(k) A Contractor shall maintain Documentation Demonstrating Best Efforts to Obtain
Certified Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises for a period of six (6) years. Failure to
maintain such records shall be deemed failure to make Best Efforts to comply with this Appendix
EE, evidence of false certification as M/WBE compliant or considered breach of the County
Contract.

(1) The Contractor shall be bound by the provisions of Section 109 of Local Law No. 14-2002
providing for enforcement of violations as follows:

a. Upon receipt by the Executive Director of a complaint from a contracting agency
that a County Contractor has failed to comply with the provisions of Local Law No. 14-2002,
this Appendix EE or any other contractual provisions included in furtherance of Local Law
No. 14-2002, the Executive Director will try to resolve the matter.

b. If efforts to resolve such matter to the satisfaction of all parties are unsuccessful,
the Executive Director shall refer the matter, within thirty days (30) of receipt of the
complaint, to the American Arbitration Association for proceeding thereon.

c. Upon conclusion of the arbitration proceedings, the arbitrator shall submit to the
Executive Director his recommendations regarding the imposition of sanctions, fines or
penalties. The Executive Director shall either (i) adopt the recommendation of the arbitrator
(ii) determine that no sanctions, fines or penalties should be imposed or (iii) modify the
recommendation of the arbitrator, provided that such modification shall not expand upon
any sanction recommended or impose any new sanction or increase the amount of any
recommended fine or penalty. The Executive Director, within ten days (10) of receipt of the
arbitrator’s award and recommendations, shall file a determination of such matter and shall
cause a copy of such determination to be served upon the respondent by personal service or
by certified mail return receipt requested. The award of the arbitrator, and the fines and
penalties imposed by the Executive Director, shall be final determinations and may only be
vacated or modified as provided in the civil practice law and rules (“CPLR”).

(m) The contractor shall provide contracting agency with information regarding all
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subcontracts awarded under any County Contract, including the amount of compensation paid to
each Subcontractor and shall complete all forms provided by the Executive Director or the
Department Head relating to subcontractor utilization and efforts to obtain M/WBE participation.

Failure to comply with provisions (a) through (m) above, as ultimately determined by the
Executive Director, shall be a material breach of the contract constituting grounds for immediate
termination. Once a final determination of failure to comply has been reached by the Executive
Director, the determination of whether to terminate a contract shall rest with the Deputy County
Executive with oversight responsibility for the contracting agency.

Provisions (a), (b) and (c) shall not be binding upon Contractors or Subcontractors in the
performance of work or the provision of services or any other activity that are unrelated, separate,
or distinct from the County Contract as expressed by its terms.

The requirements of the provisions (a), (b) and (c) shall not apply to any employment or
application for employment outside of this County or solicitations or advertisements therefor or
any existing programs of affirmative action regarding employment outside of this County and the
effect of contract provisions required by these provisions (a), (b) and (c) shall be so limited.

The Contractor shall include provisions (a), (b) and (c) in every Subcontract in such a
manner that these provisions shall be binding upon each Subcontractor as to work in connection
with the County Contract.

As used in this Appendix EE the term “Best Efforts Checklist” shall mean a list signed by
the Contractor, listing the procedures it has undertaken to procure Subcontractors in accordance
with this Appendix EE.

As used in this Appendix EE the term “County Contract” shall mean (i) a written agreement
or purchase order instrument, providing for a total expenditure in excess of twenty-five thousand
dollars ($25,000), whereby a County contracting agency is committed to expend or does expend
funds in return for labor, services, supplies, equipment, materials or any combination of the
foregoing, to be performed for, or rendered or furnished to the County; or (ii) a written agreement
in excess of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), whereby a County contracting agency is
committed to expend or does expend funds for the acquisition, construction, demolition,
replacement, major repair or renovation of real property and improvements thereon. However, the
term “County Contract” does not include agreements or orders for the following services: banking
services, insurance policies or contracts, or contracts with a County contracting agency for the sale
of bonds, notes or other securities.

As used in this Appendix EE the term “County Contractor” means an individual, business
enterprise, including sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, not-for-profit corporation, or
any other person or entity other than the County, whether a contractor, licensor, licensee or any
other party, that is (i) a party to a County Contract, (ii) a bidder in connection with the award of a
County Contract, or (iii) a proposed party to a County Contract, but shall not include any
Subcontractor.

As used in this Appendix EE the term “County Contractor” shall mean a person or firm who
will manage and be responsible for an entire contracted project.
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As used in this Appendix EE “Documentation Demonstrating Best Efforts to Obtain Certified
Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises” shall include, but is not limited to the following:

a.

h.

Proof of having advertised for bids, where appropriate, in minority publications,
trade newspapers/notices and magazines, trade and union publications, and
publications of general circulation in Nassau County and surrounding areas or
having verbally solicited M/WBEs whom the County Contractor reasonably believed
might have the qualifications to do the work. A copy of the advertisement, if used,
shall be included to demonstrate that it contained language indicating that the
County Contractor welcomed bids and quotes from M/WBE Subcontractors.

In addition, proof of the date(s) any such advertisements appeared must be
included in the Best Effort Documentation. If verbal solicitation is used, a County
Contractor’s affidavit with a notary’s signature and stamp shall be required as part
of the documentation.

Proof of having provided reasonable time for M/WBE Subcontractors to respond
to bid opportunities according to industry norms and standards. A chart outlining
the schedule/time frame used to obtain bids from M/WBEs is suggested to be
included with the Best Effort Documentation

Proof or affidavit of follow-up of telephone calls with potential M/WBE
subcontractors encouraging their participation. Telephone logs indicating such
action can be included with the Best Effort Documentation

Proof or affidavit that M/WBE Subcontractors were allowed to review bid
specifications, blue prints and all other bid/RFP related items at no charge to the
M/WBEs, other than reasonable documentation costs incurred by the County
Contractor that are passed onto the M/WBE.

Proof or affidavit that sufficient time prior to making award was allowed for
M/WBEs to participate effectively, to the extent practicable given the timeframe of
the County Contract.

Proof or affidavit that negotiations were held in good faith with interested
M/WBEs, and that M/WBEs were not rejected as unqualified or unacceptable
without sound business reasons based on (1) a thorough investigationof M/WBE
qualifications and capabilities reviewed against industry custom and standards
and (2) cost of performance The basis for rejecting any M/WBE deemed
unqualified by the County Contractor shall be included in the Best Effort
Documentation

If an M/WBE is rejected based on cost, the County Contractor must submit a list of
all sub-bidders for each item of work solicited and their bid prices for the work.

The conditions of performance expected of Subcontractors by theCounty

Contractor must also be included with the Best Effort Documentation

i.

County Contractors may include any other type of documentation theyfeel

necessary to further demonstrate their Best Efforts regarding their biddocuments.
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As used in this Appendix EE the term “Executive Director” shall mean the Executive Director
of the Nassau County Office of Minority Affairs; provided, however, that Executive Director shall
include a designee of the Executive Director except in the case of final determinations issued pursuant
to Section (a) through (1) of these rules.

As used in this Appendix EE the term “Subcontract” shall mean an agreement consisting of
part or parts of the contracted work of the County Contractor.

As used in this Appendix EE, the term “Subcontractor” shall mean a person or firm who
performs part or parts of the contracted work of a prime contractor providing services, including
construction services, to the County pursuant to a county contract. Subcontractor shall include a
person or firm that provides labor, professional or other services, materials or supplies to a prime
contractor that are necessary for the prime contractor to fulfill its obligations to provide services to
the County pursuant to a county contract. Subcontractor shall not include a supplier of materials to
a contractor who has contracted to provide goods but no services to the County, nor a supplier of
incidental materials to a contractor, such as office supplies, tools and other items of nominal cost that
are utilized in the performance of a service contract.

Provisions requiring contractors to retain or submit documentation of best efforts to utilize
certified subcontractors and requiring Department head approval prior to subcontracting shall not
apply to inter-governmental agreements. In addition, the tracking of expenditures of County dollars
by not-for-profit corporations, other municipalities, States, or the federal government is not required.
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Appendix L

Certificate of Compliance

In compliance with Local Law 1-2006, as amended (the “Law”), the Contractor hereby certifies the
following:

1.

The chief executive officer of the Contractor is:

Gene Hall (Name)
56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06904 (Address)
203 964 0096 (Telephone Number)

2. The Contractor agrees to either (1) comply with the requirements of the Nassau County Living

Wage Law or (2) as applicable, obtain a waiver of the requirements of the Law pursuant to
section 9 of the Law. In the event that the Contractor does not comply with the requirements
of the Law or obtain a waiver of the requirements of the Law, and such Contractor establishes
to the satisfaction of the Department that at the time of execution of this Agreement, it had a
reasonable certainty that it would receive such waiver based on the Law and Rules pertaining
to waivers, the County will agree to terminate the contract without imposing costs or seeking
damages against the Contractor

In the past five years, Contractor has X has not been found by a court or a
government agency to have violated federal, state, or local laws regulating payment of wages
or benefits, labor relations, or occupational safety and health. If a violation has been assessed
against the Contractor, describe below:

In the past five years, an administrative proceeding, investigation, or government body-
initiated judicial action has X has not been commenced against or relating to the
Contractor in connection with federal, state, or local laws regulating payment of wages or
benefits, labor relations, or occupational safety and health. If such a proceeding, action, or
investigation has been commenced, describe below:
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5. Contractor agrees to permit access to work sites and relevant payroll records by authorized
County representatives for the purpose of monitoring compliance with the Living Wage Law
and investigating employee complaints of noncompliance.

I hereby certify that I have read the foregoing statement and, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
it is true, correct and complete. Any statement or representation made herein shall be accurate and

true as of the date stated below.
Z/ 13 (/2021 Y g\///

Dated | Sigrfature of Contracts Manager

. /r)d V(d/ ﬁ?&é{ﬂu

Name of Contracts Manager

Sworn to before me this

7 of Fefé’ .023
MY L4l

[4 .
Notary Public
MELISSA A MCKAY
Public - State of Florida
Commission # AH 122101
My Comm. Expires Apr 26, 2025 [/
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Appendix 1: Payment Schedule

The table below outlines the payment milestones associated with completion of the Additional Services

and PMQA Services set forth in this Agreement. Contractor will provide a Services Summary that outlines

the services completed as part of each Payment Milestone.

Payment Milestone Amount
Additional Services $91,298.00
PMQA Month 1 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 2 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 3 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 4 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 5 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 6 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 7 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 8 $60,489.50
PMQA Month g $60,489.50
PMQA Month 10 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 11 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 12 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 13 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 14 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 15 $60,489.50
PMQA Month 16 $60,489.50
Total $1,059,130.00
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Nassau County Interim Finance Authority

Contract Approval Request Form (As of January 1, 2015)

1. Vendor: Gartner, Inc

2, Amount requiring NIFA approval: $1,059,130.00
Amount to be encumbered: $91,298.00
Slip Type: New

If new contract - $ amount should be full amount of contract
If advisement - NIFA only needs to review if it is increasing funds above the amount previously approved by NIFA
If amendment - $ amount should be full amount of amendment only

3. Contract Term: to 24 Months from Notice to Proceed
Has work or services on this contract commenced? No

If yes, please explain:

4. Funding Source:

General Fund (GEN) Grant Fund (GRT)

Capital Improvement Fund X Other
(CAP)

Federal % 0]

State % 0

County % 100

Is the cash available for the full amount of the contract? Yes
If not, will it require a future borrowing? No
Has the County Legislature approved the borrowing? N/A
Has NIFA approved the borrowing for this contract? N/A

5. Provide a brief description (4 to 5 sentences) of the item for which this approval is requested:

PMQA Services for ERP Project Implementation

6. Has the item requested herein followed all proper procedures and thereby approved by the:

Nassau County Attorney as to form

Nassau County Committee and/or Legislature

Yes

Date of approval(s) and citation to the resolution where approval for this item was provided:

7. Identify all contracts (with dollar amounts) with this or an affiliated party within the prior 12 months:

| Contract ID | Posting Date

| Amount Added in Prior 12 Months |




AUTHORIZATION

To the best of my knowledge, I hereby certify that the information contained in this
Contract Approval Request Form and any additional information submitted in
connection with this request is true and accurate and that all expenditures that will be
made in reliance on this authorization are in conformance with the Nassau County
Approved Budget and not in conflict with the Nassau County Multi-Year Financial Plan.
I understand that NIFA will rely upon this information in its official deliberations.

CNOLAN 03/20/2023
Authenticated User Date
COMPTROLLER’S OFFICE

To the best of my knowledge, I hereby certify that the information listed is true and
accurate and is in conformance with the Nassau County Approved Budget and not in
conflict with the Nassau County Multi-Year Financial Plan.

Regarding funding, please check the correct response:
I certify that the funds are available to be encumbered pending NIFA approval of this contract.

If this is a capital project:
I certify that the bonding for this contract has been approved by NIFA.

Budget is available and funds have been encumbered but the project requires NIFA bonding authorization.

Authenticated User Date

NIFA

Amount being approved by NIFA:

Payment is not guaranteed for any work commenced prior to this approval.

Authenticated User Date

NOTE: All contract submissions MUST include the County’s own routing slip, current
NIFS printouts for all relevant accounts and relevant Nassau County Legislature
communication documents and relevant supplemental information pertaining to the item
requested herein.

NIFA Contract Approval Request Form MUST be filled out in its entirety before being
submitted to NIFA for review.

NIFA reserves the right to request additional information as needed.



Elaine Phillips
Comptroller

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
240 Old Country Road
Mineola, New York 11501

COMPTROLLER APPROVAL FORM FOR PERSONAL,
PROFESSIONAL OR HUMAN SERVICES CONTRACTS

Attach this form along with all personal, professional or human services contracts, contract renewals, extensions
and amendments.

CONTRACTOR NAME; Gartner, Inc.
291 Broadway, 9th Floor, New York, New York 10007

CONTRACTOR ADDRESS:

FEDERAL TAX ID #; 043099750

Instructions: Please check the appropriate box (“&”) after one of the following
roman numerals, and provide all the requested information.

I. OO0 The contract was awarded to the lowest, responsible bidder after advertisement
for sealed bids. The contract was awarded after a request for sealed bids was published
in [newspaper] on
[date]. The sealed bids were publicly opened on [date]. [#] of
sealed bids were received and opened.

IL. [@ The contractor was selected pursuant to a Request for Proposals.

The Contract was entered into after a written request for proposals was issued on
July 24th, 2019 . Potential proposers were made aware of the availability of the RFP by
advertisement in Newsday and the NYS Contract Reporter , posting on industry websites, via email to
interested parties and by publication on the County procurement website. Proposals were due on
September 9th, 2019 . Nine (9) proposals were received and evaluated. The evaluation
committee consisted of*: four(4)employees from the Comptroller's Office, three of whom were voting members, one (1) employee from

the County Executive's Office who was a voting member, and three (3) employees from the office of Information Technology, one (1) of whom was

a voting member, as well as one (1) non-votingsubject matter expert from the Comptroller's Independent Audit Advisory Committee. The proposa]s were
scored and ranked. As a result of the scoring and ranking, Gartner Inc. was selected.




IIL. O This is a renewal, extension or amendment of an existing contract.

The contract was originally executed by Nassau County on [date]. Thisis a
renewal or extension pursuant to the contract, or an amendment within the scope of the contract or RFP
(copies of the relevant pages are attached). The original contract was entered into
after

[describe
procurement method, i.e., RFP, three proposals evaluated, etc.] Attach a copy of the most recent evaluation
of the contractor’s performance for any contract to be renewed or extended. If the contractor has not
received a satisfactory evaluation, the department must explain why the contractor should nevertheless be
permitted to continue to contract with the county.

IV. O Pursuant to Executive Order No. 1 of 1993, as amended, at least three
proposals were solicited and received. The attached memorandum from the
department head describes the proposals received, along with the cost of each
proposal.

L1 A. The contract has been awarded to the proposer offering the lowest cost proposal; OR:

O B. The attached memorandum contains a detailed explanation as to the reason(s) why the
contract was awarded to other than the lowest-cost proposer. The attachment includes a specific
delineation of the unique skills and experience, the specific reasons why a proposal is deemed
superior, and/or why the proposer has been judged to be able to perform more quickly than other
proposers.

V. O Pursuant to Executive Order No. 1 of 1993 as amended, the attached
memorandum from the department head explains why the department did not
obtain at least three proposals.

Ll A. There are only one or two providers of the services sought or less than three providers
submitted proposals. The memorandum describes how the contractor was determined to be the
sole source provider of the personal service needed or explains why only two proposals could be
obtained. If two proposals were obtained, the memorandum explains that the contract was
awarded to the lowest cost proposer, or why the selected proposer offered the higher quality
proposal, the proposer’s unique and special experience, skill, or expertise, or its availability to
perform in the most immediate and timely manner.

[0 B. The memorandum explains that the contractor’s selection was dictated by the terms of a
federal or New York State grant, by legislation or by a court order. (Copies of the relevant
documents are attached).

[0 C. Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 104, the department is purchasing the services
required through a New York State Office of General Services contract
no. , and the attached memorandum explains how the purchase is
within the scope of the terms of that contract.




LI D. Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 119-o0, the department is purchasing the services
required through an inter-municipal agreement.

VL. 0O This is a human services contract with a not-for-profit agency for which a
competitive process has not been initiated. Attached is a memorandum that explains the reasons
for entering into this contract without conducting a competitive process, and details when the department
intends to initiate a competitive process for the future award of these services. For any such contract, where
the vendor has previously provided services to the county, attach a copy of the most recent evaluation of
the vendor’s performance. If the contractor has not received a satisfactory evaluation, the department must
explain why the contractor should nevertheless be permitted to contract with the county.

In certain limited circumstances, conducting a competitive process and/or completing performance
evaluations may not be possible because of the nature of the human services program, or because of a
compelling need to continue services through the same provider. In those circumstances, attach an
explanation of why a competitive process and/or performance evaluation is inapplicable.

VIL. O This is a public works contract for the provision of architectural, engineering
or surveying services. The attached memorandum provides details of the department’s compliance
with Board of Supervisors’ Resolution No. 928 of 1993, including its receipt and evaluation of annual
Statements of Qualifications & Performance Data, and its negotiations with the most highly qualified
firms.

Instructions with respect to Sections VIII, IX and X: All Departments must check the box for VIIIL.
Then, check the box for either IX or X, as applicable.

VIII. 4 Participation of Minority Group Members and Women in Nassau County
Contracts. The selected contractor has agreed that it has an obligation to utilize best efforts to hire
MWBE sub-contractors. Proof of the contractual utilization of best efforts as outlined in Exhibit “EE”
may be requested at any time, from time to time, by the Comptroller’s Office prior to the approval of
claim vouchers.

IX. O Department MWBE responsibilities. To ensure compliance with MWBE requirements
as outlined in Exhibit “EE”, Department will require vendor to submit list of sub-contractor
requirements prior to submission of the first claim voucher, for services under this contract being
submitted to the Comptroller.

X. IZ] Vendor will not require any sub-contractors.

In addition, if this is a contract with an individual or with an entity that has only one or two employees: [1 a review of the
criteria set forth by the Internal Revenue Service, Revenue Ruling No. 87-41, 1987-1 C.B. 296, attached as Appendix A to the
Comptroller’s Memorandum, dated February 13, 2004, concerning independent contractors and employees indicates that the

contractor would not be considered an employee for federal tax purposes. /7_\

Department Head Signature

2

NOTE: Any information requested above, or in the exhibit below, may be included in the county’s “staff summary” form
in lieu of a separate memorandum.
Compt. form Pers./Prof. Services Contracts: Rev. 01/22 3

Date



Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into consideration the
reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the County, offers the best value
to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The questionnaire shall
be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm, corporation or partnership
submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is “none” or “not-applicable.” No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: 01/25/2023

1) Proposer’s Legal Name: Gartner, Inc.

2) Address of Place of Business: 291 Broadway, 9th Floor

State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: New York Territory: NY Code: 10007
Country: US
Address: 1325 Sixth Avenue
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: New York Territory: NY Code: 10019
Country: us
Start Date: End Date:
Address: 56 Top Gallant Road
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Stamford Territory: CcT Code: 06902
Country: 'S
Start Date: End Date:
3) Mailing Address (if different):
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Territory: Code:

Country:
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6)

7)

8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

13)

Phone:

Does the business own or rent its facilities? R If other, please provide details:
Dun and Bradstreet number: 09-722-0180

Federal I.D. Number: FEIN: 043099750

The proposer is a: Corporation (Describe)

Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, please provide details:

Does this business control one or more other businesses?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, please provide details:

Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, please provide details:

Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any other
government entity terminated?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond and reason for such
cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets

In the past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business, been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated business been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of an affiliated
business.

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

In the past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business been the
subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory
agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business been the subject of an
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory agencies, for
matters pertaining to that individual’s position at or relationship to an affiliated business.

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
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14)

15)

16)

17

taken.

Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before or during
such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that allegedly occurred during
the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

c) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an element of
which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

d) In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

e) In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any sanction
imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all

questions checked ‘YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

Conflict of Interest:

a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly state “No
conflict exists.”
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict of
interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.
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| No conflict exists.

(ii) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may create a
conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of
interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of interest
would not exist for your firm in the future.

| No conflict exists.

A. Include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer’s professional qualifications, demonstrating extensive
experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be identified.

Have you previously uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES [ 1 NO [X]

Is the proposer an individual?
YES [ ] NO [X] Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i) Date of formation;

06/01/1990

ii) Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including shareholders,
members, general or limited partner. If none, explain.

Gartner is a publicly owned company with common stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “IT.” At the present time, Gartner has two stockholders who own more than 5% of our total shares, among
approximately 78,000 beneficial stockholders.

iii)  Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.

Please see attached file for information on Gartner's Board of Directors.

1 File(s) uploaded: Gartner Board of Directors.pdf

iv) State of incorporation (if applicable);

| DE

V) The number of employees in the firm;

| 16600

vi) Annual revenue of firm;

| 4733962000
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vii)  Summary of relevant accomplishments

| Please see the attached in reference to Gartner certifications, accreditations and third-party recognition.

1 File(s) uploaded: Gartner Certifications Accreditations and Third-Party Recognition.pdf

viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.

Indicate number of years in business.

40

Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer’s capacity and
reliability to perform these services.

Gartner has provided overviews of its capacity and reliability throughout

Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar services or
who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer’s capability to perform this work.

Company
Contact Person
Address

City

Country
Telephone

Fax #

E-Mail Address

Company
Contact Person
Address

City

Country
Telephone

Fax #

E-Mail Address

Company
Contact Person
Address

City

Country
Telephone

Fax #

E-Mail Address
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New York City Fire Department

Stephen Rush

9 MetroTech Center

Brooklyn State/Province/Territory NY

us

(718) 999-2022

Stephen.Rush@fdny.nyc.gov

State of Tennessee Department of Human Services (DHS)

Greg Turner

901 5th Avenue North

Nashville State/Province/Territory TN

us

(615) 394-1767

Greg.N.Turner@tn.gov

New York City Department of Information Technology and Telecommunications

Evan Hines

2 Metro Tech Center, 5th floor Brooklyn, NY 11201

New York State/Province/Territory NY

us

(646) 421-0377

ehines@doitt.nyc.gov
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l, Keith P. Brill , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, | Keith P. Brill , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitting business: Gartner, Inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Keith P. Brill KEITH.BRILL@GARTNER.COM

Senior Managing Partner

Title

01/26/2023 01:08:20 pm

Date
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York State
Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning April 1, 2018, the
period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the campaign
committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign committees of any candidates for any of
the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any

County Legislator?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, to what campaign committee?

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Keith P. Brill [KEITH.BRILL@GARTNER.COM]

Dated: 01/25/2023 12:19:07 pm Vendor: Gartner, Inc.

Title: Sr. Managing Partner
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist(s)/lobbying organization. The term "lobbyist" means any and every person or
organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its
agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals,
development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include
any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or
her official duties.

| N/A

2. List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York State):

| N/A

3. Name, address and telephone number of client(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the lobbyist is retained, employed or
designated:

| N/A

4. Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for each activity listed. See
the last page for a complete description of lobbying activities.

| N/A

5. The name of persons, organizations or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby:

| N/A

6. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a written agreement of retainer or employment, you must attach a copy of
such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written statement of the substance thereof. If the
written agreement of retainer or employment does not contain a signed authorization from the client by whom you have been
authorized to lobby. separately attach such a written authorization from the client.

7. Has the lobbyist/lobbying organization or any of its corporate officers provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New
York State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning April 1,
2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the
campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign committees of any candidates for
any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney,
or any County Legislator?
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YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, to what campaign committee? If none, you must so state:

| understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassau County Department of Information Technology ("IT") to be posted
on the County's website.

| also understand that upon termination of retainer, employment or designation | must give written notice to the County Attorney
within thirty (30) days of termination.

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they
are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campaign committees listed above were made freely
and without duress. threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchange for any benefit or remuneration.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Keith P. Brill [KEITH.BRILL@GARTNER.COM]

Dated: 01/26/2023 01:26:55 pm Vendor: Gartner, Inc.

Title: Senior Managing Partner
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature, or any
member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or resolution; any
determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether or
not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer or
employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract
specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a
contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of
public monies; any determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies,
boards, commissions department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to
County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for
proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected county official
or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of any interest in
real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise,
concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and
effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any
determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight
hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected
county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation,
including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or
regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.

The term "lobbying" or "lobbying activities"_does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation, rules, regulations or rates;
persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates, where such professional
services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive action on such legislation or administrative action on such rules,
regulations or rates; newspapers and other periodicals and radio and television stations and owners and employees thereof,
provided that their activities in connection with proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates are limited to the publication or
broadcast of news items, editorials or other comment, or paid advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses. attorneys or
other representatives in public rule-making or rate-making proceedings of a County agency, with respect to all participation by
such persons which is part of the public record thereof and all preparation by such persons for such participation; persons who
attempt to influence a County agency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative
Procedure Act.
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent (10%) or
greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any
guestion, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN
THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Keith Brill
Date of birth: 01/07/1978
Home address: 9 Andover Lane
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Woodmere Territory: NY Code: 11598
Country: us
Business Address: Gartner, Inc.
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: 291 Broadway, 9th Floor Territory: NY Code: 11598
Country us
Telephone: 9172166049
Other present address(es):
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: New York Territory: Code: 10007

Country: us

Telephone: 9172166049

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner 01/01/2021
Vice President
(Other)

3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES [X] NO [ ] If Yes, provide details.

As of 1/26/2023, | own one hundred (100) shares of Gartner common stock (ticker: "IT"; 79m+ shares outstanding).

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of contribution
made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If Yes, provide details.
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization other
than the one submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past 3 years
while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a result of
any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space,
photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5 in which
you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts cancelled for

cause?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not limited to,
failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action pending
that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business’s ability to bid or propose on contract?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or been the
subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period,
been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/or is any such
business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever initiated?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to all questions check "Yes". If
you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the questionnaire.)

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES [ ]1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

sl

In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

10 In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related to activities performed
at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed in response to Question 5?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

11 In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response to
Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while
you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

12 Inthe past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5 had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

13  For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal, state or
local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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[, | Keith P. Brill , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

[, | Keith P. Brill , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Gartner, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Keith P. Brill KEITH.BRILL@GARTNER.COM

Senior Managing Partner

Title

01/26/2023 01:18:13 pm

Date
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

CONSULTANT’S, CONTRACTOR’S AND VENDOR’S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Gartner, Inc

Address: 291 Broadway, 9th Floor

City: New York State/Province/Territory: NY Zip/Postal Code: 10007

Country: us

2. Entity’s Vendor Identification Number: FEIN: 04-3099750

3. Type of Business: Public Corp (specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable body;, all
partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and officers of limited
liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

1 File(s) uploaded: Gartner Board of Directors.pdf

First Name Craig

Last Name Safian
Ml w Suffix
Address 56 Top Gallant Road
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City Stamford Territory: CcT Code: 06902
Country us
Position CFO
First Name Eugene
Last Name Hall
M Suffix
Address 56 Top Gallant Road
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City Stamford Territory: CT Code: 06902
Country us
Position CEO
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5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an individual, list
the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the 10K in lieu of completing
this section.

If none, explain.

Gartner is a publicly owned company with common stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “IT.” At
the present time, Gartner has two stockholders who own more than 5% of our total shares, among approximately 78,000
beneficial stockholders.

Gartner has also attached its latest 10-K.

2 File(s) uploaded: 0000749251-22-000006.pdf, 34ea298d-62f2-4b25-bf0c-12e1f491f141.pdf

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if none, enter “None”). Attach
a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the performance of this contract. Such
disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not previously disclosed that participate in the
performance of the contract.

| None. However, we have attached a list of Gartner acquisitions history.

1 File(s) uploaded: Gartner Acquisitions History.pdf

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, enter “None.”
The term “lobbyist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or
promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees,
including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are
not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements.
The term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of
New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?
YES [] NO [X]

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

| N/A

(b) Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of lobbying activities.

| N/A

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York
State):

| N/A

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a signatory of the
firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.
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The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to his/her
knowledge, true and accurate.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Keith P. Brill [KEITH.BRILL@GARTNER.COM]

Dated: 01/26/2023 01:24:05 pm

Title: Senior Managing Partner
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature, or any
member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or resolution; any
determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether or
not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer
or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of
contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving
the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of
Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected
county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of
any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect
to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule
having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the
agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature
oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by
an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or
regulation, including any determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation,
rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has
been formally proposed.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
L1 OF 1934

Commission file number: 1-14443

GARTNER, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 04-3099750
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
P.O. Box 10212
56 Top Gallant Road
Stamford,
Connecticut 06902-7700
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (203) 316-1111

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange
Title of each class Trading Symbol on which registered

Common Stock, $0.0005 par value per share IT New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes & No [
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [J No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).
Yes 4 No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

» <«

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O
Smaller reporting company O Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [(J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or
issued its audit report.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes [ No

As of June 30, 2021, the aggregate market value of the registrant’s common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $19.7 billion, based on the
closing price as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

As of February 17, 2022, there were 82,287,402 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 2, 2022 (the “2022 Proxy Statement”) is incorporated by
reference into Part III to the extent described therein.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
GENERAL

Gartner, Inc. (NYSE: IT) delivers actionable, objective insight to executives and their teams. Our expert guidance and tools enable faster, smarter decisions
and stronger performance on an organization’s mission critical priorities.

We are a trusted advisor and an objective resource for more than 15,000 enterprises in approximately 100 countries and territories— across all major
functions, in every industry and enterprise size.

Gartner delivers its products and services globally through three business segments — Research, Conferences and Consulting, as described below.

Research equips executives and their teams from every function and across all industries with actionable, objective insight, guidance and tools. Our
experienced experts deliver all this value informed by a combination of practitioner-sourced and data-driven research to help our clients address their
mission critical priorities.

Conferences provides executives and teams across an organization the opportunity to learn, share and network. From our Gartner Symposium/Xpo
series, to industry-leading conferences focused on specific business roles and topics, to peer-driven sessions, our offerings enable attendees to
experience the best of Gartner insight and guidance.

Consulting serves senior executives leading technology-driven strategic initiatives leveraging the power of Gartner’s actionable, objective insight.
Through custom analysis and on-the-ground support we enable optimized technology investments and stronger performance on our clients’ mission
critical priorities.

The fiscal year of Gartner is the twelve-month period from January 1 through December 31. All references to 2021, 2020 and 2019 herein refer to the fiscal
year unless otherwise indicated. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “Gartner,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to
Gartner, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

MARKET OVERVIEW

Enterprise leaders face enormous pressure to stay ahead and grow profitably amidst constant changes. Whether it is a digital transformation, a global health
crisis, large-scale regulatory changes, or other unique challenges, business leaders today are facing significant disruptive changes. We believe that
enterprises cannot be operationally effective unless they incorporate the right strategy, management and technology decisions into every part of their
business. This requirement affects all business levels, functions and roles. Executives and their teams turn to Gartner for decision-making and execution
guidance to achieve their mission critical priorities.

OUR SOLUTION

We believe our combination of expert-led, practitioner-sourced and data-driven research steers clients toward the right decisions and actions on the issues
that matter most. Organizations are overrun with data and information. Gartner helps eliminate this information chaos and provides clarity with actionable,
objective insight. We employ a diversified business model that utilizes and leverages the breadth and depth of our differentiated intellectual capital. The
foundation of our business model is our ability to create and distribute our proprietary research content as broadly as possible via published reports,
interactive tools, facilitated peer networking, briefings and direct communications with executives and their teams; our conferences, including the Gartner
Symposium/Xpo series; and consulting and advisory services.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Our diversified business model provides multiple entry points and sources of value for our clients that lead to increased client spending on our research and
advisory services, conferences and consulting services. A critical part of our long-term strategy is to increase business volume and penetration with our
most valuable clients, identifying relationships with the greatest sales potential and expanding those relationships by offering strategically relevant research
and insight. We also seek to extend the Gartner brand name to develop new client relationships, augment our sales capacity and expand into new markets
around the world. These initiatives have created additional revenue streams through more effective packaging, campaigning and cross-selling of our
products and services. In addition, we seek to increase our revenue and operating cash flow through more effective pricing of our products and services.



Our principal products and services are delivered through our three business segments, as described below.

+ RESEARCH. Gartner delivers independent, objective advice to leaders across an enterprise through subscription services that include on-demand
access to published research content, data and benchmarks, and direct access to a network of approximately 2,200 research experts located around the
globe. Gartner research is the fundamental building block for all Gartner products and services. We combine our proprietary research methodologies
with extensive industry and academic relationships to create Gartner products and services that address each role across an enterprise. Within the
Research segment, Global Technology Sales (“GTS”) sells products and services to users and providers of technology, while Global Business Sales
(“GBS”) sells products and services to all other functional leaders, such as human resources, supply chain, marketing, and finance.

Our research agenda is defined by clients’ needs, focusing on the critical issues, opportunities and challenges they face every day. We are in steady
contact with more than 15,000 distinct client enterprises worldwide. We publish tens of thousands of pages of original research annually, and our
research experts had more than 495,000 direct client interactions in 2021. Our size and scale enable us to commit vast resources toward broader and
deeper research coverage and to deliver insight to our clients based on what they need and where they are. The ongoing interaction of our research
experts with our clients enables us to identify the most pertinent topics to them and develop relevant product and service enhancements to meet the
evolving needs of users of our research. Our proprietary research content, presented in the form of reports, briefings, updates and related tools, is
delivered directly to the client’s computer or mobile device via our website and/or product-specific portals.

Clients normally sign subscription contracts that provide access to our research content and advisory services for individual users over a defined
period. We typically have a minimum contract period of twelve months for our research and advisory subscription contracts and, at December 31,
2021, a significant portion of our contracts were multi-year.

+ CONFERENCES. Gartner conferences are designed for IT and business executives as well as decision makers looking to adapt and evolve their
organizations through disruption and uncertainty, navigate risks and prioritize investments. Attendees experience sessions led by Gartner research
experts, and the sessions include cutting-edge technology solutions, peer exchange workshops, one-on-one analyst and advisor meetings, consulting
diagnostic workshops, keynotes and more. Our conferences also provide attendees with an opportunity to interact with business executives from the
world’s leading companies. In addition to role-specific summits and workshop-style seminars, Gartner hosts the Gartner Symposium/Xpo series,
including its unique, flagship IT Symposium/Xpo®, which is usually held at nine locations worldwide annually. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic,
Gartner attracted more than 85,000 business and technology professionals to its 70+ destination conferences worldwide in 2019. We also hosted 700+
live meetings each year for peer collaboration and networking, and 240+ exclusive C-level meetings through the Evanta brand. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, we pivoted to producing virtual conferences with a focus on maximizing the value we deliver for our clients. During 2021,
Gartner successfully held 39 virtual conferences with more than 57,000 attendees, including eight Symposiums/Xpos. In addition, during 2021 we
hosted 450+ virtual peer networking meetings, and through the Evanta brand we hosted 550+ exclusive C-level virtual meetings.

* CONSULTING. Through its experienced consultants, Gartner Consulting serves chief information officers and other senior executives who are
driving technology-related strategic initiatives to optimize technology investments and drive business impact. Gartner Consulting combines the power
of Gartner’s market-leading research with custom analysis and on-the-ground support to help clients to turn insight and advice into action and impact.

Consulting solutions capitalize on Gartner assets that are invaluable to information technology (“IT”) decision-making, including: (1) our extensive
research, which ensures that our consulting analyses and advice are based on a deep understanding of the IT environment and the business of IT; (2)
our market independence, which keeps our consultants focused on our clients’ success; and (3) our market-leading benchmarking capabilities, which
provide relevant comparisons and best practices to assess and improve performance. Additionally, we provide actionable solutions for a range of IT-
related priorities, including IT cost optimization, digital transformation and IT sourcing optimization.

COMPETITION
We believe that the principal factors that differentiate us from our competitors are as follows:

»  Superior research content - We believe that we create the broadest, highest-quality and most relevant research coverage across all major functional
roles in an enterprise. Our independent operating model and research analysis generates



unbiased insight that we believe is timely, thought-provoking and comprehensive, and that is known for its high quality, independence and objectivity.
*  Our leading brand name - We have provided critical, trusted insight under the Gartner name for more than 40 years.

*  Our global footprint and established customer base - We have a global presence with clients in approximately 100 countries and territories on six
continents. A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from sales outside of the United States.

» Insight that creates connections - Our global community of experts, analysts and peers help provide the deep relationships that help clients stay ahead
of the curve.

»  Experienced management team - Our management team is comprised of research veterans and experienced industry executives with long tenure at
Gartner.

*  Substantial operating leverage in our business model - We can distribute our intellectual property and expertise across multiple platforms, including
research and advisory subscription and membership programs, conferences and consulting engagements, to derive incremental revenue and
profitability.

*  Vast network of research experts and consultants - As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 2,200 research experts and 760 experienced
consultants located around the world. Our research experts are located in more than 30 countries and territories, enabling us to cover vast aspects of
business and technology on a global basis.

Notwithstanding these differentiating factors, we face competition from a significant number of independent providers of information products and
services. We compete indirectly with consulting firms and other data and information providers, including electronic and print media companies. These
indirect competitors could choose to compete directly with us in the future. In addition, we face competition from free sources of information that are
available to our clients through the internet. Limited barriers to entry exist in the markets in which we do business. As a result, new competitors may
emerge and existing competitors may start to provide additional or complementary services. While we believe the breadth and depth of our research
positions us well versus our competition, increased competition could result in loss of market share, diminished value in our products and services, reduced
pricing, and increased sales and marketing expenditures.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our success has resulted in part from proprietary methodologies, software, reusable knowledge capital and other intellectual property rights. We rely on a
combination of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, confidentiality, non-compete and other contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property
rights. We have policies related to confidentiality, ownership, and the use and protection of Gartner’s intellectual property. We also enter into agreements
with our employees and third parties as appropriate that protect our intellectual property, and we enforce these agreements if necessary. We recognize the
value of our intellectual property in the marketplace and vigorously identify, create and protect it. Additionally, we actively monitor and enforce contract
compliance by our end users.

HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

We believe our people are our most valuable asset, enabling our long track record of global growth. From attracting diverse talent through our recruitment
process to cultivating that talent with learning and development opportunities and rewards for strong performers to supporting overall wellness with
meaningful benefits and engagement, we strive to put our people first. At December 31, 2021, we had approximately 16,600 employees globally, and the
overwhelming majority of our employees were full time.

Gartner is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to all applicants and employees without regard to any legally protected status. This
commitment is formalized in our global and U.S. equal employment opportunity policies. We continually renew this commitment by seeking to optimize
our recruitment and professional development processes, create networking and educational opportunities, celebrate heritage and history, encourage
community service and outreach, and create safe spaces for all employees. Our human capital management strategies are developed by executive
management and overseen by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion



We foster an environment of professional development to help our employees reach their full potential through a culture of continuous improvement. This
includes embracing diversity and actively removing barriers to support inclusion, engagement and growth at Gartner. Our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
(“DET”) Executive Council, composed of our CEO, Chief Human Resources Officer, CFO, General Counsel, head of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion, and
other selected leaders, drives diversity, equity and inclusion as an imperative at all levels of the organization. In addition, the DEI Center of Excellence,
which reports directly to our Chief Human Resources Officer, codifies our strategy and establishes goals against key metrics to drive greater transparency
and accountability. Our teams of employees are composed of individuals from different geographies, cultures, religions, ethnicities, races, genders, sexual
orientations, abilities and generations working together to solve problems. As of December 31, 2021, approximately 46% of our employees worldwide and
36% of our Board of Directors identified as female. In addition, 18% of our Board of Directors and approximately 22% of employees in the U.S. identified
as racially or ethnically diverse. On a worldwide basis, our employees were represented by more than 85 self-identified nationalities working in 38 different
countries and territories.

We focus on the role of unconscious bias and endeavor to build tools that help make various business processes more inclusive and accommodate a more
diverse perspective. We emphasize the importance of inclusion to leaders and managers and the value of fostering a sense of belonging within their teams.
We also continue to invest in learning opportunities to develop DEI at Gartner. For example, our popular Embracing Diversity & Being Inclusive module
has enrolled more than 5,600 associates since its inception.

The Company supports a number of employee-driven Employee Resource Groups (“ERGs”) that bring employees together to foster a diverse, inclusive
and supportive workplace. Gartner currently has six formal ERGs supporting underrepresented racial, ethnic and multicultural backgrounds, women, the
LGBTQ+ community, veterans and employees with disabilities. Participation in ERGs is voluntary and open to all employees. In 2021, over 4,300 Gartner
associates were members of at least one ERG.

Health, Safety and Compensation

We seek to invest in meaningful, innovative and inclusive compensation and benefit programs that support physical, financial and emotional well-being of
our employees. In addition to salaries, these programs (which vary by country/region) include annual bonuses, stock awards, an employee stock purchase
plan, 401(k) matching, healthcare and insurance benefits, tax savings programs, such as health and dependent care flexible spending accounts, health
savings account and pretax commuter benefits, generous paid time off, paid parental leave, life and disability insurance, business travel accident insurance,
charity matching, employee assistance programs, tuition assistance and on-site services, such as health centers and fitness centers, among others. We
believe that our equity grants facilitate retention as well as encourage performance of key personnel.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented significant changes to protect the health and safety of our employees, clients and the
communities in which we operate. This included the temporary closure of our offices in the United States, United Kingdom, India, and several other
impacted locations around the world, as well as the cancellation of certain in-person conferences. We have now reopened a majority of our offices
(including our corporate headquarters) and are planning to reopen the remaining offices in early 2022, with safety guidelines to protect employee health. In
2021, we announced a hybrid virtual-first working arrangement, which provides additional flexibility to employees, enabling most of them to continue
working remotely a substantial portion of the time. We also provide a number of free mental and behavioral health resources, including access to the
Employee Assistance Program for employees and their dependents.

Talent Development, Retention and Training

Gartner aims to foster a culture of lifelong learning, getting feedback and evolving. In addition to helping employees unlock their full potential through
mechanisms like continuous feedback and performance appraisals, we have dedicated programs designed to develop effective leaders. We also offer
rotational programs and an online learning experience platform for employees called GartnerYou. In 2021, GartnerYou offered close to 45,000 learning
resources, with more than 321,000 completions globally. Since our Sales and Research & Advisory teams make up of approximately 50% of total
employees worldwide, we also have formal, dedicated programs to help train and onboard new hires as well as more experienced managers and leaders
within Sales and Research & Advisory. In 2021, Gartner transformed how we onboard new sales hires so they more quickly develop the core competencies
tied to sales success. Rooted in learning and development best practices, the reimagined program operates in a scalable model that provides new sales hires
in their first year with access to as many as 500 well-paced, just-in-time learning assets. More than 1,200 sales associates went through this program in
2021. Through these programs, we believe our teams develop role-specific knowledge and skills, increase productivity and improve performance.

We also strive to develop an inclusive and engaging environment that makes Gartner a vibrant, exciting place to work. We believe the greatest catalyst to
engagement comes from leadership — particularly their efforts to set direction, allocate



resources, and build individual and organizational capability. We embed our associate survey efforts within our business units so that the insight we glean
can help leaders understand the opportunities for effecting organizational growth. Business-unit-specific survey results are used for a number of leader-
specific interventions, from individualized coaching to team-based skill-building to business-unit-wide initiatives targeting key areas of engagement.
Although, like many companies, we experienced an uptick in associate turnover in 2021, the average employee tenure decreased only slightly from 5.2
years in 2020 to 5.1 years in 2021. Moreover, average employee tenure increased year over year for our sales team.

Our Communities

Our associates have a long history of individual and team volunteering. In addition to providing the flexibility for associates to spend time volunteering, we
facilitate and support on- and off-site volunteer projects for teams, and encourage non-profit board

service, skills-based volunteerism and in-house drives. In 2021, Gartner associates logged approximately 18,800 hours supporting over 420 nonprofit
organizations around the world.

We encourage you to review the “Our Associates” section of our Corporate Responsibility Report located on our website at gartner.com, under the
“Corporate Responsibilities” link in the “About” tab for more detailed information regarding our Human Capital programs and initiatives. Nothing on our
website, including our Corporate Responsibility Report or sections thereof, shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this Annual Report, or any other
filing we make with the SEC.

GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS

Our U.S. government contracts are subject to the approval of appropriations by the U.S. Congress to fund the agencies contracting for our products and
services. Additionally, our contracts at the state and local levels, as well as foreign government contracts, are subject to various governmental
authorizations and funding approvals and mechanisms. Certain of these contracts may be terminated at any time by the government entity without cause or
penalty.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our internet address is gartner.com and the Investor Relations section of our website is at investor.gartner.com. We make available free of charge, on or
through the Investor Relations section of our website, printable copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). Unless expressly noted, the information on our website or any other website is not incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K
and should not be considered part of this Form 10-K or any other filing we make with the SEC.

Also available at investor.gartner.com, under the “Governance” link, are printable and current copies of our: (i) CEO and CFO Code of Ethics, which
applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and other financial managers; (ii) Global Code of Conduct, which applies to all
Gartner officers, directors and employees, wherever located; (iii) Principles and Practices of the Board of Directors of Gartner, Inc., the corporate
governance principles that have been adopted by our Board; and (iv) charters for each of the Board’s standing committees: Audit, Compensation and
Governance/Nominating. We will disclose any waiver we grant to an executive officer or director under our Code of Ethics, or certain amendments to the
Code of Ethics, on our website at investor.gartner.com, under the “Governance” link.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

We operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond our
control. In addition, we and our clients are affected by global economic conditions and trends. The following sections address significant factors, events
and uncertainties that make an investment in our securities risky. We urge you to consider carefully the factors described below and the risks that they
present for our operations, as well as the risks addressed in other reports and materials that we file with the SEC and the other information, included or
incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K. When the factors, events and contingencies described below or elsewhere in this Form 10-K materialize, there
could be a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows, and therefore have a potential
negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. Additional risks not currently known to us or that we now deem immaterial may also harm us and
negatively daffect your investment. In addition to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting global disruptions on our business and operations
discussed in Item 7 of this Form 10-K and in the risk factors below, additional or unforeseen effects from the COVID-19 pandemic and the global economic
climate may give rise to or amplify many of these risks discussed below. Risks in this section are grouped in the



following categories: (1) risks related to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic; (2) strategic and operational risks; (3) macroeconomic and industry
risks; (4) legal and regulatory risks; and (5) risks related to our Common Stock. Many risks affect more than one category, and the risks are not in order of
significance or probability of occurrence because they have been grouped by categories.

Risks Related to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a material adverse impact on our operations and financial performance, specifically our Conferences segment, as well
as on the operations and financial performance of many of our customers, and the duration and extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to
dffect our operations, financial performance, results of operations, achievement of strategic objectives, and/or stock price remains uncertain. The COVID-
19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread health crisis that has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our operations, financial
performance and demand for our products and services. It has also adversely affected the operations and financial performance of many of our clients.
Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in, and may continue to result in, a substantial curtailment of business activities (including the decrease
in demand for a broad variety of products and services both regionally and globally), weakened economic conditions, significant economic uncertainty and
volatility in the financial markets. Finally, new variants of COVID-19 continue to emerge, including the Delta variant and more recently, the Omicron
variant, which has caused and may continue to cause significant uncertainty. The future impact of the Delta and Omicron variants, or other variants that
may emerge, cannot be predicted at this time, and may be affected by numerous factors, including vaccination rates and availability in the U.S. and
globally, the effectiveness of current vaccines against the variants and responses by various governments, such as lockdowns and other restrictive measures.

The COVID-19 pandemic has subjected our operations and financial performance to a number of risks that may have (or may continue to have) a material
adverse impact on our operations and financial condition, including, but not limited to those discussed below:

*  We have had to temporarily close Gartner offices (including our corporate headquarters) in the United States, United Kingdom, India, and several other
impacted locations around the world and implemented significant travel restrictions. Though many of our employees continue to work remotely, these
changes impact the normal operation of our business. Although we have reopened most offices and have plans to reopen substantially all remaining
offices in early 2022, health and safety permitting, reopening is subject to many factors outside of our control. As a result, we cannot predict for certain
when or how we will begin to lift the actions put in place as part of our business continuity plans, including work from home protocols and travel
restrictions.

*  We cancelled in-person conferences scheduled for 2020 beginning in late February/early March 2020 with the remainder being cancelled after the
World Health Organization’s declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic later in March 2020. We began holding virtual conferences during the second half
of 2020. We held 39 virtual conferences during 2021 and expect to continue to deliver conferences virtually during 2022. These virtual conferences
have resulted in significantly less revenue and gross contribution than in-person conferences, but we believe they aid in client retention and
engagement. Future in-person conferences will be held only if we determine the relevant impacts of COVID-19 have sufficiently receded in the
jurisdictions where our conferences are to be held. Additionally, our Conferences business strategy may evolve over time. For additional information
about how COVID-19 affects our Conferences business, see the Risk Factor titled “The profitability and success of our conferences and other meetings
are subject to external factors beyond our control.”

¢ Our management is focused on mitigating the effects of COVID-19 on our business, which has required and will continue to require, a substantial
investment of time and may delay other value-added services.

Additionally, we face challenges from evolving factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic that are not within our control, remain uncertain and to which
we may not effectively respond. For example, our operations span numerous locations around the world, and many local governments and countries have
imposed or may impose various restrictions on our employees, partners and customers’ physical movement to limit the spread of COVID-19. These
restrictions are constantly changing, and we cannot predict how long and to what extent they will continue. We also face increased operational hurdles as
we make efforts to promote employee health and safety, including limiting travel, limiting access to offices, and implementing a hybrid virtual-first work
policy, meaning that most of our employees will have the option to work remotely at least some of the time, for the foreseeable future. In addition,
complying with various customer or government vaccine, masking and/or testing requirements may result in increased competition for skilled talent,
adversely impact our ability to deliver services to our customers and adversely impact our operational results or financial performance.



Moreover, COVID-19 may adversely impact our subscription-based business model (which accounts for a significant portion of our revenue) by causing
clients to decrease new and renewals of subscription-based services and to request to cancel or renegotiate current subscription-based services. The effect
of COVID-19 on our subscription-based model may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods.

Further, the duration and extent of the impact from the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our operations and financial performance depend on future
developments that cannot currently be accurately predicted, such as:

« the severity and transmission rate of the virus and variants;

« the extent and effectiveness of containment actions;

* the timing of the development and distribution of effective vaccines globally and/or treatments and their acceptance by the general public;

* the health and well-being of our workforce;

» the extent and duration of the effect on client spending and the impact of these and other factors on our employees, customers, partners and vendors;
* the impact on our liquidity;

* increased volatility and pricing in the capital markets;

» the effect of the pandemic on the credit-worthiness of our customers;

« global economic conditions and levels of economic growth; and

* the pace of recovery when the COVID-19 pandemic subsides.

The occurrence or continuation of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial performance.

The impact of COVID-19, and the volatile regional and global economic conditions stemming from the pandemic, may also precipitate or exacerbate other
risks discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, any of which could have a material effect on us. This situation is changing
rapidly and additional effects may arise that we are not presently aware of or that we currently do not consider to present significant risks to our operations.
If we are not able to respond to and manage the impact of such events effectively, our business and financial condition will be negatively impacted.

Strategic and Operational Risks

We may not be able to maintain the quality of our existing products and services. We operate in a rapidly evolving market, and our success depends on our
ability to deliver high quality and timely research and analysis to our clients. Any failure to continue to provide credible and reliable information and
advice that is useful to our clients could have a material adverse effect on future business and operating results. Further, if our published data, opinions or
viewpoints prove to be wrong, lack independence, or are not substantiated by appropriate research, our reputation will suffer and demand for our products
and services may decline. In addition, we must continue to improve our methods for delivering our products and services in a cost-effective manner via the
internet and mobile applications. Failure to maintain state of the art electronic delivery capabilities could materially adversely affect our future business and
operating results.

We may not be able to enhance and develop our existing products and services or introduce the new products and services that are needed to remain
competitive. The market for our products and services is characterized by rapidly changing needs for information and analysis. The development of new
products is a complex and time-consuming process. Nonetheless, to maintain our competitive position, we must continue to anticipate the needs of our
clients, develop, enhance and improve our existing products, as well as new products and services to address those needs, deliver all products and services
in a timely, user-friendly and state of the art manner, and appropriately position and price new products and services relative to the marketplace and our
costs of developing them. Any failure to achieve successful client acceptance of new products and services could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial position. Additionally, significant delays in new product or service releases or significant problems in creating
new products or services could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial position.

Technology is rapidly evolving, and if we do not continue to develop new product and service offerings in response to these changes, our business could
suffer. Disruptive technologies are rapidly changing the environment in which we, our clients, and



our competitors operate. We will need to continue to respond to these changes by enhancing our product and service offerings to maintain our competitive
position. However, we may not be successful in responding to these forces and enhancing our products on a timely basis, and any enhancements we
develop may not adequately address the changing needs of our clients. Our future success will depend upon our ability to develop and introduce in a timely
manner new or enhanced existing offerings that address the changing needs of this constantly evolving marketplace. Failure to develop products that meet
the needs of our clients in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial position.

In addition, some of our content is exposed to Internet search engines, which help generate website traffic. Search engines often update their proprietary
algorithms, which could affect the placement of links to our websites. Some search engines also provide substantive content in search results, which, if
expanded to the areas in which we operate, could reduce the need to enter our websites. If a major search engine changes its algorithms in a manner that
negatively affects our placement in search results or makes it less likely for our target audience to enter our websites, our business, results of operations and
financial condition would be harmed.

Our Research business depends on renewals of subscription-based services and sales of new subscription-based services for a significant portion of our
revenue, and our failure to renew at historical rates or generate new sales of such services will lead to a decrease in our revenues. A large portion of our
success depends on our ability to generate renewals of our subscription-based research products and services and new sales of such products and services,
both to new clients and existing clients. These products and services constituted approximately 79% and 81% of total revenues from our on-going
operations for 2021 and 2020, respectively. Generating new sales of our subscription-based products and services, both to new and existing clients, is a
challenging, costly, and often time-consuming process. If we are unable to generate new sales, due to competition or other factors, our revenues will be
adversely affected.

Our research subscription contracts are typically for twelve months or longer. Our ability to maintain contract renewals is subject to numerous factors,
including the following:

*  delivering high-quality and timely analysis and advice to our clients;
* understanding and anticipating market trends and the changing needs of our clients; and
«  providing products and services of the quality and timeliness necessary to withstand competition.

Additionally, as we continue to adjust our products and service offerings to meet our clients’ continuing needs, we may shift the type and pricing of our
products which may impact client renewal rates. While our Research client retention rate was 86% and 83% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively,
there can be no guarantee that we will continue to maintain this rate of client renewals.

The profitability and success of our conferences and other meetings are subject to external factors beyond our control. Our Conferences business
constituted approximately 5% and 3% of total revenues from our on-going operations in 2021 and 2020, respectively. As a result of the COVID-19
pandemic, we cancelled in-person conferences scheduled for 2020 beginning in late February/early March 2020 with the remainder being cancelled after
the World Health Organization’s declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic later in March 2020. We began holding virtual conferences during the second half
of 2020. We held 39 virtual conferences during 2021 and expect to continue to deliver conferences virtually during 2022. These virtual conferences are
expected to result in significantly less revenue and gross contribution, but we believe aid in client retention and engagement.

We expect our Conferences revenues will continue to be negatively impacted until in-person conferences can be held. Moreover, our clients that typically
attend these conferences may have pandemic-related travel restrictions in place that could affect attendance once these conferences resume. At this time, we
also cannot predict the extent to which local governments may restrict in-person gatherings and what additional measures will be required to hold in-person
conferences safely, such as providing masks, social distancing and increased sanitation. These safety requirements would likely cause us to incur additional
costs and may limit the number of participants at our in-person conferences. In addition, perceived or actual spread of coronavirus at one of our conferences
could cause reputational damage. The safety of our associates and clients remains our top priority so future in-person conferences will be held only if we
determine the relevant impacts of COVID-19 have sufficiently receded in the jurisdictions where our conferences are to be held.

We also face risks related to insurance coverage for our cancelled conferences. Our event cancellation insurance provides up to $170 million in coverage
for 2020 with the right to reinstate that amount one time if those limits are utilized. The insurer has contested our right to reinstate limits and to include in
reinstated limits conferences cancelled due to COVID-19. Gartner also has event cancellation insurance for 2021, covering events that were planned for
2021 but cancelled, of up to $150 million with



the right to reinstate up to that amount one time if the initial limits are inadequate. The insurer has contested all coverage for events cancelled in 2021 due
to COVID-19. We are in litigation with the insurer on these issues. In 2021, we received $166.9 million of proceeds related to 2020 insurance claims and
recorded a gain of $152.3 million. Our insurance coverage for 2022 (and likely beyond) however excludes cancellation due to communicable diseases. Our
event cancellation insurer is seeking additional information for cancelled Evanta meetings to determine whether Gartner may be entitled to an additional
$3.1 million in coverage for Evanta meetings cancelled in 2020. Gartner is seeking to reinstate and recover up to an additional $20 million for cancelled
2020 Evanta meetings and to reinstate and recover up to an additional $150 million in losses from cancelled 2020 destination conferences. Gartner is also
seeking $150 million in initial limits for events cancelled in 2021 and to reinstate those limits up to an additional $150 million. It is unclear when we will
receive the proceeds from our insurance claims related to the conferences cancelled, which could affect our financial results.

The market for desirable dates and locations for our activities has historically been highly competitive. Once we decide to resume in-person conferences, if
we cannot secure desirable dates and suitable venues for our conferences the profitability for these conferences will suffer, and our financial condition and
results of operations may be adversely affected. In addition, because our conferences are scheduled in advance and held at specific locations, the success of
these activities can be affected by circumstances outside of our control in addition to the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the occurrence of or concerns
related to labor strikes, transportation shutdowns and travel restrictions, economic slowdowns, reductions in government spending, geopolitical crises,
terrorist attacks, war, weather, natural disasters, communicable diseases, and other occurrences impacting the global, regional, or national economies, the
occurrence of any of which could negatively impact the success of the conference or meeting. We also face the challenge of procuring venues that are
sizeable enough at a reasonable cost to accommodate some of our major activities.

Our Consulting business depends on non-recurring engagements and our failure to secure new engagements could lead to a decrease in our revenues.
Consulting segment revenues constituted approximately 9% of total revenues from our on-going operations in both 2021 and 2020. Consulting
engagements typically are project-based and non-recurring. In addition, revenue from our contract optimization business can fluctuate significantly from
period to period and is not predictable. Our ability to replace consulting engagements is subject to numerous factors, including the following:

* delivering consistent, high-quality consulting services to our clients;
+ tailoring our consulting services to the changing needs of our clients; and

* our ability to match the skills and competencies of our consulting staff to the skills required for the fulfillment of existing or potential consulting
engagements.

A material decline in our ability to replace consulting engagements will have an adverse impact on our revenues and our financial condition.

We may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel which could jeopardize the quality of our products and services and our future growth plans.
Our success is based on attracting and retaining talented employees and we depend heavily upon the quality of our senior management, research analysts,
consultants, sales and other key personnel. The market for highly skilled workers and leaders in our industry is extremely competitive. Maintaining our
brand and reputation is important to our ability to recruit and retain employees. We face competition for qualified professionals from, among others,
technology companies, market research firms, consulting firms, financial services companies and electronic and print media companies, some of which
have a greater ability to attract and compensate these professionals. We face risks related to global labor shortages, and competitive markets have increased
attrition throughout our sector. Moreover, vaccine mandates may result in increased employee attrition, if implemented. Additionally, some of the personnel
that we attempt to hire are subject to non-compete agreements that could impede our short-term recruitment efforts. Our employee hiring and retention also
depend on our ability to build and maintain a diverse and inclusive workplace culture that enables our employees to thrive. We may also be limited in our
ability to recruit internationally by restrictive domestic immigration laws, and changes to policies that restrain the flow of technical and professional talent
could inhibit our ability to adequately staff our research and development and other efforts.

An inability to retain key personnel or to hire and train additional qualified personnel could materially adversely affect the quality of our products and
services, as well as our future business and operating results or stock price. In addition, effective succession planning is important to our long-term success,
and failure to ensure effective transfer of knowledge and smooth transitions involving key employees could hinder our strategic planning and execution.
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Additionally, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the vast majority of our employees transitioned to working from home. In early 2022, we began to
operate under a hybrid virtual-first working environment, meaning that most of our employees have the option to work remotely at least some of the time
for the foreseeable future. The hybrid working environment may impair our ability to maintain our culture of collaboration and continuous improvement,
and may cause disruptions among our employees, including lost productivity, communication challenges and, potentially, employee dissatisfaction and
attrition. If our attempts to safely reopen our offices and operate under a hybrid working environment are not successful, our business could be adversely
impacted.

If we are unable to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position may be harmed. We rely on a combination of copyright,
trademark, trade secret, patent, confidentiality, non-compete and other contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights. Despite our efforts
to protect our intellectual property rights, unauthorized third parties may obtain and use technology or other information that we regard as proprietary. Our
intellectual property rights may not survive a legal challenge to their validity or provide significant protection for us. The laws of certain countries,
particularly in emerging markets, do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Conducting business in certain
foreign jurisdictions may require accepting compromised protections or yielding of rights to technology, data or intellectual property rights in order to
access those markets. Accordingly, we may not be able to protect our intellectual property against unauthorized or undesired third-party copying or use,
which could adversely affect our competitive position. Additionally, there can be no assurance that another party will not assert that we have infringed its
intellectual property rights.

Our employees are subject to restrictive covenant agreements (which include restrictions on employees’ ability to compete and solicit customers and
employees) and assignment of invention agreements, to the extent permitted under applicable law. When the period expires relating to their particular
restrictions, former employees may compete against us. If a former employee violates the provisions of the restrictive covenant agreement, we seek to
enforce the restrictions but there is no assurance that we will be successful in our efforts.

Privacy concerns could damage our reputation and deter current and potential clients from using our products and services or attending our conferences.
Concerns relating to global data privacy have the potential to damage our reputation and deter current and prospective clients from using our products and
services or attending our conferences. In the ordinary course of our business and in accordance with applicable laws, we collect personal information (i)
from our employees, (ii) from the users of our products and services, including conference attendees, and (iii) from prospective clients. We collect only
basic personal information from our clients and prospects. While we believe our overall data privacy procedures are adequate, the theft or loss of such data,
or concerns about our practices, even if unfounded, with regard to the collection, use, disclosure, or security of this personal information or other data
protection related matters could damage our reputation and materially adversely affect our operating results. Any systems failure or compromise of our
security that results in the disclosure of our users’ personal data could seriously limit the consumption of our products and services and the attendance at
our conferences, as well as harm our reputation and brand and, therefore, our business.

We are exposed to risks related to cybersecurity. A significant portion of our business is conducted over the internet and we rely on the secure processing,
storage and transmission of confidential, sensitive, proprietary and other types of information relating to our business operations and confidential and
sensitive information about its customers and employees in our computer systems and networks, and in those of our third-party vendors. Individuals,
groups, and state-sponsored organizations may take steps that pose threats to our operations, our computer systems, our employees, and our customers. The
cybersecurity risks we face range from cyber attacks common to most industries, such as the development and deployment of malicious software to gain
access to our networks and attempt to steal confidential information, launch distributed denial of service attacks, or attempt other coordinated disruptions,
to more advanced threats that target us because of our prominence in the global research and advisory field.

Like many multinational corporations, we, and some third parties upon which we rely, have experienced cyber attacks on our computer systems and
networks in the past and may experience them in the future, likely with more frequency and sophistication, and involving a broader range of devices and
modes of attack, all of which will increase the difficulty of detecting and successfully defending against them. To date, none have resulted in any material
adverse impact to our business, operations, products, services or customers. We have implemented various security controls to both meet our security
obligations, while also defending against constantly evolving security threats. Our security controls help to secure our information systems, including our
computer systems, intranet, proprietary websites, email and other telecommunications and data networks, and we scrutinize the security of outsourced
website and service providers prior to retaining their services. However, the security measures implemented by us or by our outside service providers may
not be effective and our systems (and those of our outside service providers) are vulnerable to theft, loss, damage and interruption from a number of
potential sources and events, including unauthorized access or security breaches, cyber attacks, computer viruses, power loss, or other disruptive events. As
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our employees are working remotely, which magnifies the
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importance of the integrity of our remote access security measures. Additionally, the security compliance landscape continues to evolve, requiring us to
stay apprised of changes in cybersecurity laws, regulations, and security requirements required by our clients, such as the European Union General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR), the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), the Brazilian General Data Protection Law (LGPD), the Chinese
Cybersecurity, Data Security and Personal Information Protection laws (and other new and proposed data protection laws), International Organization for
Standardization (ISO), and National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). Recent well-publicized security breaches at other companies have led to
enhanced government and regulatory scrutiny of the measures taken by companies to protect against cyber attacks, and may in the future result in
heightened cybersecurity requirements, including additional regulatory expectations for oversight of vendors and service providers.

A cyber attack, widespread internet failure or internet access limitations, or disruption of our critical information technology systems through denial of
service, viruses, or other events could cause delays in initiating or completing sales, impede delivery of our products and services to our clients, disrupt
other critical client-facing or business processes or dislocate our critical internal functions. Additionally, any material breaches of cybersecurity or other
technology-related catastrophe, or media reports of perceived security vulnerabilities to our systems or those of our third parties, even if no breach has been
attempted or occurred, could cause us to experience reputational harm, loss of customers and revenue, fines, regulatory actions and scrutiny, sanctions or
other statutory penalties, litigation, liability for failure to safeguard our customers’ information, or financial losses that are either not insured against or not
fully covered through any insurance maintained by us.

Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may experience outages and disruptions of our online services if we fail to maintain an adequate operations infrastructure. Our increasing user traffic
and complexity of our products and services demand more computing power. We have invested substantial amounts and expect to continue investing (as
necessary) in access to data centers and equipment and in moving more of our workload into cloud services, upgrading our technology and network
infrastructure to handle increased traffic on our websites, and delivering our products and services through emerging channels, such as mobile applications.
However, any inefficiencies or operational failures could diminish the quality of our products, services, and user experience, resulting in damage to our
reputation and loss of current and potential users, subscribers, and advertisers, potentially harming our financial condition and operating results.

We have grown, and may continue to grow, through acquisitions and strategic investments, which could involve substantial risks. We have made and may
continue to make acquisitions of, or significant investments in, businesses that offer complementary products and services or otherwise support our growth
objectives. The risks involved in each acquisition or investment include the possibility of paying more than the value we derive from the acquisition,
dilution of the interests of our current stockholders should we issue stock in the acquisition, decreased working capital, increased indebtedness, the
assumption of undisclosed liabilities and unknown and unforeseen risks, the ability to retain key personnel of the acquired company, the inability to
integrate the business of the acquired company, increase revenue or fully realize anticipated synergies, the time to train the sales force to market and sell the
products of the acquired business, the potential disruption of our ongoing business and the distraction of management from our day to day business. The
realization of any of these risks could adversely affect our business. Additionally, we face competition in identifying acquisition targets and consummating
acquisitions.

We face risks related to leased office space. We assumed a significant amount of leased office space, in particular in Arlington, Virginia, in connection with
the acquisition of CEB Inc. in 2017. In Arlington, we have consolidated all our businesses into a single building and have sublet substantially all of the
excess space in our other properties. Through our real estate consolidations and other related activities, we have tried to secure quality sub-tenants with
appropriate sub-lease terms. However, if subtenants default on their sublease obligations with us or otherwise terminate their subleases with us, we may
experience a loss of planned sublease rental income, which could result in a material charge against our operating results. Additionally, the long-term
impact of COVID-19 on leased office space availability and rental costs of leased office space is not yet known.

To accommodate our growth going forward, we have moved to a global hoteling option to better manage our footprint and operating expenses, and will
secure new space when the opportunities and need arise. If the new spaces are not completed on schedule, or if the landlord defaults on its commitments
and obligations pursuant to the new leases, we may incur additional expenses. In addition, unanticipated difficulties in initiating operations in a new space,
including construction delays, IT system interruptions, or other infrastructure support problems, could result in a delay in moving into the new space,
resulting in a loss of employee and operational productivity and a loss of revenue and/or additional expenses, which could also have an adverse, material
impact on our operating results.
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Our sales to governments are subject to appropriations and some may be terminated early. We derive significant revenues from research and consulting
contracts with the United States government and its respective agencies, numerous state and local governments and their respective agencies, and foreign
governments and their agencies. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, approximately $790 million and $689 million, respectively, of our outstanding revenue
contracts were attributable to government entities. Our U.S. government contracts are subject to the approval of appropriations by the U.S. Congress to
fund the agencies contracting for our services. Additionally, our contracts at the state and local levels, as well as foreign government contracts, are subject
to various governmental authorizations and funding approvals and mechanisms. Certain of these contracts may be terminated at any time by the
government entity without cause or penalty (“termination for convenience”). In addition, contracts with U.S. federal, state and local, and foreign
governments and their respective agencies are subject to increasingly complex bidding procedures and compliance requirements, as well as intense
competition. Failure to adequately abide by these procedures and compliance requirements could result in an inability to contract with governments or their
agencies, termination of existing contracts, or even suspension and disbarment from doing future business with a government or agency. Moreover, while
terminations by governments for lack of funding have not been significant historically, should appropriations for the various governments and agencies that
contract with us be curtailed, or should our government contracts be terminated for convenience, we may experience a significant loss of revenues.

We may not be able to maintain the equity in our brand name. We believe that our “Gartner” brand, in particular our independence, is critical to our efforts
to attract and retain clients and top talent, and that the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition increases. We may also discover that
our brand, though recognized, is not perceived to be relevant by new market segments we have targeted. We may expand our marketing activities to
promote and strengthen the Gartner brand and may need to increase our marketing budget, hire additional marketing and public relations personnel, and
expend additional sums to protect our brand and otherwise increase expenditures to create and maintain client brand loyalty. If we fail to effectively
promote, maintain, and protect the Gartner brand, or incur excessive expenses in doing so, our future business and operating results could be materially
adversely impacted.

Our outstanding debt obligations could negatively impact our financial condition and future operating results. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had
outstanding debt of $288 million under its 2020 term loan and revolving credit facility (the “2020 Credit Agreement”), $800 million of Senior Notes due
2028 (the “2028 Notes”), $600 million of Senior Notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes”) and $800 million of Senior Notes due 2030 (the “2030 Notes™).
Additional information regarding the 2020 Credit Agreement, the 2028 Notes, the 2029 Notes and the 2030 Notes is included in Note 6 — Debt in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The debt service requirements of these borrowings could impair our future financial condition and operating results. In addition, the affirmative, negative
and financial covenants of the 2020 Credit Agreement, as well as the covenants related to the Senior Notes, could limit our future financial flexibility. A
failure to comply with these covenants could result in acceleration of all amounts outstanding, which could materially impact our financial condition unless
accommodations could be negotiated with our lenders and noteholders. No assurance can be given that we would be successful in doing so, or that any
accommodations that we were able to negotiate would be on terms as favorable as those currently in place. The outstanding debt may limit the amount of
cash or additional credit available to us, which could restrain our ability to expand or enhance products and services, respond to competitive pressures or
pursue future business opportunities requiring substantial investments of additional capital.

In addition, variable-rate borrowings under our 2020 Credit Agreement typically use LIBOR as a benchmark based on market participant judgments for
establishing the rate of interest. LIBOR is the subject of recent national and international regulatory scrutiny, which is expected to result in changes that
cause LIBOR to disappear entirely after June 2023 for rates applicable to the 2020 Credit Agreement and our existing derivatives contracts, and as of
December 2021 for any new debt and derivatives contracts that we may enter into. The changes may also cause LIBOR to perform differently than in the
past. The Alternative Reference Rates Committee (ARRC), which was convened by the Federal Reserve Board and the New York Fed, has identified the
Secured Oversight Financing Rate (SOFR) as the recommended risk-free alternative rate for USD LIBOR. The future consequences of these LIBOR
developments on our variable-rate borrowings, including the possible transition to rates based on observable transactions, such as the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (SOFR), cannot be predicted at this time, but could include an increase in the cost of our variable-rate indebtedness and volatility in our
earnings.

We may require additional cash resources which may not be available on favorable terms or at all. We may require additional cash resources due to
changed business conditions, implementation of our strategy and stock repurchase program, to repay indebtedness or to pursue future business
opportunities requiring substantial investments of additional capital, including acquisitions. If our existing financial resources are insufficient to satisfy our
requirements, we may seek additional borrowings or issue debt. Prevailing credit and debt market conditions may negatively affect debt availability and
cost, and, as a result, financing may not be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, the incurrence of additional
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indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations and could require us to agree to operating and financial covenants that would further restrict
our operations.

Natural disasters, pandemics, terrorist acts, war, actions by governments, and other geopolitical activities could disrupt our operations. We operate in
numerous U.S. and international locations, and we have offices in a number of major cities across the globe. The occurrence of, or concerns related to, a
major weather event, earthquake, flood, drought, volcanic activity, disease or pandemic, or other natural disaster could significantly disrupt our operations.
In addition, acts of civil unrest, failure of critical infrastructure, terrorism, armed conflict, war, and abrupt political change, as well as responses by various
governments and the international community to such acts, can have a negative effect on our business. Such events could cause delays in initiating or
completing sales, impede delivery of our products and services to our clients, disrupt or shut down the internet or other critical client-facing and business
processes, impede the travel of our personnel and clients, dislocate our critical internal functions and personnel, and in general harm our ability to conduct
normal business operations, any of which can negatively impact our financial condition and operating results. Such events could also impact the timing and
budget decisions of our clients, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Macroeconomic and Industry Risks

We are subject to risks from operating globally. We have clients in approximately 100 countries and territories and a substantial amount of our revenue is
earned outside of the United States. Our operating results are subject to all of the risks typically inherent in international business activities, including
general political and economic conditions in each country, challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations, changes in regulatory requirements,
compliance with numerous and complex foreign laws and regulations, currency restrictions and fluctuations, the difficulty of enforcing client agreements,
collecting accounts receivable and protecting intellectual property rights including against economic espionage in international jurisdictions. Further, we
rely on local distributors or sales agents in some international locations. If any of these arrangements are terminated by our agent or us, we may not be able
to replace the arrangement on beneficial terms or on a timely basis, or clients of the local distributor or sales agent may not want to continue to do business
with us or our new agent.

Additionally, tariffs, trade barriers and restrictions, and other acts by governments to protect domestic markets or to retaliate against the trade tariffs and
restrictions of other nations could negatively affect our business operations. In addition, the withdrawal of nations from existing common markets or
trading blocs, such as the exit of the United Kingdom (UK) from the European Union (the EU), commonly referred to as Brexit, could be disruptive and
negatively impact our business and the business of our clients. We continue to monitor Brexit and its potential impacts on our results of operations and
financial condition. In connection with Brexit, in December, 2020, the EU and the United Kingdom reached an agreement on a new trade arrangement that
became effective on January 1, 2021. Depending on the application of the terms of the trade and cooperation agreement, there could be near or long-term
negative impacts on our UK business due to regulatory costs and challenges for us and our clients who have significant operations in the United Kingdom.
The impact of any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could materially harm our business and financial results.

Our operating results could be negatively impacted by global economic conditions. Our business is impacted by general economic conditions and trends in
the United States and abroad. In its recent report, Global Economics Prospects, January 2022, the World Bank reported that following a collapse in 2020
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, global economic growth is estimated to have surged to 5.5% in 2021. Notwithstanding this annual increase, according
to the report, resurgences of the COVID-19 pandemic and widespread supply bottlenecks weighed appreciably on global activity in the second half of
2021. Reflecting these bottlenecks, as well as the recovery in global demand and rising food and energy prices, the World Bank notes that global consumer
price inflation and its near-term expectations have increased more than previously anticipated. The report also notes that labor markets in advanced
economies have tightened, supporting a rebound in wage inflation, Against this backdrop, the World Bank predicted the global economy is set to
experience its sharpest slowdown after an initial rebound from a global recession since at least the 1970s. Global growth is projected to decelerate from 5.5
percent in 2021 to 4.1 percent in 2022, reflecting continued COVID-19 flare-ups, diminished policy support, and lingering supply disruptions. Per the
World Bank, global growth is envisioned to slow further in 2023, to 3.2 percent, as pent-up demand is depleted and supportive macroeconomic policies
continue to be unwound. A downturn in growth could negatively and materially affect future demand for our products and services in general, in certain
geographic regions, in particular countries, or industry sectors. In addition, U.S. federal, state and local government spending limits may reduce demand for
our products and services from those governmental agencies as well as organizations that receive funding from those agencies, and could negatively affect
macroeconomic conditions in the United States, which could further reduce demand for our products and services. Such difficulties could negatively impact
our ability to maintain or improve the various business measurements we utilize (which are defined in this Annual Report), such as contract value and
consulting backlog growth, client retention, wallet retention, consulting utilization rates, and the number of attendees and exhibitors at our conferences and
other meetings. Failure to
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achieve acceptable levels of these measurements or improve them will negatively impact our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

We face significant competition and our failure to compete successfully could materially adversely dffect our results of operations, financial condition, and
cash flows. The markets for our products and services are characterized by intense competition and we face direct competition from a significant number of
independent providers of information products and services, including information available on the internet free of charge. We also compete indirectly
against consulting firms and other information providers, including electronic and print media companies, some of which have greater financial,
information gathering and marketing resources than we do. These indirect competitors could also choose to compete directly with us in the future. In
addition, low barriers to entry exist in the markets in which we do business. As a result, new competitors may emerge, and existing competitors may start to
provide additional or complementary services. Additionally, technological advances may provide increased competition from a variety of sources.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully compete against current and future competitors and our failure to do so will result in loss of
market share, diminished value in our products and services, reduced pricing and increased marketing expenditures. Furthermore, we will not be successful
if we cannot compete effectively on quality of research and analysis, timely delivery of information, customer service, the ability to offer products to meet
changing market needs for information and analysis, or price.

We are exposed to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates from our international operations. A significant portion of our revenues are typically
derived from sales outside of the United States. Revenues earned outside the United States are typically transacted in local currencies, which may fluctuate
significantly against the U.S. dollar. While we use forward exchange contracts to a limited extent to seek to mitigate foreign currency risk, our revenues and
results of operations could be adversely affected by unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations.

Our business could be negatively impacted by climate change. While we seek to mitigate the business risks associated withclimate change for our
operations, there are inherent climate-related risks wherever business is conducted. Access to clean water and reliable energy in the communities where we
conduct our business, whether for our offices, clients, vendors or other stakeholders is a priority. We have large offices in Connecticut, Florida, India,
Australia, and other locations that are vulnerable to climate change effects. Changing market dynamics, global policy developments, and the increasing
frequency and impact of extreme weather events on critical infrastructure in the U.S. and elsewhere have the potential to disrupt our business, the business
of our vendors, and the business clients, and may cause us to experience higher attrition, losses and additional costs to maintain or resume operations.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Our failure to comply with complex U.S. and foreign laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.
Our business and operations may be conducted in countries where corruption has historically penetrated the economy. It is our policy to comply, and to
require our local partners, distributors, agents, and those with whom we do business to comply, with all applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws,
such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, regulations established by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) and with
applicable local laws of the foreign countries in which we operate. There can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors and agents will comply
with the Company’s policies that mandate compliance with these laws. Any determination that we have violated or are responsible for violations of these
laws, even if inadvertent, could be costly and disrupt our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity and cash flows, as well as on our reputation. For example, during the second half of 2018 we cooperated fully with a South
African government commission established to review a wide range of issues related to the country’s revenue service, including the procurement and
fulfillment of consulting agreements we entered into with the revenue service through a sales agent from late 2014 through early 2017. We fully cooperated
with the commission and in parallel, we commenced an internal investigation regarding this matter. We voluntarily disclosed the matter to the SEC and
Department of Justice (DOJ) in November 2018 and are cooperating fully with their review, including executing tolling agreements. At this time, we do not
believe the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material effect on our financial results, however, an unexpected adverse resolution of these
matters could negatively impact our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

In addition, continuously evolving data protection laws and regulations, such as the European Union General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the
decision in the Schrems II case, the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), the Brazilian General Data Protection Law (LGPD), the Chinese
Cybersecurity, Data Security and Personal Information laws and other new and proposed data protection laws, pose increasingly complex compliance
challenges. We have implemented GDPR, CCPA
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and LGPD compliance programs. In the meantime, Gartner will continue to maintain and rely upon our comprehensive global data protection compliance
program, which includes administrative, technical, and physical controls to safeguard our associates’ and clients’ personal data. The interpretation and
application of these laws in the United States, the EU and elsewhere are often uncertain, inconsistent and ever changing. Complying with these various
laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.

We face risks related to litigation. We are, and in the future may be, subject to a variety of legal actions, such as employment, breach of contract,
intellectual property-related, and business torts, including claims of unfair trade practices and misappropriation of trade secrets. Given the nature of our
business, we are also subject to defamation (including libel and slander), negligence, or other claims relating to the information we publish. Regardless of
the merits of any claim and despite vigorous efforts to defend any such claim, claims can affect our reputation, and responding to any such claim could be
time consuming, result in costly litigation and require us to enter into settlements, royalty and licensing agreements which may not be offered or available
on reasonable terms. If a claim is made against us that we cannot defend or resolve on reasonable terms, our business, brand, and financial results could be
materially adversely affected.

We face risks related to taxation. We are a global company and a substantial amount of our earnings is generated outside of the United States and taxed at
rates other than the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate. Our effective tax rate, financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected by
earnings being higher than anticipated in jurisdictions with higher statutory tax rates and, conversely, lower than anticipated in jurisdictions that have lower
statutory tax rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and/or by changes in tax laws or accounting principles and their interpretation by
relevant authorities.

Corporate tax reform, base-erosion efforts and tax transparency continue to be high priorities in many countries. Tax reform legislation is being proposed or
enacted in a number of jurisdictions where we do business. During 2015, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) released
final reports on various action items associated with its initiative to prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS). In 2020, the OECD further proposed
a two-pillar approach to global taxation (BEPS 2.0), focusing on global profit allocation and a global minimum tax rate and in December of 2021, both the
OECD and the EU released model rules and draft directives with respect to global minimum tax. The future enactment by various governments of these and
other proposals could significantly increase our tax obligations in many countries where we do business. These actual, potential, and other changes, both
individually and collectively, could materially increase our effective tax rate and negatively impact our financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows. We will continue to monitor and reflect the impact of such legislative changes in future financial statements as appropriate.

In addition, our tax filings for various years are subject to examination by domestic and international taxing authorities and, during the ordinary course of
business, we are under audit by various tax authorities. Recent and future actions on the part of the OECD and various governments have increased scrutiny
of our tax filings. Although we believe that our tax filings and related accruals are reasonable, the final resolution of tax audits may be materially different
from what is reflected in our historical tax provisions and accruals and could have a material adverse effect on our effective tax rate, financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows.

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $120.1 million of accumulated undistributed earnings in our non-U.S. subsidiaries. Our cash and cash
equivalents are held in numerous locations throughout the world. At December 31, 2021, 31% of our cash and cash equivalents was held overseas, with a
substantial portion representing accumulated undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. Under generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America, no provision for income taxes that may result from the remittance of accumulated undistributed foreign earnings is required if the
Company intends to reinvest such earnings overseas indefinitely. The Company intends to continue to reinvest its accumulated undistributed foreign
earnings, except in instances where the repatriation of those earnings would result in minimal additional tax. As a result, we have not recognized income
tax expense on the amounts deemed permanently reinvested.

Our corporate compliance program cannot guarantee that we are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. We operate in a number of
countries, including emerging markets, and as a result we are required to comply with numerous, and in many cases, changing international and U.S.
federal, state and local laws and regulations. Accordingly, we have a corporate compliance program that includes the creation of appropriate policies
defining employee behavior that mandate adherence to laws, employee training, annual affirmations, monitoring and enforcement. However, failure of any
employee to comply with any of these laws, regulations or our policies, could result in a range of liabilities for the employee and for the Company,
including, but not limited to, significant penalties and fines, sanctions and/or litigation, and the expenses associated with defending and resolving any of the
foregoing, any of which could have a negative impact on our reputation and business.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
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Our anti-takeover protections may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders.
Provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may make it difficult for any party to acquire control of us in a
transaction not approved by our Board of Directors. These provisions include: (i) the ability of our Board of Directors to issue and determine the terms of
preferred stock; (ii) advance notice requirements for inclusion of stockholder proposals at stockholder meetings; and (iii) the anti-takeover provisions of
Delaware law. These provisions could discourage or prevent a change of control or change in management that might provide stockholders with a premium
to the market price of their common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

As of December 31, 2021, we leased approximately 20 domestic and 65 international office properties for our ongoing business operations. These offices,
which exclude certain properties that we sublease to others, support our executive and administrative activities, research and consulting, sales, systems
support, operations, and other functions. Our corporate office is based in Stamford, Connecticut. We also maintain an important presence in: Fort Myers,
Florida; Arlington, Virginia; Egham, the United Kingdom; Gurgaon, India; Irving, Texas; and Barcelona, Spain. The Company does not own any real

property.

Our Stamford corporate headquarters is comprised of leased office space in three buildings located on the same campus. Our lease for the Stamford
headquarters facility expires in 2027 and contains three five-year renewal options at fair value.

In early 2022, we began to operate under a hybrid virtual-first working environment, meaning that most of our employees have the option to work remotely
at least some of the time for the foreseeable future. As a result, we believe our current real estate footprint is sufficient to support future growth.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are involved in legal and administrative proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We believe that the potential liability, if
any, in excess of amounts already accrued from all proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material effect on our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations when resolved in a future period.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART I1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “IT”. As of February 17, 2022, there were 1,010 holders of record of our
common stock. Our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held virtually on June 2, 2022.

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The equity compensation plan information set forth in Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference into this
Part II, Item 5.

SHARE REPURCHASES

In May 2015, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) authorized a share repurchase program to repurchase up to $1.2 billion of our common stock. The
Board authorized incremental share repurchases of up to an additional $300.0 million, $500.0 million, $800.0 million and $500.0 million of the Company’s
common stock in February 2021, April 2021, July 2021 and February 2022, respectively. The Company may repurchase its common stock from time-to-
time in amounts, at prices and in the manner that the Company deems appropriate, subject to the availability of stock, prevailing market conditions, the
trading price of the stock, the Company’s financial performance and other conditions. Repurchases may be made through open market purchases (which
may include repurchase plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), accelerated share repurchases,
private transactions or other transactions and will be funded by cash on hand and borrowings. Repurchases may also be made from time-to-time in
connection with the settlement of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards. The table below summarizes the repurchases of our common stock
during the three months ended December 31, 2021 pursuant to our share repurchase program and the settlement of stock-based compensation awards.
Total Number of Maximum Approximate

Shares Purchased Dollar Value of Shares That
Total Number of  Average Price Under Announced May Yet Be Purchased Under

Shares Purchased Paid Per Share Programs the Plans or Programs
Period #) (%) #) (in thousands)
October 1, 2021 to October 31, 2021 579,246 $ 311.67 578,486 $ 595,976
November 1, 2021 to November 30, 2021 48,522 331.00 15,290 590,976
December 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 437 332.30 — 3 590,976
Total for the quarter (1) 628,205 $ 313.18 593,776

(1) The repurchased shares during the three months ended December 31, 2021 included purchases for both the settlement of stock-based compensation
awards and open market purchases.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The purpose of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is to facilitate an understanding of significant factors influencing the operating
results, financial condition and cash flows of Gartner, Inc. Additionally, the MD&A conveys our expectations of the potential impact of known trends,
events or uncertainties that may impact future results. You should read this discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Historical results and percentage relationships are not necessarily indicative of operating results for
future periods. References to “Gartner,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” in this MD&A are to Gartner, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

This MD&A provides an analysis of our consolidated financial results, segment results and cash flows for 2021 and 2020 under the headings “Results of
Operations,” “Segment Results” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” For a similar detailed discussion comparing 2020 and 2019, refer to those headings
under Item 7., “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2020.
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In addition to GAAP results, we provide foreign currency neutral dollar amounts and percentages for our revenues, certain expenses, contract values and
other metrics. These foreign currency neutral dollar amounts and percentages eliminate the effects of exchange rate fluctuations and thus provide a more
accurate and meaningful trend in the underlying data being measured. We calculate foreign currency neutral dollar amounts by converting the underlying
amounts in local currency for different periods into U.S. dollars by applying the same foreign exchange rates to all periods presented.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are any
statements other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, hopes, intentions, projections or strategies
regarding the future. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “should,” “could,”
“believe,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue” or other words of similar meaning.

9« 2« 2 2«

We operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment that involves numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties, some of which
are beyond our control. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any of our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could
differ materially from those projected or assumed in any of our forward-looking statements. Our future quarterly and annual revenues, operating income,
results of operations and cash flows, as well as any forward-looking statement, are subject to change and to inherent risks and uncertainties, such as those
disclosed or incorporated by reference in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Important factors that could cause our actual results,
performance and achievements, or industry results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in our forward-looking statements include,
among others, the following: uncertainty of the magnitude, duration, geographic reach and impact on the global economy of the COVID-19 pandemic; the
current, and uncertain future, impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and governments’ responses to it on our business, growth, reputation, projections,
prospects, financial condition, operations, cash flows, and liquidity; the adequacy or effectiveness of steps we take to respond to the crisis; our ability to
recover potential claims under our event cancellation insurance; the timing of conferences and meetings, in particular our Gartner Symposium/Xpo series
that normally occurs during the fourth quarter, as well as the timing of our return to in-person conferences and meetings and willingness of participants to
attend; our ability to achieve and effectively manage growth, including our ability to integrate our acquisitions and consummate and integrate future
acquisitions; our ability to pay our debt obligations; our ability to maintain and expand our products and services; our ability to expand or retain our
customer base; our ability to grow or sustain revenue from individual customers; our ability to attract and retain a professional staff of research analysts and
consultants as well as experienced sales personnel upon whom we are dependent; our ability to achieve continued customer renewals and achieve new
contract value, backlog and deferred revenue growth in light of competitive pressures; our ability to carry out our strategic initiatives and manage
associated costs; our ability to successfully compete with existing competitors and potential new competitors; our ability to enforce and protect our
intellectual property rights; additional risks associated with international operations, including foreign currency fluctuations; the U.K.’s exit from the
European Union and its impact on our results; the impact of restructuring and other charges on our businesses and operations; cybersecurity incidents;
general economic conditions; changes in macroeconomic and market conditions and market volatility (including developments and volatility arising from
the COVID-19 pandemic), including interest rates and the effect on the credit markets and access to capital; risks associated with the creditworthiness,
budget cuts, and shutdown of governments and agencies; the impact of changes in tax policy and heightened scrutiny from various taxing authorities
globally; uncertainty from the expected discontinuance of LIBOR and transition to any other interest rate benchmark; changes to laws and regulations; and
other risks and uncertainties. The potential fluctuations in our operating income could cause period-to-period comparisons of operating results not to be
meaningful and could provide an unreliable indication of future operating results. A description of the risk factors associated with our business is included
under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, estimates and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in, or
implied by, the forward-looking statements, and are currently, or in the future could be, amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic. Factors that might cause
such a difference include, but are not limited to, those listed above or described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinion only as of the date on which they were
made. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date hereof, and forward-looking statements in documents
attached that are incorporated by reference speak only as of the date of those documents. Except as required by law, we disclaim any obligation to review or
update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances as they occur.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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Gartner, Inc. (NYSE: IT) delivers actionable, objective insight to executives and their teams. Our expert guidance and tools enable faster, smarter decisions
and stronger performance on an organization’s mission critical priorities.

We are a trusted advisor and an objective resource for more than 15,000 enterprises in approximately 100 countries and territories — across all major
functions, in every industry and enterprise size.

Gartner delivers its products and services globally through three business segments — Research, Conferences and Consulting, as described below.

*  Research equips executives and their teams from every function and across all industries with actionable, objective insight, guidance and tools. Our
experienced experts deliver all this value informed by a combination of practitioner-sourced and data-driven research to help our clients address their
mission critical priorities.

*  Conferences provides executives and teams across an organization the opportunity to learn, share and network. From our Gartner Symposium/Xpo
series, to industry-leading conferences focused on specific business roles and topics, to peer-driven sessions, our offerings enable attendees to
experience the best of Gartner insight and guidance.

* Consulting serves senior executives leading technology-driven strategic initiatives leveraging the power of Gartner’s actionable, objective insight.
Through custom analysis and on-the-ground support we enable optimized technology investments and stronger performance on our clients’ mission
critical priorities.

COVID-19 Impact

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily closed Gartner offices around the world and implemented significant travel restrictions. Although
we have reopened most offices and have plans to reopen substantially all remaining offices in early 2022, health and safety permitting, reopening is subject
to many factors outside of our control. The vast majority of our employees transitioned to working from home. In early 2022, we began to operate under a
hybrid virtual-first working environment, meaning that most of our employees will have the option to work remotely at least some of the time, for the
foreseeable future. As a result, in the fourth quarter of 2021 we evaluated our real estate footprint globally, and determined that certain of our leased
locations are no longer necessary for our operations. This evaluation resulted in the impairment of right-of-use assets and other long-lived assets, net of a
reduction in lease liabilities, of $49.5 million related to certain office locations we no longer intend to use. We expect to continue to evaluate our real estate
footprint globally. If we determine there is any additional excess property, there is no assurance that we will be able to sublease any such excess properties
or that we will not incur costs in connection with such exit activities, which may be material. As of the date of this filing, we do not believe our work from
home protocol has affected our internal controls over financial reporting.

Of the three business segments in which we operate, Research and Consulting have returned to growth levels that were in line with our growth prior to the
pandemic. However, Conferences continues to be negatively impacted. We cancelled in-person conferences scheduled for 2020 beginning in late
February/early March 2020 with the remainder being cancelled after the World Health Organization’s declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic later in
March 2020. We began holding virtual conferences during the second half of 2020. We held 39 virtual conferences during the year ended December 31,
2021 and expect to continue to deliver conferences virtually during 2022. These virtual conferences have resulted in significantly less revenue and gross
contribution than in-person conferences, but we believe they aid in client retention and engagement. We are operationally planning to re-launch in-person
destination conferences when conditions permit.

For cancelled conferences, our event cancellation insurance enables us to receive an amount up to expected revenues, plus incurred expenses minus saved
expense. Our event cancellation insurance provides up to $170 million in coverage for 2020 with the right to reinstate that amount one time if those limits
are utilized. The insurer has contested our right to reinstate limits. Gartner also has event cancellation insurance for 2021, covering events that were
planned for 2021 but cancelled, of up to $150 million with the right to reinstate up to that amount one time if the initial limits are inadequate. The insurer
has contested all coverage for events planned for 2021 but cancelled due to COVID-19. We are in litigation with the insurer on these issues. In 2021, we
received $166.9 million of proceeds related to 2020 insurance claims, and recorded a gain of $152.3 million. The timing of receiving the remaining
proceeds from 2020 and 2021 insurance claims is uncertain so we will not record any insurance claims in excess of expenses incurred related to the
remaining claims until the receipt of the insurance proceeds is deemed to be realizable. Our insurance coverage for 2022 (and likely beyond) excludes
cancellation due to communicable diseases.
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In response to the pandemic’s impacts to our business, we implemented cost avoidance initiatives in the first half of 2020 including significant limitations
on hiring and third-party spending, reductions to discretionary spending and elimination of non-essential travel and re-prioritization of capital expenditures.
We began to restore certain investments in the business during the second half of 2020 and accelerated these investments in 2021. We expect these
investments to increase in future periods, which may have a negative impact on operating margins.
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BUSINESS MEASUREMENTS

We believe that the following business measurements are important performance indicators for our business segments:
BUSINESS SEGMENT BUSINESS MEASUREMENT

Research Total contract value represents the dollar value attributable to all of our subscription-related contracts. It is
calculated as the annualized value of all contracts in effect at a specific point in time, without regard to the duration
of the contract. Total contract value primarily includes Research deliverables for which revenue is recognized on a
ratable basis, as well as other deliverables (primarily Conferences tickets) for which revenue is recognized when the
deliverable is utilized. Comparing contract value year-over-year not only measures the short-term growth of our
business, but also signals the long-term health of our Research subscription business since it measures revenue that is
highly likely to recur over a multi-year period. Our total contract value consists of Global Technoelogy Sales contract
value, which includes sales to users and providers of technology, and Glebal Business Sales contract value, which

includes sales to all other functional leaders.

Client retention rate represents a measure of client satisfaction and renewed business relationships at a specific
point in time. Client retention is calculated on a percentage basis by dividing our current clients, who were also
clients a year ago, by all clients from a year ago. Client retention is calculated at an enterprise level, which represents

a single company or customer.

Wallet retention rate represents a measure of the amount of contract value we have retained with clients over a
twelve-month period. Wallet retention is calculated on a percentage basis by dividing the contract value of our current
clients, who were also clients a year ago, by the total contract value from a year ago, excluding the impact of foreign
currency exchange. When wallet retention exceeds client retention, it is an indication of retention of higher-spending
clients, or increased spending by retained clients, or both. Wallet retention is calculated at an enterprise level, which

represents a single company or customer.

Conferences Number of destination conferences represents the total number of hosted virtual or in-person conferences

completed during the period. Single day, local meetings are excluded.

Number of destination conferences attendees represents the total number of people who attend virtual or in-person

conferences. Single day, local meetings are excluded.

Consulting Consulting backlog represents future revenue to be derived from in-process consulting and measurement

engagements.

Utilization rate represents a measure of productivity of our consultants. Utilization rates are calculated for billable
headcount on a percentage basis by dividing total hours billed by total hours available to bill.

Billing rate represents earned billable revenue divided by total billable hours.

Average annualized revenue per billable headcount represents a measure of the revenue generating ability of an
average billable consultant and is calculated periodically by multiplying the average billing rate per hour times the

utilization percentage times the billable hours available for one year.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

We have executed a strategy since 2005 to drive revenue and earnings growth. The fundamentals of our strategy include a focus on creating actionable,
objective insight for executive leaders and their teams, delivering innovative and highly differentiated product offerings, building a strong sales capability,
providing world class client service with a focus on client engagement and retention, and continuously improving our operational effectiveness.

We had total revenues of $4.7 billion in 2021, an increase of 15% compared to 2020 on a reported basis and 14% excluding the foreign currency impact.
Net income increased to $793.6 million in 2021 from $266.7 million in 2020 and, as a result, diluted earnings per share was $9.21 in 2021 compared to
$2.96 in 2020.

Research revenues increased to $4.1 billion in 2021, an increase of 14% compared to 2020 on a reported basis and 12.0% excluding the foreign currency
impact. The Research gross contribution margin was 74% and 72% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Total contract value was $4.2 billion at December 31,
2021, an increase of 16% compared to December 31, 2020 on a foreign currency neutral basis.

Conferences revenues increased to $214.4 million in 2021, an increase of 78% compared to 2020 both on a reported basis and excluding the foreign
currency impact. The Conferences gross contribution margin was 62% and 48% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. We held 39 virtual conferences in 2021,
and 5 in-person and 15 virtual conferences in 2020.

Consulting revenues increased to $418.1 million in 2021, an increase of 11% compared to 2020 on a reported basis and 9% excluding the foreign currency
impact. The Consulting gross contribution margin was 38% and 31% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Backlog was $116.7 million at December 31, 2021.

Cash provided by operating activities was $1.3 billion and $903.3 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had $756.5
million of cash and cash equivalents and approximately $1.0 billion of available borrowing capacity on our revolving credit facility. During 2021, we
repurchased 7.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $1.7 billion.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires the application of appropriate accounting policies and the use of estimates. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Management considers the policies discussed below to be critical to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements because their application
requires complex and subjective management judgments and estimates. Specific risks for these critical accounting policies are also described below.

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions about future events. We develop our estimates
using both current and historical experience, as well as other factors, including the general economic environment and actions we may take in the future.
We adjust such estimates when facts and circumstances dictate. However, our estimates may involve significant uncertainties and judgments and cannot be
determined with precision. In addition, these estimates are based on our best judgment at a point in time and, as such, they may ultimately differ materially
from actual results. Ongoing changes in our estimates could be material and would be reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements in
future periods.

Our critical accounting policies and estimates are described below.
Revenue recognition — Our revenue by significant source is accounted for as follows:

*  Research revenues are mainly derived from subscription contracts for research products. The related revenues are deferred and recognized ratably over
the applicable contract term. Fees derived from assisting organizations in selecting the right business software for their needs are recognized when the
leads are provided to vendors.

»  Conferences revenues are deferred and recognized upon the completion of the related conference or meeting.

*  Consulting revenues are principally generated from fixed fee or time and materials engagements. Revenues from fixed fee contracts are recognized as
we work to satisfy our performance obligations. Revenues from time and materials engagements are recognized as work is delivered and/or services
are provided. Revenues related to contract optimization engagements are contingent in nature and are only recognized upon satisfaction of all
conditions related to their payment.
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The majority of our Research contracts are billable upon signing, absent special terms granted on a limited basis from time to time. Research contracts are
generally non-cancelable and non-refundable, except for government contracts that may have cancellation or fiscal funding clauses. It is our policy to
record the amount of a subscription contract that is billable as a fee receivable at the time the contract is signed with a corresponding amount as deferred
revenue because the contract represents a legally enforceable claim.

Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies and Note 9 — Revenue and Related Matters in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
provide additional information regarding our revenues.

Accounting for income taxes — The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. We estimate our income taxes in each
of the jurisdictions where the Company operates. This process involves estimating our current tax expense or benefit together with assessing temporary
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which
are included in our consolidated balance sheets. When assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider if it is more likely than not that some or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In making this assessment, we consider the availability of loss carryforwards, projected reversals of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. The Company recognizes the tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained based on the technical merits of the position.
Recognized tax positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit with greater than a 50% likelihood of being realized. The Company uses estimates
in determining the amount of unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating tax law and
measuring the benefits likely to be realized. Uncertain tax positions are periodically re-evaluated and adjusted as more information about their ultimate
realization becomes available.

Accounting for stock-based compensation — The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topics 505
and 718 and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletins No. 107 and No. 110. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense, which is based on the fair
value of the award on the date of grant, over the related service period. Note 10 — Stock-Based Compensation in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information regarding stock-based compensation. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair
value of stock-based compensation awards requires the use of certain subjective assumptions, including the expected life of a stock-based compensation
award and the Company’s common stock price volatility. In addition, determining the appropriate periodic stock-based compensation expense requires
management to estimate the likelihood of the achievement of certain performance targets. The assumptions used in calculating the fair values of stock-
based compensation awards and the related periodic expense represent management’s best estimates, which involve inherent uncertainties and the
application of judgment. As a result, if circumstances change and the Company deems it necessary in the future to modify the assumptions it made or to use
different assumptions, or if the quantity and nature of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards changes, then the amount of expense may need to
be adjusted and future stock-based compensation expense could be materially different from what has been recorded in the current period.

A change in any of the terms or conditions of stock-based compensation awards is accounted for as a modification of the award. Incremental compensation
cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before its terms are
modified, measured based on the fair value of the awards at the modification date. For vested awards, we recognize incremental compensation cost in the
period the modification occurs. For unvested awards, we recognize any incremental compensation expense at the modification date or ratably over the
requisite remaining service period, as appropriate. If the fair value of the modified award is lower than the fair value of the original award immediately
before modification, the minimum compensation cost we recognize is the cost of the original award.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Results

The table below presents an analysis of selected line items and year-over-year changes in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years indicated

(in thousands).

Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended Increase Increase
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Total revenues $ 4,733,962 $ 4,099,403 $ 634,559 15 %
Costs and expenses:
Cost of services and product development 1,444,093 1,345,024 99,069 7
Selling, general and administrative 2,155,658 2,038,963 116,695 6
Depreciation 102,802 93,925 8,877 9
Amortization of intangibles 109,603 125,059 (15,456) (12)
Acquisition and integration charges 6,055 6,282 (227) 4
Operating income 915,751 490,150 425,601 87
Interest expense, net (116,620) (113,549) 3,071 3
Gain on event cancellation insurance claims 152,310 — 152,310 nm
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (44,814) 44,814 nm
Other income (expense), net 18,429 (5,654) 24,083 >(100)
Less: Provision for income taxes 176,310 59,388 116,922 197
Net income $ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 526,815 197 %

nm = not meaningful

Total revenues for 2021 were $4.7 billion, an increase of $634.6 million compared to 2020, or 15% on a reported basis and 14% excluding the foreign
currency impact. The tables below present (i) revenues by geographic region (based on where the sale is fulfilled) and (ii) revenues by segment for the

years indicated (in thousands).

Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended Increase Increase
Primary Geographic Market December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
United States and Canada 3,048,902 $ 2,637,824 $ 411,078 16 %
Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,130,979 966,273 164,706 17
Other International 554,081 495,306 58,775 12
Total revenues 4,733,962 $ 4,099,403 $ 634,559 15 %
Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended Increase Increase
Segment December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Research 4,101,392 $ 3,602,892 $ 498,500 14 %
Conferences 214,449 120,140 94,309 78
Consulting 418,121 376,371 41,750 11
Total revenues $ 4,733,962 $ 4,099,403 $ 634,559 15 %

Refer to the section of this MD&A below entitled “Segment Results” for a discussion of revenues and results by segment.

Cost of services and product development was $1.4 billion in 2021, an increase of $99.1 million compared to 2020, or 7% on a reported basis and 6%
excluding the foreign currency impact. The increase was primarily due to increased compensation costs, conference expenses and program expenses,
partially offset by reduced travel and entertainment costs. Cost of services and product development as a percent of revenues was 31% and 33% during
2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense was $2.2 billion in 2021, an increase of $116.7 million compared to 2020, or 6% on a reported basis
and 4% excluding the foreign currency impact. The increase in SG&A during the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to the prior fiscal year, was
primarily due to charges associated with the impairment of right-of-use assets and other long-lived assets, net of a reduction in lease liabilities, of $49.5
million related to certain office locations we no longer intend to use. Additionally, conference-related expenses increased due to expenses on cancelled
conferences. SG&A expense also increased due to higher personnel costs in the current year, partially offset by reduced severance costs. There was a slight
decrease in the number of quota-bearing sales associates in Global Technology Sales and an increase in Global Business Sales to 3,072 and 934,
respectively, at December 31, 2021. On a combined basis, the total number of quota-bearing sales associates increased by 2% when compared to
December 31, 2020. SG&A expense as a percent of revenues was 46% and 50% during 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Depreciation increased by 9% during 2021 compared to 2020. This increase was due to additional investments, including new leasehold improvements as
additional office space went into service, and capitalized software.

Amortization of intangibles decreased by 12% during 2021 compared to 2020 due to certain intangible assets that became fully amortized in 2021 and
2020.

Operating income was $915.8 million and $490.2 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in operating income was primarily due to
increased revenue.

Interest expense, net increased by $3.1 million during 2021 compared to 2020. The increase in interest expense, net was primarily due to an increase in
debt, partially offset by a reduction in the amortization of debt issuance costs.

Gain on event cancellation insurance claims of $152.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 reflected proceeds, net of expense recoveries,
related to the 2020 conference cancellation insurance claims.

Loss on extinguishment of debt during the year ended December 31, 2020 was related to the early redemption premium and write-off of deferred financing
fees on our redemption of the 2025 Notes on September 28, 2020.

Other income (expense), net for the years presented herein included the net impact of foreign currency gains and losses from our hedging activities, as well
as sales of certain state tax credits and the recognition of other tax incentives. During 2021 and 2020, Other income (expense), net included a $20.2 million
and a 2.2 million gain on de-designated interest rate swaps, respectively. Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2020 also included
the release of $10.3 million from Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net related to forecasted interest payments that were no longer probable as a
result of the payment under the then outstanding 2016 Credit Agreement term loan and revolving credit facility on June 30, 2020.

Provision for income taxes was $176.3 million and $59.4 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively, with an effective income tax rate of 18.2% for both
2021 and 2020. The Company completed intercompany sales of certain intellectual property in both 2021 and 2020. As a result, the Company recorded net
tax benefits of approximately $54.1 million and $28.3 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively. These benefits represent the value of future tax
deductions for amortization of the assets in the acquiring jurisdiction, net of any tax recognized in the selling jurisdiction. The Company’s intellectual
property footprint continues to evolve and may result in tax rate volatility in the future. Note 12 — Income Taxes in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s income taxes.

Net income was $793.6 million and $266.7 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively. Additionally, our diluted net income per share increased by $6.25
in 2021 compared to 2020. These year-over-year changes reflect: (i) the increase in our 2021 operating income; (ii) the gain on event cancellation insurance
claims; (iii) the prior year loss on extinguishment of debt; and (iv) higher Other income (expense), net, partially offset by increased income tax expense due
to higher pre-tax income in 2021 compared to 2020.

SEGMENT RESULTS

We evaluate reportable segment performance and allocate resources based on gross contribution margin. Gross contribution is defined as operating income
or loss excluding certain Cost of services and product development expenses, SG&A expenses, Depreciation, Amortization of intangibles, and Acquisition

and integration charges. Gross contribution margin is defined as gross contribution as a percent of revenues.

Reportable Segments
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The sections below present the results of the Company’s three reportable business segments: Research, Conferences and Consulting.

Research

As Of And For The As Of And For The Percentage

Year Ended December Year Ended December Increase Increase
31, 2021 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Financial Measurements:
Revenues (1) $ 4,101,392 $ 3,602,892 $ 498,500 14 %
Gross contribution (1) $ 3,036,925 $ 2,597,852 $ 439,073 17 %
Gross contribution margin 74 % 72 % 2 points —
Business Measurements:
Global Technology Sales (2):
Contract value (1), (3) $ 3,373,000 $ 2,957,000 $ 416,000 14 %
Client retention 86 % 83 % 3 points —
Wallet retention 106 % 98 % 8 points —
Global Business Sales (2):
Contract value (1), (3) $ 874,000 $ 706,000 $ 168,000 24 %
Client retention 87 % 83 % 4 points —
Wallet retention 115 % 101 % 14 points —

(1) Dollars in thousands.

(2) Global Technology Sales includes sales to users and providers of technology. Global Business Sales includes sales to all other functional leaders.

(3) Contract values are on a foreign exchange neutral basis. Contract values as of December 31, 2020 have been calculated using the same foreign
currency rates as 2021.

Research revenues increased by $498.5 million during 2021 compared to 2020, or 14% on a reported basis and 12% excluding the foreign currency impact.
The gross contribution margin was 74% in 2021 compared to 72% in 2020. The increase in revenues during 2021 was primarily due to the same factors
driving the trend in our Research contract value, which are discussed below. The improvement in margin was primarily due to the growth in revenue.

Total contract value increased to $4.2 billion at December 31, 2021, or 16% compared to December 31, 2020 on a foreign currency neutral basis. Total
contract value growth was led by the manufacturing, services, and technology sectors. Global Technology Sales (“GTS”) contract value increased by 14%
at December 31, 2021 when compared to December 31, 2020. The increase in GTS contract value was primarily due to new business from new and
existing clients, as well as improved client retention. GTS contract value increased by double-digits for all enterprise sizes and over half of all sectors.
Global Business Sales (“GBS”) contract value increased by 24% year-over-year, also primarily driven by new business from new and existing clients, and
improved client retention. All of our GBS practices achieved double-digit growth rates, with the majority growing more than 20% year-over-year.

GTS client retention was 86% and 83% as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, while wallet retention was 106% and 98%, respectively. GBS
client retention was 87% and 83% as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, while wallet retention was 115% and 101% as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively. The number of GTS client enterprises and GBS client enterprises increased by 9% and 5%, respectively, at December 31, 2021
when compared to December 31, 2020.
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Conferences

As Of And For The As Of And For The Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended Increase Increase
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Financial Measurements:
Revenues (1) $ 214,449 $ 120,140 $ 94,309 78 %
Gross contribution (1) $ 133,748 $ 57,302 $ 76,446 133 %
Gross contribution margin 62 % 48 % 14 points —
Business Measurements:
Number of destination conferences (2) 39 20 19 95 %
Number of destination conferences attendees (2) 57,145 42,273 14,872 35 %

(1) Dollars in thousands.
(2) Includes both virtual and in-person conferences. Single day, local meetings are excluded.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we cancelled all in-person conferences from March 2020 through December 2021, and pivoted to producing
virtual conferences with a focus on maximizing the value we deliver to our clients. We held 39 virtual conferences during the year ended December 31,
2021. During 2020, we successfully held 5 in-person conferences prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and 15 virtual conferences during the second half of the
year. We expect to continue to deliver conferences virtually during 2022, but are operationally planning to re-launch in-person destination conferences
when conditions permit. Conferences revenues increased by $94.3 million during 2021 compared to 2020, or 78%, on both a reported basis and excluding
the foreign currency impact. The increase in revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 was due to the virtual conferences held during the period, as
well as the use of ticket entitlements which we extended from 2020 due to the pandemic. The segment gross contribution margin was 62% and 48% in
2021 and 2020, respectively. The higher gross contribution margin during 2021 was primarily due to increased revenues.

Consulting
As Of And For The As Of And For The Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended Increase Increase
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Financial Measurements:
Revenues (1) $ 418,121 $ 376,371 $ 41,750 11 %
Gross contribution (1) $ 158,843 $ 115,744 $ 43,099 37 %
Gross contribution margin 38 % 31 % 7 points —
Business Measurements:
Backlog (1), (2) $ 116,700 $ 103,300 $ 13,400 13 %
Average billable headcount 749 768 (19) )%
Consultant utilization 68 % 61 % 7 points —
Average annualized revenue per billable headcount (1) $ 429 $ 368 $ 61 17 %

(1) Dollars in thousands.
(2) Backlog is on a foreign currency neutral basis. Backlog as of December 31, 2020 has been calculated using the same foreign currency rates as 2021.

Consulting revenues increased 11% during 2021 compared to 2020 on a reported basis and 9% excluding the foreign currency impact. The increase in
revenues on a reported basis was due to a 13% increase in labor-based consulting, and a 4% increase in contract optimization. Contract optimization
revenue may vary significantly and, as such, 2021 revenues may not be indicative of future results. The segment gross contribution margin was 38% and

31% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in gross contribution margin during 2021 was primarily due to the increase in revenue.

Backlog increased by $13.4 million, or 13%, from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We finance our operations through cash generated from our operating activities and borrowings. Note 6 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s outstanding debt obligations. At December 31, 2021, we had $756.5 million of cash
and cash equivalents and approximately $1.0 billion of available borrowing capacity on the revolving credit facility under our 2020 Credit Agreement. We
believe that the Company has adequate liquidity and access to capital markets to meet its currently anticipated needs for both the next twelve months and
the foreseeable future.

We have historically generated significant cash flows from our operating activities. Our operating cash flow has been continuously maintained by the
leverage characteristics of our subscription-based business model in our Research segment, which is our largest business segment and historically has
constituted a significant portion of our total revenues. The majority of our Research customer contracts are paid in advance and, combined with a strong
customer retention rate and high incremental margins, has resulted in continuously strong operating cash flow. Cash flow generation has also benefited
from our ongoing efforts to improve the operating efficiencies of our businesses as well as a focus on the optimal management of our working capital as we
increase sales.

Our cash and cash equivalents are held in numerous locations throughout the world with 31% held overseas at December 31, 2021. The Company intends
to reinvest substantially all of its accumulated undistributed foreign earnings, except in instances where repatriation would result in minimal additional tax.
As aresult of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, we believe that the income tax impact if such earnings were repatriated would be minimal.

The table below summarizes the changes in the Company’s cash balances for the years indicated (in thousands).
Year Ended December 31,

Increase
2021 2020 (Decrease)
Cash provided by operating activities $ 1,312,470 $ 903,278 $ 409,192
Cash used in investing activities (80,467) (83,888) 3,421
Cash used in financing activities (1,157,609) (416,224) (741,385)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 74,394 403,166 (328,772)
Effects of exchange rates (26,375) 28,581 (54,956)
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 712,583 280,836 431,747
Ending cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 760,602  $ 712,583 $ 48,019

Operating

Cash provided by operating activities was $1,312.5 million and $903.3 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The year-over-year increase was primarily
due to higher pre-tax income in the 2021 period, in part due to a $152.3 million gain on event cancellation insurance claims, and an increase in deferred
revenues resulting from increased bookings in Research, partially offset by higher income tax payments and deferred commissions.

Investing

Cash used in investing activities was $80.5 million and $83.9 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The cash used in 2021 was for capital expenditures
and the acquisition of Pulse Q&A Inc. The slight decrease from 2020 to 2021 was the result of reduced capital spending in response to the COVID-19
pandemic, partially offset by the 2021 acquisition of Pulse Q&A Inc.

Financing

Cash used in financing activities was $1.2 billion and $416.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. During the 2021 period, we issued $600.0 million of
3.625% Senior Notes due 2029, and repaid $100.0 million on our term loan facility under the 2020 Credit Agreement with a portion of the proceeds from
the issuance of the 2029 Notes. During 2021, we used $1.7 billion of cash for share repurchases. During 2020, the Company repaid a net $148.0 million on
our revolving credit facility under the 2016 Credit Agreement, paid a net $58.5 million in debt principal repayments, borrowed $5.0 million under the 2020
Credit Agreement and used $176.3 million for share repurchases. Additionally, we paid $25.8 million in deferred financing fees related to our financing
activities and $30.8 million in early redemption premium payments related to the repayment of our
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2025 Notes. See Note 6 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s financing
activities in 2021 and 2020.

OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

Debt

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $2.5 billion of principal amount of debt outstanding. Note 6 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s outstanding debt obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Through December 31, 2021, the Company has not entered into any material off-balance sheet arrangements or transactions with unconsolidated entities or
other persons.

Contractual Cash Commitments

The table below summarizes the Company’s future contractual cash commitments as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands).

Due In Less Due In More
Than Due In 2-3 Due In 4-5 Than
Commitment Description 1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
Debt — principal, interest, and commitment fees (1) $ 124,651 $ 247417 $ 461,956 $ 2,450,696 $ 3,284,720
Operating leases (2) 146,114 272,298 228,855 417,750 1,065,017
Deferred compensation arrangements (3) 9,298 14,118 10,653 76,792 110,861
Other (4) 38,542 56,342 37,896 31,272 164,052
Totals $ 318,605 $ 590,175 $ 739,360 $ 2,976,510 $ 4,624,650

M

@
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Principal repayments of the Company’s debt obligations were classified in the above table based on the contractual repayment dates. Interest payments
were based on the effective interest rates as of December 31, 2021, including the effects of the Company’s interest rate swap contracts. Commitment
fees were based on unused balances and commitment rates as of December 31, 2021. Note 6 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides information regarding the Company’s debt obligations and interest rate swap contracts.

The Company leases various facilities, automobiles, computer equipment and other assets under non-cancelable operating lease agreements expiring
between 2022 and 2038. The total commitment excludes approximately $292.7 million of estimated future cash receipts from the Company’s
subleasing arrangements. Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies and Note 7 — Leases in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provide additional information regarding the Company’s leases.

The Company has supplemental deferred compensation arrangements with certain of its employees. Amounts payable with known payment dates have
been classified in the above table based on those scheduled payment dates. Amounts payable whose payment dates are unknown have been included in
the Due In More Than 5 Years category because the Company cannot determine when the amounts will be paid. Note 15 — Employee Benefits in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s supplemental deferred compensation
arrangements.

Other includes: (i) contractual commitments (a) for software, telecom and other services and (b) to secure sites for our Conferences business (c)
deferred consideration held in escrow in connection with business acquisitions (see Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies and Note 2
— Acquisitions in in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements); and (ii) projected cash contributions to the Company’s defined benefit pension
plans. Note 15 — Employee Benefits in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s
defined benefit pension plans.

In addition to the contractual cash commitments included in the above table, the Company has other payables and liabilities that may be legally enforceable
but are not considered contractual commitments. Information regarding the Company’s payables and liabilities is included in Note 5 — Accounts Payable
and Accrued and Other Liabilities in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The FASB has issued accounting standards that had not yet become effective as of December 31, 2021 and may impact the Company’s consolidated
financial statements or its disclosures in future periods. Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides information regarding those accounting standards.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
INTEREST RATE RISK

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $2.5 billion in total debt principal outstanding. Note 6 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements provides additional information regarding the Company’s outstanding debt obligations.

Approximately $0.3 billion of the Company’s total debt outstanding as of December 31, 2021 was based on a floating base rate of interest, which
potentially exposes the Company to increases in interest rates. However, we reduce our overall exposure to interest rate increases through our interest rate
swap contracts, which effectively convert the floating base interest rates on all of our variable rate borrowings to fixed rates.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

A significant portion of our revenues are typically derived from sales outside of the United States. Among the major foreign currencies in which we
conduct business are the Euro, the British Pound, the Japanese Yen, the Australian dollar and the Canadian dollar. The reporting currency of our
Consolidated Financial Statements is the U.S. dollar. As the values of the foreign currencies in which we operate fluctuate over time relative to the U.S.
dollar, the Company is exposed to both foreign currency translation and transaction risk.

Translation risk arises as our foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars because the functional currencies of our foreign
operations are generally denominated in the local currency. Adjustments resulting from the translation of these assets and liabilities are deferred and
recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity. A measure of the potential impact of foreign currency translation can be determined through a sensitivity
analysis of our cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2021, we had $756.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, with a substantial portion
denominated in foreign currencies. If the exchange rates of the foreign currencies we hold all changed in comparison to the U.S. dollar by 10%, the amount
of cash and cash equivalents we would have reported on December 31, 2021 could have increased or decreased by approximately $45.0 million. The
translation of our foreign currency revenues and expenses historically has not had a material impact on our consolidated earnings because movements in
and among the major currencies in which we operate tend to impact our revenues and expenses fairly equally. However, our earnings could be impacted
during periods of significant exchange rate volatility, or when some or all of the major currencies in which we operate move in the same direction against
the U.S. dollar.

Transaction risk arises when we enter into a transaction that is denominated in a currency that may differ from the local functional currency. As these
transactions are translated into the local functional currency, a gain or loss may result, which is recorded in current period earnings. We typically enter into
foreign currency forward exchange contracts to mitigate the effects of some of this foreign currency transaction risk. Our outstanding foreign currency
forward exchange contracts as of December 31, 2021 had an immaterial net unrealized loss.

CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of short-term, highly liquid investments
classified as cash equivalents, fees receivable, interest rate swap contracts and foreign currency forward exchange contracts. The majority of the
Company’s cash and cash equivalents, interest rate swap contracts and foreign currency forward exchange contracts are with large investment grade
commercial banks. Fees receivable balances deemed to be collectible from customers have limited concentration of credit risk due to our diverse customer
base and geographic dispersion.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Our financial statements for 2021, 2020 and 2019, together with the reports of KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, are included
herein in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

31



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management conducted an evaluation, as of December 31, 2021, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), under the
supervision and with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer. Based upon that evaluation, our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in alerting them in a timely manner to material
Company information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed under the Exchange Act.

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Gartner management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Gartner’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions and that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management’s assessment was reviewed with the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Based on its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, Gartner’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective. The effectiveness of management’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been
audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
in Part IV, Item 15.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not applicable.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

32



PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is incorporated by reference from the information set forth under the captions “The Board of
Directors,” “Proposal One: Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Corporate Governance,” “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” (if necessary) and
“Proxy and Voting Information — Available Information” in the Company’s 2022 Proxy Statement. See also Item 1. Business — Available Information.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is incorporated by reference from the information set forth under the captions
“Compensation Discussion & Analysis,” “Compensation Tables and Narrative Disclosures,” “The Board of Directors - Compensation of Directors,” “The
Board of Directors - Director Compensation Table,” “Corporate Governance - Risk Oversight - Risk Assessment of Compensation Policies and Practices,”
and “Corporate Governance - Compensation Committee” in the Company’s 2022 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is incorporated by reference from the information set forth under the captions
“Compensation Tables and Narrative Disclosures — Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the Company’s 2022 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is incorporated by reference from the information set forth under the captions “Transactions
With Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” in the Company’s 2022 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is incorporated by reference from the information set forth under the caption “Proposal
Three: Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Company’s 2022 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) 1. and 2. Financial Statements and Schedules

The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm and financial statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements herein
are filed as part of this report.

All financial statement schedules not listed in the Index have been omitted because the information required is not applicable or is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

EXHIBIT NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

3.1(1), Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.

3.2(2). By-laws of Gartner, Inc. (as amended through April 29, 2021).

4.1(3), Indenture (including form of Notes), dated as of June 22, 2020, among Gartner, Inc., the guarantors named therein and U.S.
ZBSS%IS( National Association, as a trustee, relating to the $800,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.500% Senior Notes due

4.2(4), Indenture (including form of Notes), dated as of September 28, 2020, among Gartner, Inc., the guarantors named therein and

U.S. Bank National Association, as a trustee, relating to the $800,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Senior
Notes due 2030.

4.3(4), Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2020, among Gartner, Inc., the Lenders party thereto
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent.

4.4(4), Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2020, among Gartner, Inc. each
subsidiary guarantor party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

4.5(5), Indenture (including form of Notes), dated as of June 18, 2021, among Gartner, Inc., the guarantors named therein and U.S.
ZBSSEI; National Association, as a trustee, relating to the $600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.625% Senior Notes due

4.6* Description of Gartner, Inc.’s Common Stock.

10.1(6)+ 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated, as of September 1, 2021.

10.2(D)+ Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 31, 2019.

10.3(7)+ g(e)ignd Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Eugene A. Hall and the Company dated as of February 14,

10.4(2)+ Amendment to Employment Agreement between Eugene A. Hall and the Company dated as of April 29, 2021.

10.5(8)+ Company Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2009.

10.6(7)+ Form of 2019 Stock Appreciation Right Agreement for executive officers.

10.7(D)+ Form of 2019 Performance Stock Unit Agreement for executive officers.

10.8(9)+ Form of 2020 Stock Appreciation Right Agreement for executive officers.

10.9(9)+ Form of 2020 Performance Stock Unit Agreement for executive officers.

10.10(10)+ Form of 2021 Stock Appreciation Right Agreement for executive officers.

10.11(10)+ Form of 2021 Performance Stock Unit Agreement for executive officers.

10.12+%* Form of 2022 Stock Appreciation Right Agreement for executive officers.

10.13+* Form of 2022 Performance Stock Unit Agreement for executive officers.

10.14(11)+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for non-employee directors.

10.15(9)+ Enhanced Executive Rewards Policy.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000095012305008192/y10586exv3w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000119312520025380/d856570dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000119312520176014/d920501dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000119312520256749/d75343dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000119312520256749/d75343dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000119312520256749/d75343dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000119312521195111/d192521dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000119312521121269/d122411ddef14a.htm#toc122411_59
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925119000005/a2014longtermincentiveplan.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925119000005/amendedemploymentagreement.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000749251/000074925121000020/employmentagreementamendme.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000095012309003157/y74719exv10w15.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925119000005/formofsaragreement2019.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925119000005/formofpsuagreement2019.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925120000008/formofsaragreement2020.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925120000008/formofpsuagreement2020.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925121000010/formofsaragreement2021ex10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925121000010/formofpsuagreement2021ex10.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925118000013/a2016gartner_directorrsuag.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/749251/000074925120000008/enhancedexecutiverewar.htm

21.1%* Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1* Power of Attorney (see Signature Page).

31.1°%* Certification of chief executive officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2% Certification of chief financial officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32* Certification under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File, formatted in Inline XBRL (included as Exhibit 101).

* Filed with this document.

+ Management compensation plan or arrangement.

(1)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2005.

(2)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 5, 2021.

(3)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23, 2020.

(4)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2020.
(5)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2021.

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) filed on April 19, 2021.
(7)  Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 22, 2019.
(8) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2009.
(9) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 19, 2020.
(10) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 24, 2021.
(11) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 1, 2018.
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All financial statement schedules have been omitted because the information required is not applicable or is shown in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Gartner, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gartner, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Unrecognized tax benefits

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it
believes such position is more likely than not of being sustained if challenged. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has recorded gross
unrecognized tax benefits of $150.0 million. Recognized tax positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit with greater than a 50 percent
likelihood of being realized. The Company uses estimates and assumptions in determining the amount of unrecognized tax benefits.

We identified the assessment of unrecognized tax benefits related to transfer pricing as a critical audit matter. Complex auditor judgment was
required in evaluating the Company’s interpretation of tax law and its estimate of the ultimate resolution of its tax positions.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits process, including transfer pricing. We involved tax and
transfer pricing professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in assessing unrecognized tax benefits by:

« evaluating the Company’s interpretation of tax laws and income tax consequences of intercompany transactions

« assessing transfer pricing practices for compliance with relevant tax laws and regulations

+ analyzing the Company’s tax positions and determination of unrecognized tax benefits, including the associated effect in other jurisdictions

In addition, we evaluated the Company’s ability to estimate its unrecognized tax benefits by comparing historical unrecognized tax benefits to actual
results upon conclusion of examinations by applicable taxing authorities.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1996.

New York, New York
February 23, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Gartner, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Gartner, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s KPMG LLP

New York, New York
February 23, 2022
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GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Fees receivable, net of allowances of $6,500 and $10,000, respectively
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of deferred financing fees
Operating lease liabilities
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock:
$0.01 par value, authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued or outstanding
Common stock:
$0.0005 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 163,602,067 shares issued for both periods
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net
Accumulated earnings
Treasury stock, at cost, 81,205,504 and 74,759,985 common shares, respectively
Total Stockholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

2021 2020
$ 756,493 $ 712,583
1,365,180 1,241,508
380,569 259,755
117,838 109,212
2,620,080 2,323,058
273,562 336,765
548,258 647,283
2,951,317 2,945,547
714,418 806,998
308,689 256,316
$ 7416324 $ 7,315,967
$ 1,134,814 $ 952,431
2,238,035 1,974,548
5,931 20,515
3,378,780 2,947,494
2,456,833 1,958,286
697,766 780,166
511,887 539,593
7,045,266 6,225,539
82 82
2,074,896 1,968,930
(81,431) (99,228)
3,049,027 2,255,467
(4,671,516) (3,034,823)
371,058 1,090,428
$ 7416324 $  7,315967




GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenues:

Research $ 4,101,392 $ 3,602,892 $ 3,374,548

Conferences 214,449 120,140 476,869

Consulting 418,121 376,371 393,904
Total revenues 4,733,962 4,099,403 4,245,321
Costs and expenses:

Cost of services and product development 1,444,093 1,345,024 1,550,568

Selling, general and administrative 2,155,658 2,038,963 2,103,424

Depreciation 102,802 93,925 82,066

Amortization of intangibles 109,603 125,059 129,713

Acquisition and integration charges 6,055 6,282 9,463
Total costs and expenses 3,818,211 3,609,253 3,875,234
Operating income 915,751 490,150 370,087

Interest income 1,893 2,087 3,026

Interest expense (118,513) (115,636) (102,831)

Gain on event cancellation insurance claims 152,310 — —

Loss from divested operations — — (2,075)

Loss on extinguishment of debt — (44,814) —

Other income (expense), net 18,429 (5,654) 7,532
Income before income taxes 969,870 326,133 275,739

Provision for income taxes 176,310 59,388 42,449
Net income $ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 233,290
Net income per share:

Basic $ 933 $ 299 $ 2.60

Diluted $ 921 $ 296 $ 2.56
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 85,026 89,315 89,817

Diluted 86,177 90,017 90,971

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(IN THOUSANDS)
Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net income $ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 233,290
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (6,621) 10,375 4,169

Interest rate swaps - net change in deferred gain or loss 21,781 (30,940) (39,394)

Pension plans - net change in deferred actuarial gain or loss 2,637 (725) (2,846)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 17,797 (21,290) (38,071)
Comprehensive income $ 811,357 $ 245455 $ 195,219

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(IN THOUSANDS)

Balance at December 31, 2018

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Issuances under stock plans
Common share repurchases
Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 2019

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Issuances under stock plans
Common share repurchases
Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 2020

Net income

Other comprehensive income
Issuances under stock plans
Common share repurchases
Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 2021

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Treasury Stockholders’
Capital Loss, Net Earnings Stock Equity
82 $ 1,823,710 (39,867) $ 1,755,432 (2,688,600) $ 850,757
— — — 233,290 — 233,290
— — (38,071) — — (38,071)
— 6,555 — — 11,094 17,649
— — — — (194,040) (194,040)
— 69,008 — — — 69,008
82 1,899,273 (77,938) 1,988,722 (2,871,546) 938,593
— — — 266,745 — 266,745
— — (21,290) — — (21,290)
— 7,117 — — 11,026 18,143
— — — — (174,303) (174,303)
— 62,540 — — — 62,540
82 1,968,930 (99,228) 2,255,467 (3,034,823) 1,090,428
— — — 793,560 — 793,560
— — 17,797 — — 17,797
— 7,396 — — 10,854 18,250
— — — - (1,647,547) (1,647,547)
— 98,570 — — — 98,570
82 $ 2,074,896 (81,431) $ 3,049,027 (4,671,516) $ 371,058




GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred taxes
Loss from divested operations
Loss on impairment of lease related assets, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Gain on sale of an equity security
Reduction in the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use assets
Amortization and write-off of deferred financing fees
Amortization of deferred swap losses from de-designation
Gain on de-designated swaps
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and divestitures:
Fees receivable, net
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Deferred revenues
Accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities
Cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to property, equipment and leasehold improvements
Acquisitions - cash paid (net of cash acquired)
Other
Proceeds from the sale of an equity security
Cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Proceeds from borrowings
Early redemption premium payment
Payments for deferred financing fees
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Payments on revolving credit facility
Payments on borrowings
Purchases of treasury stock
Cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest
Income taxes, net of refunds received

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

$ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 233,290
212,405 218,984 211,779
98,570 62,540 69,008
(41,567) (53,190) (55,787)
— — 2,075
49,537 — —
= 44,814 -
— — (9,120)
75,125 81,851 86,466
4,162 8,424 6,497
— 10,320 —
(20,204) (2,157) —
(145,346) 99,409 (66,729)
(124,874) 8,656 (30,315)
(15,913) 37,895 18,985
(18,287) (8,950) (27,303)
324,059 15,998 181,203
121,243 111,939 (54,613)
1,312,470 903,278 565,436
(59,834) (83,888) (149,016)
(22,939) — (25,989)
2,306 — —
— — 14,120
(80,467) (83,888) (160,885)
18,173 18,085 17,629
600,000 2,000,000 5,000
— (30,752) —
(7,320) (25,786) —
— 332,000 309,000
(5,000) (475,000) (316,000)
(107,915) (2,058,469) (102,579)
(1,655,547) (176,302) (199,042)
(1,157,609) (416,224) (285,992)
74,394 403,166 118,559
(26,375) 28,581 3,614
712,583 280,836 158,663
$ 760,602 $ 712,583 $ 280,836
$ 101,885 $ 112,249 $ 102,298
$ 253,379 $ 33,921 $ 119,156



GARTNER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Business. Gartner, Inc. (NYSE: IT) delivers actionable, objective insight to executives and their teams. Our expert guidance and tools enable faster, smarter
decisions and stronger performance on an organization’s mission critical priorities.

We are a trusted advisor and an objective resource for more than 15,000 enterprises in approximately 100 countries and territories — across all major
functions, in every industry and enterprise size.

Segments. Gartner delivers its products and services globally through three business segments: Research, Conferences and Consulting. Note 9 — Revenue
and Related Matters and Note 16 — Segment Information describe the products and services offered by each of our segments and provide additional
financial information for those segments.

Basis of presentation. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”), for financial information and with the applicable instructions of U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Regulation S-
X.

The fiscal year of Gartner is the twelve-month period from January 1 through December 31. All references to 2021, 2020 and 2019 herein refer to the fiscal
year unless otherwise indicated. When used in these notes, the terms “Gartner,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Gartner, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Principles of consolidation. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of estimates. The preparation of the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions about
future events. These estimates and the underlying assumptions affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported, disclosures about contingent assets and
liabilities, and reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Such estimates include the valuation of fees receivable, goodwill, intangible assets and other
long-lived assets, as well as tax accruals and other liabilities. In addition, estimates are used in revenue recognition, income tax expense or benefit,
performance-based compensation charges, depreciation and amortization. Management believes its use of estimates in the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements to be reasonable.

Management continually evaluates and revises its estimates using historical experience and other factors, including the general economic environment and
actions it may take in the future. Management adjusts these estimates when facts and circumstances dictate. However, these estimates may involve
significant uncertainties and judgments and cannot be determined with precision. In addition, these estimates are based on management’s best judgment at a
point in time. As a result, differences between our estimates and actual results could be material and would be reflected in the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements in future periods.

In December 2019, a novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) was reported in Wuhan, China and on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization
characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. Any future asset impairment charges or restructuring charges could be more likely if the negative effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic continue and will be dependent on the severity and duration of this crisis.

Business acquisitions. The Company accounts for business acquisitions in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting as prescribed by FASB
ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations. The acquisition method of accounting requires the Company to record the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, with certain exceptions. Any excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair
value of the net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, is recorded as goodwill. Under the acquisition method, the operating results of
acquired companies are included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on the date of acquisition. The Company completed
business acquisitions in both 2021 and 2019. Note 2 — Acquisitions provides additional information regarding those business acquisitions.

The determination of the fair values of intangible and other assets acquired in an acquisition requires management judgment and the consideration of a
number of factors, including the historical financial performance of acquired businesses and their projected future performance, and estimates surrounding
customer turnover, as well as assumptions regarding the level of
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competition and the costs necessary to reproduce certain assets. Establishing the useful lives of intangible assets also requires management judgment and
the evaluation of a number of factors, including the expected use of an asset, historical client retention rates, consumer awareness and trade name history, as
well as any contractual provisions that could limit or extend an asset’s useful life.

Charges that are directly related to the Company’s acquisitions are expensed as incurred and classified as Acquisition and integration charges in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Note 2 — Acquisitions provides additional information regarding the Company’s Acquisition and integration
charges.

Revenue recognition. The Company’s revenue by significant source is accounted for as follows:

*  Research revenues are mainly derived from subscription contracts for research products. The related revenues are deferred and recognized ratably over
the applicable contract term. Fees derived from assisting organizations in selecting the right business software for their needs are recognized when the
leads are provided to vendors.

»  Conferences revenues are deferred and recognized upon the completion of the related conference or meeting.

*  Consulting revenues are principally generated from fixed fee or time and materials engagements. Revenues from fixed fee contracts are recognized as
the Company works to satisfy its performance obligations. Revenues from time and materials engagements are recognized as work is delivered and/or
services are provided. Revenues related to contract optimization engagements are contingent in nature and are only recognized upon satisfaction of all
conditions related to their payment.

The majority of the Company’s Research contracts are billable upon signing, absent special terms granted on a limited basis from time to time. Research
contracts are generally non-cancelable and non-refundable, except for government contracts that may have cancellation or fiscal funding clauses. It is the
Company’s policy to record the amount of a subscription contract that is billable as a fee receivable at the time the contract is signed with a corresponding
amount as deferred revenue because the contract represents a legally enforceable claim.

Note 9 — Revenue and Related Matters provides additional information regarding the Company’s business and revenues.

Allowance for losses. On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses. ASU No. 2016-13 amended the
previous financial instrument impairment model by requiring entities to use a forward-looking approach based on expected losses to estimate credit losses
on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. The Company applied the expected credit loss model to its fees receivable balance on
January 1, 2020 using a historical loss rate method. Prior to January 1, 2020, the Company recognized the allowance for losses on bad debts in accordance
with then-existing U.S. GAAP under FASB ASC Topic 310, Receivables.

Cost of services and product development (“COS”). COS expense includes the direct costs incurred in the creation and delivery of the Company’s products
and services. These costs primarily relate to personnel.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”). SG&A expense includes direct and indirect selling costs, general and administrative costs, facility costs and
bad debt expense.

Commission expense. The Company records deferred commissions upon signing a customer contract and amortizes the deferred amount over a period that
aligns with the transfer to the customer of the services to which the commissions relate. Note 9 — Revenue and Related Matters provides additional
information regarding deferred commissions and the amortization of such costs.

Stock-based compensation expense. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topics 505 and 718 and
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletins No. 107 and No. 110. Stock-based compensation expense for equity awards is based on the fair value of the award on the
date of grant. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the period that the related service is performed, which is generally the
same as the vesting period of the underlying award. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur. A change in any of the terms or conditions of stock-based
compensation awards is accounted for as a modification of the award. Incremental compensation cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of
the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before its terms are modified, measured based on the fair value of the awards at
the modification date. For vested awards, the Company recognizes incremental compensation cost in the period the modification occurs. For unvested
awards, the Company recognizes any incremental compensation expense at the modification date or ratably over the requisite remaining service period, as
appropriate. If the fair value of the modified award is lower than the fair value of the original award immediately before
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modification, the minimum compensation cost the Company recognizes is the cost of the original award. Note 10 — Stock-Based Compensation provides
additional information regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation activity.

Other income (expense), net. During 2019, the Company sold a minority equity investment for $14.1 million in cash and recognized a pretax gain of $9.1
million that was recorded in Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Income taxes. The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. The Company estimates its income taxes in each of the
jurisdictions where it operates. This process involves estimating the Company’s current tax expense or benefit together with assessing temporary
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which
are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers if it is more likely than not
that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In making this assessment, the Company considers the availability of loss carryforwards,
projected reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. The Company
recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained based on the technical
merits of the position. Recognized tax positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit with greater than a 50% likelihood of being realized. The
Company uses estimates in determining the amount of unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions. Significant judgment is required in
evaluating tax law and measuring the benefits likely to be realized. Uncertain tax positions are periodically re-evaluated and adjusted as more information
about their ultimate realization becomes available. Note 12 — Income Taxes provides additional information regarding the Company’s income taxes.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, which are considered to be cash equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity
of such instruments. Investments with maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securities. Interest earned is recorded in Interest
income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

U.S. GAAP requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be presented with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts presented on an entity’s statement of cash flows. Below is a table presenting the
beginning-of-period and end-of-period cash amounts from the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and the total cash amounts presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands).

December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 756,493 $ 712,583 $ 280,836 $ 156,368
Restricted cash classified in (1):
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,109 — — 2,295
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash per the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows $ 760602 $ 712,583 $ 280,836 $ 158,663

(1) Restricted cash consists of escrow accounts established in connection with certain of the Company’s business acquisitions. Generally, such cash is
restricted to use due to provisions contained in the underlying stock or asset purchase agreement. The Company will disburse the restricted cash to the
sellers of the businesses upon satisfaction of any contingencies described in such agreements (e.g., potential indemnification claims, etc.).

Leases. ASC 842 requires accounting for leases under a right-of-use model whereby a lessee must record a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability on
its balance sheet for most of its leases. Under ASC 842, leases are classified as either operating or finance arrangements, with such classification affecting
the pattern of expense recognition in an entity’s income statement. For operating leases, ASC 842 requires recognition in an entity’s income statement of a
single lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, generally on a straight-line basis. In the fourth quarter of the year
ended December 31, 2021, as a result and in consideration of the changing nature of the Company’s use of office space for its workforce and the impacts of
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company evaluated its existing real estate lease portfolio. As a result of the evaluation, the Company recognized an
impairment loss of $49.5 million. Note 7 — Leases provides additional information regarding the Company’s leases.
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Property, equipment and leasehold improvements. Equipment, leasehold improvements and other fixed assets owned by the Company are recorded at cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Fixed assets, other than leasehold improvements, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of the underlying asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the improvement or the remaining term of the related lease. Depreciation and amortization expense for fixed assets was $102.8 million, $93.9
million and $82.1 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net are presented in the table below (in
thousands).

Useful Life December 31,

Category (Years) 2021 2020

Computer equipment and software 2-7 $ 304,386 $ 277,973
Furniture and equipment 3-8 97,050 114,622
Leasehold improvements 2-15 253,451 283,773
Total cost 654,887 676,368
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization (381,325) (339,603)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 273,562 $ 336,765

The Company incurs costs to develop internal-use software used in its operations. Certain of those costs that meet the criteria in FASB ASC Topic 350,
Intangibles - Goodwill and Other are capitalized and amortized over future periods. Net capitalized internal-use software development costs were $65.5
million and $58.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are included in Computer equipment and software in the table above.
Amortization expense for capitalized internal-use software development costs, which is included with Depreciation in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, totaled $34.6 million, $28.9 million and $20.0 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair values of the tangible and identifiable
intangible net assets acquired. Evaluations of the recoverability of goodwill are performed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350, which requires an
annual assessment of potential goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of goodwill may not be recoverable.

When performing the annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill, the Company initially performs a qualitative analysis evaluating whether any
events or circumstances occurred or exist that provide evidence that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of the Company’s reporting units is
less than the related carrying amount. If the Company does not believe that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of the Company’s reporting
units is less than the related carrying amount, then no quantitative impairment test is performed. However, if the results of the qualitative assessment
indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its respective carrying amount, then the Company performs a
quantitative impairment test. Evaluating the recoverability of goodwill requires judgments and assumptions regarding future trends and events. As a result,
both the precision and reliability of management estimates are subject to uncertainty.

The Company’s most recent annual impairment test of goodwill was a qualitative analysis conducted during the quarter ended September 30, 2021 that
indicated no impairment. Subsequent to completing the 2021 annual impairment test, no events or changes in circumstances were noted that required an
interim goodwill impairment test. Note 3 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets provides additional information regarding the Company’s goodwill.

Finite-lived intangible assets. The Company has finite-lived intangible assets that are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected useful life
of the underlying asset. Note 3 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets provides additional information regarding the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets.

Impairment of long-lived assets. The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consist of intangible assets other than goodwill, right-of-use assets and
property, equipment and leasehold improvements. The Company reviews its long-lived asset groups for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group may not be recoverable. Such evaluation may be based on a number of factors,
including current and projected operating results and cash flows, and changes in management’s strategic direction as well as external economic and market
factors. The Company evaluates the recoverability of assets and asset groups by determining whether their carrying values can be recovered through
undiscounted future operating cash flows. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying values might not be recoverable based on undiscounted
future operating cash flows, an impairment loss may be recognized. The amount of impairment is measured based on the difference between the projected
discounted future operating cash flows, using a discount rate reflecting the Company’s average cost of funds, and the carrying value of the asset or asset
group.
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Debt. The Company presents amounts borrowed in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of deferred financing fees. Interest accrued on amounts borrowed
is recorded as Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Note 6 — Debt provides additional information regarding the Company’s
debt arrangements.

Foreign currency exposure. The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is typically the local currency. All assets and liabilities of
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates throughout the year. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments, a component of
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net within Stockholders’ Equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Currency transaction gains or losses arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of a subsidiary are recognized
in results of operations as part of Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company had net currency transaction
(losses) gains of $(3.7) million, $12.5 million and $(1.1) million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company enters into foreign currency forward
exchange contracts to mitigate the effects of adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on certain transactions. Those contracts generally have
short durations and are recorded at fair value with both realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded in Other income (expense), net. The net loss from
foreign currency forward exchange contracts was $1.4 million, $14.1 million and $2.5 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Note 13 — Derivatives
and Hedging provides additional information regarding the Company’s foreign currency forward exchange contracts.

Fair value disclosures. The Company has a limited number of assets and liabilities that are adjusted to fair value at each balance sheet date. The Company’s
required fair value disclosures are provided at Note 14 — Fair Value Disclosures.

Concentrations of credit risk. Assets that may subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of short-term, highly liquid investments
classified as cash equivalents, fees receivable, contract assets, interest rate swaps and a pension reinsurance asset. The majority of the Company’s cash
equivalent investments and its interest rate swap contracts are with investment grade commercial banks. Fees receivable and contract asset balances
deemed to be collectible from customers have limited concentration of credit risk due to the Company’s diverse customer base and geographic dispersion.
The Company’s pension reinsurance asset (see Note 15 — Employee Benefits) is maintained with a large international insurance company that was rated
investment grade as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Stock repurchase programs. The Company records the cost to repurchase shares of its own common stock as treasury stock. Shares repurchased by the
Company are added to treasury shares and are not retired. Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity provides additional information regarding the Company’s
common stock repurchase activity.

Gain on event cancellation insurance claims. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company received $166.9 million of proceeds related to 2020
event cancellation insurance claims, and recorded a pre-tax gain of $152.3 million. The Company does not record any gain on insurance claims in excess of
expenses incurred until the receipt of the insurance proceeds is deemed to be realizable.

Adoption of new accounting standards. The Company adopted the accounting standard described below during 2021.

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes — In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes—Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes (“ASU No. 2019-12”). ASU No. 2019-12 provided new guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes in certain areas, changed the
accounting for select income tax transactions and made minor ASC improvements. Gartner adopted ASU No. 2019-12 on January 1, 2021. The adoption of
ASU No. 2019-12 did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted. The FASB has issued accounting standards that had not yet become effective as of December 31, 2021
and may impact the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements or related disclosures in future periods. Those standards and their potential impact are

discussed below.

Accounting standard effective immediately upon voluntary election by Gartner
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Reference Rate Reform — In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform—Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate
Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU No. 2020-04”). ASU No. 2020-04 provides that an entity can elect not to apply certain required modification
accounting in U.S. GAAP to contracts where all changes to the critical terms relate to reference rate reform (e.g., the expected discontinuance of LIBOR
and the transition to an alternative reference interest rate, etc.). In addition, the rule provides optional expedients and exceptions that enable entities to
continue to apply hedge accounting for hedging relationships where one or more of the critical terms change due to reference rate reform. The rule became
effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 and will generally no longer be available to apply after December 31, 2022. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact of ASU No. 2020-04 on its Consolidated Financial Statements, including the rule’s potential impact on any debt
modifications or other contractual changes in the future that may result from reference rate reform. However, the Company does not expect the adoption of
ASU 2020-04 to have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting standard effective in 2022

Government Assistance — In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832), Disclosures by Business Entities
about Government Assistance (“ASU No. 2021-10”). ASU No, 2021-10 requires business entities to annually disclose information about certain
government assistance they receive. The rule will be effective for public entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. The adoption of
ASU No. 2021-10 is currently not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statement disclosures.

Accounting standard effective in 2023

Business Combinations — In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations, Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract
Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (“ASU No. 2021-08”). ASU No. 2021-08 provides guidance for a business combination on how to recognize and
measure contract assets and contract liabilities from revenue contracts with customers and other contracts that apply the provisions of ASC Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Specifically, the proposed amendments would require that an entity (acquirer) recognize and measure contract
assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC Topic 606. Generally, this would result in an acquirer recognizing
and measuring the acquired contract assets and contract liabilities consistent with how they were recognized and measured in the acquiree’s financial
statements (if the acquiree prepared financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP). The rule will be effective for public entities on January 1, 2023,
with early adoption permitted. Gartner has elected to adopt ASU No. 2021-08 effective January 1, 2022. ASU No. 2021-08 will not impact acquired
contract assets or liabilities from business combinations occurring prior to January 1, 2022, and the impact in future periods will depend on the contract
assets and contract liabilities acquired in future business combinations.

Note 2 — Acquisitions
Acquisitions
Year Ended December 31, 2021

On June 17, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Pulse Q&A Inc. (“Pulse”), a privately-held company based in San
Francisco, California, for an aggregate purchase price of $29.1 million. Pulse is a technology-enabled community platform.

For cash flow reporting purposes, the Company paid $22.9 million in cash for Pulse after considering the cash acquired with the business, amounts held in
escrow and certain other purchase price adjustments. In addition to the purchase price, the Company may also be required to pay up to $4.5 million in cash
in the future based on the continuing employment of certain key employees. Such amount will be recognized as compensation expense over three years and
reported in Acquisition and integration charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company recorded $31.0 million of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets for Pulse and $1.9 million of liabilities on a net basis. The Company
believes that the recorded goodwill is supported by the anticipated synergies resulting from the acquisition. None of the recorded goodwill will be
deductible for tax purposes. The fair value measurement of the finite-lived intangible assets was based on income valuation methodologies, primarily an
incremental profits approach, which included significant unobservable inputs and thus represented a Level 3 measurement as defined in FASB ASC Topic
820. The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary with respect to certain tax matters.
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The operating results of the acquired Pulse business and the related goodwill are being reported as part of the Company’s Research segment. The operating
results of Pulse have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition; however, such operating results were
not material to the Company’s consolidated operating results and segment results. Had the Company acquired Pulse in prior periods, the impact on the
Company’s operating results would not have been material and, as a result, pro forma financial information for prior periods has not been presented herein.

Year Ended December 31, 2019

On October 1, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding membership interests of TOPO Research LLC (“TOPQO”), a privately-held company
based in Redwood City, California, for $25.0 million. TOPO was a subscription-based research and advisory business. The acquisition of TOPO expanded
the Company’s market presence, product offerings and other business opportunities.

For cash flow reporting purposes, the Company paid $23.7 million in cash for TOPO after considering the cash acquired with the business and certain other
purchase price adjustments. In addition to the purchase price, the Company paid $6.5 million cash in total to certain key employees based on their
continuing employment. Such amount was recognized as compensation expense over two years and reported in Acquisition and integration charges in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company recorded $24.5 million of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets for TOPO and $0.5 million of other assets on a net basis. The Company
believes that the recorded goodwill was supported by the anticipated synergies resulting from the acquisition. All of the recorded goodwill is deductible for
tax purposes. The fair value measurement of the finite-lived intangible assets was based on income valuation methodologies, which included significant
unobservable inputs and thus represented a Level 3 measurement as defined in FASB ASC Topic 820.

The operating results of the acquired TOPO business and the related goodwill are being reported as part of the Company’s Research and Conferences
segment. The operating results of TOPO have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition; however,
such operating results were not material to the Company’s consolidated operating results and segment results. Had the Company acquired TOPO in prior
periods, the impact on the Company’s operating results would not have been material and, as a result, pro forma financial information for prior periods has
not been presented herein.

During 2019, the Company also paid $2.3 million of restricted cash for deferred consideration from a 2017 acquisition.

Acquisition and Integration Charges

The Company recognized $6.1 million, $6.3 million and $9.5 million of Acquisition and integration charges during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Acquisition and integration charges reflect additional costs and expenses resulting from the Company’s acquisitions and include, among other items,
professional fees, severance and stock-based compensation charges.

During 2021, the Company received $2.3 million cash proceeds from deferred consideration related to a 2018 divestiture.

Note 3 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill. The table below presents changes to the carrying amount of goodwill by segment during the two-year period ended December 31, 2021 (in
thousands).

Research Conferences Consulting Total
Balance at December 31, 2019 (1) $ 2,651,060 $ 189,641 $ 97,025 $ 2,937,726
Foreign currency translation impact 13,672 (5,550) (301) 7,821
Balance at December 31, 2020 (1) 2,664,732 184,091 96,724 2,945,547
Additions due to an acquisition (2) 11,486 — — 11,486
Foreign currency translation impact (5,284) (70) (362) (5,716)
Balance at December 31, 2021 (1) $ 2670934 $ 184,021 $ 96,362 $ 2,951,317

(1) The Company does not have any accumulated goodwill impairment losses.
(2) The additions were due to the acquisition of Pulse on June 17, 2021. See Note 2 — Acquisitions for additional information.
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Finite-lived intangible assets. Changes in finite-lived intangible assets during the two-year period ended December 31, 2021 are presented in the tables

below (in thousands).

Customer Technology-
December 31, 2021 Relationships related Content Other Total
Gross cost at December 31, 2020 $ 1,154,210 $ 110,597 $ 3,965 $ 10,614 $ 1,279,386
Additions due to an acquisition (1) 7,980 11,200 — 320 19,500
Intangible assets fully amortized (61,422) (60,685) (3,965) (498) (126,570)
Foreign currency translation impact (4,410) 104 — — (4,306)
Gross cost 1,096,358 61,216 — 10,436 1,168,010
Accumulated amortization (2) (413,266) (35,727) — (4,599) (453,592)
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 683,092 25,489 $ — 5837 $ 714,418

Customer Technology-
December 31, 2020 Relationships related Content Other Total
Gross cost at December 31, 2019 $ 1,145,109 111,033 $ 14,140 $ 30,838 $ 1,301,120
Intangible assets fully amortized (2,394) (787) (9,929) (20,152) (33,262)
Foreign currency translation impact 11,495 351 (246) (72) 11,528
Gross cost 1,154,210 110,597 3,965 10,614 1,279,386
Accumulated amortization (2) (381,776) (83,320) (3,595) (3,697) (472,388)
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 772,434 $ 27,277 $ 370 $ 6,917 $ 806,998

(1) The additions were due to the acquisition of Pulse on June 17, 2021. See Note 2 — Acquisitions for additional information.
(2) Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the following periods: Customer relationships—6 to 13 years;
Technology-related—S3 to 7 years; Content—?2 to 3 years; and Other —2 to 11 years.

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was $109.6 million, $125.1 million and $129.7 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The estimated future amortization expense by year for finite-lived intangible assets is presented in the table below (in thousands).

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027 and thereafter

Note 4 — Other Assets

The Company’s other assets are summarized in the table below (in thousands).

Benefit plan-related assets
Non-current deferred tax assets
Other

Total other assets

Note 5 — Accounts Payable and Accrued and Other Liabilities

$ 100,687
100,672

93,479

82,946

80,271

256,363

$ 714,418

December 31,

2021 2020
$ 113,553 $ 98,536
140,004 103,559
55,132 54,221
$ 308,689 $ 256,316

The Company’s Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are summarized in the table below (in thousands).
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December 31,

2021 2020
Accounts payable 49,277 $ 38,588
Payroll and employee benefits payable 233,704 216,033
Bonus payable 243,459 224,763
Commissions payable 201,397 130,306
Income tax payable 18,717 29,550
VAT payable 48,834 58,496
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 89,754 83,995
Other accrued liabilities, including the short-term portion of fair value of interest rate swap contracts 249,672 170,700
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,134,814 $ 952,431
The Company’s Other liabilities are summarized in the table below (in thousands).
December 31,
2021 2020
Non-current deferred revenues 48,176 $ 26,754
Long-term taxes payable 76,806 86,751
Benefit plan-related liabilities 139,097 128,199
Non-current deferred tax liabilities 181,789 173,233
Other, including long-term portion of fair value of interest rate swap contracts 66,019 124,656
Total other liabilities 511,887 $ 539,593
Note 6 — Debt
The Company’s total outstanding borrowings are summarized in the table below (in thousands).
December 31,
Description 2021 2020
2020 Credit Agreement - Term loan facility (1) 287,600 $ 395,000
2020 Credit Agreement - Revolving credit facility (1), (2) — 5,000
Senior Notes due 2028 (“2028 Notes”) (3) 800,000 800,000
Senior Notes due 2029 (“2029 Notes™) (4) 600,000 —
Senior Notes due 2030 (“2030 Notes”) (5) 800,000 800,000
Other (6) 5,531 6,046
Principal amount outstanding (7) 2,493,131 2,006,046
Less: deferred financing fees (8) (30,367) (27,245)
Net balance sheet carrying amount 2,462,764 $ 1,978,801

(1) The contractual annualized interest rate as of December 31, 2021 on the 2020 Credit Agreement Term loan facility and the Revolving credit facility
was 1.50%, which consisted of a floating Eurodollar base rate of 0.125% plus a margin of 1.375%. However, the Company has interest rate swap

contracts that effectively convert the floating Eurodollar base rates on outstanding amounts to a fixed base rate.

(2) The Company had approximately $1.0 billion of available borrowing capacity on the 2020 Credit Agreement revolver (not including the expansion

feature) as of December 31, 2021.

(3) Consists of $800.0 million principal amount of 2028 Notes outstanding. The 2028 Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.50% and mature on July 1,

2028.

(4) Consists of $600.0 million principal amount of 2029 Notes outstanding. The 2029 Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.625% and mature on June 15,

2029.
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(5) Consists of $800.0 million principal amount of 2030 Notes outstanding. The 2030 Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.75% and mature on October 1,
2030.

(6) Consists of two State of Connecticut economic development loans. One of the loans originated in 2012, has a 10-year maturity and the outstanding
balance of $0.5 million as of December 31, 2021 bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.00%. The second loan, originated in 2019, has a 10-year maturity
and bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.75%. Both of these loans may be repaid at any time by the Company without penalty.

(7) The weighted average annual effective rate on the Company’s outstanding debt for 2021, including the effects of its interest rate swaps discussed
below, was 4.87%.

(8) Deferred financing fees are being amortized to Interest expense over the term of the related debt obligation.

2029 Notes

On June 18, 2021, the Company issued $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.625% Senior Notes due 2029. The 2029 Notes were issued pursuant
to an indenture, dated as of June 18, 2021 (the “2029 Note Indenture”), among the Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee.

The 2029 Notes were issued at an issue price of 100.0% and bear interest at a rate of 3.625% per annum. Interest on the 2029 Notes is payable on June 15
and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2021. The 2029 Notes will mature on June 15, 2029. The Company used a portion of the net
proceeds of the 2029 Notes (i) to repay $100.0 million of the outstanding borrowings under the Company’s existing term loan facility and (ii) to pay related
fees and expenses. The Company intends to use the remaining net proceeds of the 2029 Notes for general corporate purposes.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2029 Notes at any time on or after June 15, 2024 for cash at the redemption prices set forth in the 2029 Notes
Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Prior to June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2029 Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 103.625% plus accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. In addition, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2029 Notes prior to June 15, 2024, at a redemption
price of 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date, plus a “make-whole”
premium. If the Company experiences specific kinds of change of control and a ratings decline, it will be required to offer to repurchase the 2029 Notes at a
price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

The 2029 Notes are the Company’s general unsecured senior obligations, and are effectively subordinated to all of the Company’s existing and future
secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness, structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness
and other liabilities of the Company’s non-guarantor subsidiaries, equal in right of payment to all of the Company’s and Company’s guarantor subsidiaries’
existing and future senior indebtedness and senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s future subordinated indebtedness, if any. The 2029 Notes are
jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by certain of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries that have outstanding indebtedness or
guarantee other specified indebtedness.

The 2029 Notes Indenture contains covenants that limit, among other things, the Company’s ability and the ability of some of the Company’s subsidiaries
to:

e create liens; and
* merge or consolidate with other entities.

These covenants will be subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications.

The 2029 Notes Indenture also provides for events of default, which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal, premium, if any, and
interest on all the then outstanding 2029 Notes issued under the Indenture to be due and payable.

2030 Notes

On September 28, 2020, the Company issued $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2030. The 2030 Notes were issued
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of September 28, 2020 (the “2030 Note Indenture”), among the Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee.
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The 2030 Notes were issued at an issue price of 100.0% and bear interest at a rate of 3.75% per annum. Interest on the 2030 Notes is payable on April 1
and October 1 of each year, beginning on April 1, 2021. The 2030 Notes will mature on October 1, 2030.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2030 Notes at any time on or after October 1, 2025 for cash at the redemption prices set forth in the 2030
Note Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Prior to October 1, 2025, the Company may redeem up to 40% of
the aggregate principal amount of the 2030 Notes in connection with certain equity offerings, or some or all of the 2030 Notes with a “make-whole”
premium, in each case subject to the terms set forth in the 2030 Note Indenture.

2028 Notes

On June 22, 2020, the Company issued $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% Senior Notes due 2028. The 2028 Notes were issued pursuant
to an indenture, dated as of June 22, 2020 (the “2028 Note Indenture”), among the Company, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee.

The 2028 Notes were issued at an issue price of 100.0% and bear interest at a rate of 4.50% per annum. Interest on the 2028 Notes is payable on January 1
and July 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2021. The 2028 Notes will mature on July 1, 2028.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2028 Notes at any time on or after July 1, 2023 for cash at the redemption prices set forth in the 2028 Note
Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Prior to July 1, 2023, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Notes in connection with certain equity offerings, or some or all of the 2028 Notes with a “make-whole” premium,
in each case subject to the terms set forth in the 2028 Note Indenture.

2020 Credit Agreement

On September 28, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement among the Company, as borrower, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent,” and such agreement, the “2020 Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated the
Company’s existing credit facility, dated as of June 17, 2016 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “2016 Credit
Agreement”).

The 2020 Credit Agreement provides for a $400.0 million senior secured five-year term loan facility and a $1.0 billion senior secured five-year revolving
facility. The term and revolving facilities may be increased, at the Company’s option and under certain conditions, by up to an additional $1.0 billion in the
aggregate plus additional amounts subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including a maximum secured leverage ratio. The term loan will be
repaid in consecutive quarterly installments commencing December 31, 2020, plus a final payment due on September 28, 2025, and may be prepaid at any
time without penalty or premium (other than applicable breakage costs) at the option of the Company. The revolving credit facility may be used for loans,
and up to $75.0 million may be used for letters of credit. The revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed until September 28, 2025, at which
time all amounts borrowed must be repaid.

On September 28, 2020, the Company drew down $400.0 million in term loans. The initial drawdown was used to refinance the outstanding amounts under
the 2016 Credit Agreement. Additional amounts drawn down under the 2020 Credit Agreement will be used for general corporate purposes, including the
funding of acquisitions, payment of capital expenditures and the repurchase of shares. The Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of
the 2029 Notes to repay $100.0 million of the outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility in June 2021.

The Company’s obligations under the 2020 Credit Agreement are guaranteed, on a secured basis, by certain existing and future direct and indirect U.S.
subsidiaries. The Company’s obligations under the 2020 Credit Agreement and the guarantees of the subsidiary guarantors are secured by first priority
security interests in substantially all of the assets of the Company and the subsidiary guarantors. The security and pledges are subject to certain exceptions.

Loans under the 2020 Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (i) the greatest of: (x) the Wall Street Journal prime
rate; (y) the average rate on Federal Reserve Board of New York rate plus 1/2 of 1%; and (z) and the adjusted LIBO rate (adjusted for statutory reserves)
for a one-month interest period plus 1%, in each case plus a margin equal to between 0.125% and 1.25% depending on the Company’s consolidated
leverage ratio as of the end of the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended, or (ii) the adjusted LIBO rate (adjusted for statutory reserves) plus a
margin equal to between 1.125% and 2.25%, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio as of the end of the four consecutive fiscal
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quarters most recently ended. The commitment fee payable on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility is equal to between 0.175% and 0.40%
based on utilization of the revolving credit facility. The Company has also agreed to pay customary letter of credit fees.

The 2020 Credit Agreement contains certain customary restrictive loan covenants, including, among others, a financial covenant requiring a maximum
leverage ratio, and covenants limiting the Company’s ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make acquisitions, be acquired, dispose of assets, pay
dividends, repurchase stock, make capital expenditures, make investments and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. The Company was in
compliance with all financial covenants as of December 31, 2021.

Interest Rate Swaps

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had four fixed-for-floating interest rate swap contracts with a total notional value of $1.4 billion that mature
through 2025. The Company pays base fixed rates on these swaps ranging from 2.13% to 3.04% and in return receives a floating Eurodollar base rate
on 30-day notional borrowings.

As a result of the payment under the then outstanding 2016 Credit Agreement term loan and revolving credit facility, the Company de-designated all of its
interest rate swaps effective June 30, 2020. Accordingly, hedge accounting is not applicable, and subsequent changes to the fair value of the interest rate
swaps are recorded in Other income (expense), net. The amounts previously recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss are amortized into Interest
expense over the terms of the hedged forecasted interest payments. As of December 31, 2021, $75.0 million is remaining in Accumulated other
comprehensive loss, net. The interest rate swaps had negative unrealized fair values (liabilities) of $53.7 million and $109.2 million as of December 31,
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, of which $56.3 million and $78.1 million were recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
effect, as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. See Note 12 — Fair Value Disclosures for the determination of the fair values of
Company’s interest rate swaps.

Note 7 — Leases

The Company’s leasing activities are primarily for facilities under cancelable and non-cancelable lease agreements expiring during 2022 and through 2038.
These facilities support the Company’s executive and administrative activities, research and consulting, sales, systems support, operations, and other
functions. The Company also has leases for office equipment and other assets, which are not significant. Certain of the Company’s lease agreements
include (i) renewal options to extend the lease term for up to ten years and/or (ii) options to terminate the agreement within one year. Additionally, certain
of the Company’s lease agreements provide standard recurring escalations of lease payments for, among other things, increases in a lessor’s maintenance
costs and taxes. Under some lease agreements, the Company may be entitled to allowances, free rent, lessor-financed tenant improvements and other
incentives. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

The Company subleases certain office space that it does not intend to occupy. Such sublease arrangements expire during 2022 and through 2032 and
primarily relate to facilities in Arlington, Virginia. Certain of the Company’s sublease agreements: (i) include renewal and termination options; (ii) provide
for customary escalations of lease payments in the normal course of business; and (iii) grant the subtenant certain allowances, free rent, Gartner-financed
tenant improvements and other incentives.

Lease Accounting under ASC 842

Under ASC 842, a lease is a contract or an agreement, or a part of another arrangement, between two or more parties that, at its inception, creates
enforceable rights and obligations that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Right-of-use assets represent a right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and the related lease liability represents an obligation to make lease
payments pursuant to the contractual terms of the lease agreement. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are initially recognized on the lease
commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. For all of the Company’s facilities leases, the Company accounts
for both lease components and nonlease components (e.g., common area maintenance charges, etc.) as a single lease component when determining the
present value of the Company’s lease payments. Variable lease payments that are not dependent on an index or a rate are excluded from the determination
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and such payments are recognized as expense in the period when the related obligation is incurred.
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The Company’s lease agreements do not provide implicit interest rates. Instead, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate determined on the lease
commencement date to calculate the present value of future lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is calculated for each individual lease and
represents the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis (in the currency that the lease is denominated) over a
similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Right-of-use assets also include any initial direct costs incurred by
the Company and lease payments made to a lessor on or before the related lease commencement date, less any lease incentives received directly from the
lessor.

Certain of the Company’s facility lease agreements include options to extend or terminate the lease. When it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise a renewal or termination option, the present value of the lease payments for the affected lease is adjusted accordingly. Leases with a term of twelve
months or less are accounted for in the same manner as long-term lease arrangements, including any related disclosures. Lease expense for operating leases
is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless the related right-of-use asset was previously impaired.

All of the Company’s existing sublease arrangements have been classified as operating leases with sublease income recognized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the sublease arrangement. To measure the Company’s periodic sublease income, the Company elected to use a practical expedient under ASC
842 to aggregate nonlease components with the related lease components when (i) the timing and pattern of transfer for the nonlease components and the
related lease components are the same and (ii) the lease components, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating lease. This practical
expedient applies to all of the Company’s existing sublease arrangements.

When the projected lease cost for the term of a sublease exceeds the anticipated sublease income for that same period, the Company treats that
circumstance as an indicator that the carrying amount of the related right-of-use asset may not be fully recoverable. In those situations, the Company
performs an impairment analysis and, if indicated, the Company records a charge against earnings to reduce the right-of-use asset to the amount deemed to
be recoverable in the future.

On the Consolidated Balance Sheet, right-of-use assets are classified and reported in Operating lease right-of-use assets, and the related lease liabilities are
included in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (current) and Operating lease liabilities (long-term). On the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets is presented separately and the change in operating lease liabilities is included under Accounts
payable and accrued and other liabilities in the reconciliation of net income to cash provided by operating activities.

All of the Company’s leasing and subleasing activities are recognized in Selling, general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The table below presents the Company’s net lease cost and certain other information related to the Company’s leasing activities as of and for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (dollars in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

Description 2021 2020 2019
Operating lease cost (1) $ 130,383 $ 140,829 $ 144,727
Variable lease cost (2) 17,940 17,463 16,404
Sublease income (42,801) (38,925) (38,901)
Total lease cost, net (3) (4) $ 105,522 $ 119,367 $ 122,230
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease
liabilities $ 140,571 $ 137,790 $ 135,799
Cash receipts from sublease arrangements $ 42,374 $ 38,565 $ 34,441
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 33,113 $ 27,258 $ 136,997

As of December 31, 2021 2020 2019
Weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases (in years) 8.7 9.6 10.2
Weighted average discount rate for operating leases 6.5 % 6.6 % 6.7 %

(1) Included in operating lease cost was $42.3 million, $42.2 million and $43.2 million of costs for subleasing activities during 2021, 2020, and 2019
respectively.

(2) These amounts are primarily variable lease and nonlease costs that were not fixed at the lease commencement date or are dependent on something
other than an index or a rate.

(3) The Company did not capitalize any initial direct costs for operating leases during 2021, 2020, or 2019.

(4) Amount excludes a right-of-use asset impairment charge of $49.5 million, as discussed below.
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As of December 31, 2021, the (i) maturities of operating lease liabilities under non-cancelable arrangements and (ii) estimated future sublease cash receipts
from non-cancelable arrangements were as follows (in thousands):

Operating Sublease
Lease Cash

Period ending December 31, Payments Receipts
2022 $ 137,188 $ 48,721
2023 138,332 50,054
2024 127,399 41,793
2025 113,226 42,172
2026 112,937 42,941
Thereafter 415,242 67,060
Total future minimum operating lease payments and estimated sublease cash receipts (1) 1,044,324 $ 292,741
Imputed interest (256,804)
Total operating lease liabilities per the Consolidated Balance Sheet $ 787,520

(1) Approximately 79% of the operating lease payments pertain to properties in the United States.

The table below indicates where the discounted operating lease payments from the above table are classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheet (in
thousands).

December 31,

Description 2021 2020

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 89,754 $ 83,995
Operating lease liabilities 697,766 780,166
Total operating lease liabilities per the Consolidated Balance Sheet $ 787,520 $ 864,161

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had additional operating leases for facilities that have not yet commenced. These operating leases, which
aggregated $8.5 million of undiscounted lease payments, are scheduled to commence during 2022 with lease terms of up to six years.

In the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2021, as a result and in consideration of the changing nature of the Company’s use of office space for
its workforce and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company evaluated its existing real estate lease portfolio. This evaluation included the
decision to abandon a portion of one leased office space and the cease-use of certain other leased office spaces that the Company intends to sublease. In
connection with this evaluation, the Company reviewed certain of its right-of-use assets and related other long-lived assets for impairment under ASC 360.

As a result of the evaluation, the Company recognized an impairment loss during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2021 of $49.5 million,
which is included as a component of Selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
impairment loss recorded includes $50.9 million related to right-of-use assets, $17.9 million related to other long-lived assets, primarily leasehold
improvements and a $19.3 million reduction in lease liabilities.

The fair values for the asset groups relating to the impaired long-lived assets were estimated primarily using discounted cash flow models (income
approach) with Level 3 inputs. The significant assumptions used in estimating fair value include the expected downtime prior to the commencement of
future subleases, projected sublease income over the remaining lease periods and discount rates that reflect the level of risk associated with receiving future
cash flows.

Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity

Common stock. Holders of Gartner’s common stock, par value $0.0005 per share, are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted by
stockholders. The Company does not currently pay cash dividends on its common stock. Also, the 2020 Credit Agreement contains a negative covenant
that may limit the Company’s ability to pay dividends. The table below summarizes transactions relating to the Company’s common stock for the three
years ended December 31, 2021.
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Treasury

Issued Stock

Shares Shares
Balance at December 31, 2018 163,602,067 73,899,977
Issuances under stock plans — (825,115)
Purchases for treasury (1), (2) — 1,369,426
Balance at December 31, 2019 163,602,067 74,444,288
Issuances under stock plans — (820,065)
Purchases for treasury (1), (2) — 1,135,762
Balance at December 31, 2020 163,602,067 74,759,985
Issuances under stock plans — (807,320)
Purchases for treasury (1) — 7,252,839
Balance at December 31, 2021 163,602,067 81,205,504

(1) The Company used a total of $1,655.5 million, $176.3 million and $199.0 million in cash for share repurchases during 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
(2) The number of shares repurchased in all periods presented above included those that were settled in January of the following year due to timing.

Share repurchase authorization. In 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) authorized a share repurchase program to repurchase up to
$1.2 billion of the Company’s common stock. The Board authorized incremental share repurchases of up to an additional $300 million, $500 million and
$800 million of the Company’s common stock in February 2021, April 2021 and July 2021, respectively. $591 million remained available as of December
31, 2021. The Company may repurchase its common stock from time-to-time in amounts, at prices and in the manner that the Company deems appropriate,
subject to the availability of stock, prevailing market conditions, the trading price of the stock, the Company’s financial performance and other conditions.
Repurchases may be made through open market purchases (which may include repurchase plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), accelerated share repurchases, private transactions or other transactions and will be funded by cash on hand and
borrowings. Repurchases may also be made from time-to-time in connection with the settlement of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards. See
Note 19 — Subsequent Event for a discussion regarding an increase in the Company’s share repurchase authorization.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net (“AOCI/L”)

The tables below provide information about the changes in AOCI/L by component and the related amounts reclassified out of AOCI/L to income during the
years indicated (net of tax, in thousands) (1).

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Foreign Currency

Interest Rate  Defined Benefit Translation
Swaps Pension Plans Adjustments Total

Balance - December 31, 2020 $ (78,104) $ (9,309) $ (11,815) $ (99,228)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the year:

Change in AOCI/L before reclassifications to income — 2,232 (6,621) (4,389)

Reclassifications from AOCI/L to income (2), (3) 21,781 405 — 22,186
Other comprehensive income (loss), net for the year 21,781 2,637 (6,621) 17,797
Balance - December 31, 2021 $ (56,323) $ (6,672) $ (18,436) $ (81,431)

Year Ended December 31, 2020
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Foreign Currency

Interest Rate  Defined Benefit Translation
Swaps Pension Plans Adjustments Total

Balance - December 31, 2019 $ (47,164) $ (8,584) $ (22,190) $ (77,938)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the year:

Change in AOCI/L before reclassifications to income (56,862) (1,057) 10,375 (47,544)

Reclassifications from AOCI/L to income (2), (3) 25,922 332 — 26,254
Other comprehensive income (loss), net for the year (30,940) (725) 10,375 (21,290)
Balance - December 31, 2020 $ (78,104) $ (9,309) $ (11,815) $ (99,228)

(1) Amounts in parentheses represent debits (deferred losses).

(2) $29.1 million and $24.9 million of the reclassifications related to interest rate swaps (cash flow hedges) were recorded in Interest expense for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. $10.3 million of the reclassifications related to interest rate swaps (cash flow hedges) were recorded
in Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2020. See Note 6 — Debt and Note 13 — Derivatives and Hedging for information
regarding the cash flow hedges.

(3) The reclassifications related to defined benefit pension plans were primarily recorded in Selling, general and administrative expense, net of tax effect.
See Note 15 — Employee Benefits for information regarding the Company’s defined benefit pension plans.

The estimated net amount of the existing losses on the Company’s interest rate swaps that are reported in Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net at
December 31, 2021 that is expected to be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months is $22.6 million.

Note 9 — Revenue and Related Matters
Our Business and Revenues

Gartner delivers its products and services globally through three business segments: Research, Conferences and Consulting. Revenues from those business
segments are discussed below.

Research

Research equips executives and their teams from every function and across all industries with actionable, objective insight, guidance and tools. Our
experienced experts deliver all this value informed by a combination of practitioner-sourced and data-driven research to help our clients address their
mission critical priorities.

Research revenues are mainly derived from subscription contracts for research products, representing approximately 91% of the segment’s revenue. The
related revenues are deferred and recognized ratably over the applicable contract term (i.e., as services are provided over the contract period). Fees derived
from assisting organizations in selecting the right business software for their needs are recognized at a point in time (i.e., when the lead is provided to the
vendor).

The Company enters into subscription contracts for research products that generally are for twelve-month periods or longer. Approximately 80% to 85% of
the Company’s annual and multi-year Research subscription contracts provide for billing of the first full service period upon signing. In subsequent years,
multi-year subscription contracts are normally billed prior to the contract’s anniversary date. Other Research subscription contracts are usually invoiced in
advance, commencing with the contract signing, on (i) a quarterly, monthly or other recurring basis or (ii) in accordance with a customized invoicing
schedule. Research contracts are generally non-cancelable and non-refundable, except for government contracts that may have cancellation or fiscal
funding clauses, which have not historically resulted in material cancellations. It is the Company’s policy to record the amount of a subscription contract
that is billable as a fee receivable at the time the contract is signed with a corresponding amount as deferred revenue because the contract represents a
legally enforceable claim.

Conferences

Conferences provides executives and teams across an organization the opportunity to learn, share and network. From our Gartner Symposium/Xpo series,
to industry-leading conferences focused on specific business roles and topics, to peer-driven sessions, our offerings enable attendees to experience the best
of Gartner insight and guidance.
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The Company earns revenues from both the attendees and exhibitors at Gartner conferences and meetings. Attendees are generally invoiced for the full
attendance fee upon their completion of an online registration form or their signing of a contract, while exhibitors typically make several individual
payments commencing with the signing of a contract. Almost all of the invoiced amounts are collected in advance of the related activity, resulting in the
recording of deferred revenue. Both the attendee and exhibitor revenues are recognized as the related performance obligations are satisfied (i.e., when the
related activity is held).

The Company defers certain costs directly related to specific conferences and meetings and expenses those costs in the period during which the related
activity occurs. The Company’s policy is to defer only those costs that are incremental and directly attributable to a specific activity, primarily prepaid site
and production services costs. Other costs of organizing and producing conference activities, primarily Company personnel and non-conference specific
expenses, are expensed in the period incurred.

Consulting

Consulting serves senior executives leading technology-driven strategic initiatives leveraging the power of Gartner’s actionable, objective insight. Through
custom analysis and on-the-ground support we enable optimized technology investments and stronger performance on our clients’ mission critical
priorities.

Consulting revenues, primarily derived from custom consulting and measurement services, are principally generated from fixed fee or time and materials
engagements. Revenues from fixed fee engagements are recognized as the Company works to satisfy its performance obligations, while revenues from time
and materials engagements are recognized as work is delivered and/or services are provided. In both of these circumstances, performance obligations are
satisfied and control of the services are passed to customers over time (i.e., during the duration of the contract or consulting engagement). On a contract-by-
contract basis, the Company typically uses actual labor hours incurred compared to total expected labor hours to measure the Company’s performance in
respect of fixed fee engagements. If labor and other costs on an individual contract are expected to exceed the total contract value or the contract’s funded
ceiling amount, the Company reflects an adjustment to the contract’s overall profitability in the period determined. Revenues related to contract
optimization engagements are contingent in nature and are only recognized at the point in time when all of the conditions related to their payment have
been satisfied.

Consulting customers are invoiced based on the specific terms and conditions in their underlying contracts. They are typically invoiced after the Company
has satisfied some or all of the related performance obligations and the related revenue has been recognized. The Company records fees receivable for
amounts that are billed or billable. Contract assets are also recorded representing amounts for which the Company has recognized revenue but lacks the
unconditional right to payment as of the balance sheet date due to the required continued performance under the relevant contract, progress billing
milestones or other billing-related restrictions.

Disaggregated Revenue

Disaggregated revenue by reportable segment is presented in the tables below for the years indicated (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Primary Geographic Market Research Conferences Consulting Total

United States and Canada $ 2,655,534 $ 146,707 $ 246,661 $ 3,048,902
Europe, Middle East and Africa 958,339 47,883 124,757 1,130,979
Other International 487,519 19,859 46,703 554,081
Total revenues $ 4,101,392 $ 214,449 $ 418,121 $ 4,733,962

Year Ended December 31, 2020
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Primary Geographic Market Research Conferences Consulting Total

United States and Canada $ 2,339,482 $ 75,024 $ 223,318 $ 2,637,824
Europe, Middle East and Africa 826,752 28,108 111,413 966,273
Other International 436,658 17,008 41,640 495,306
Total revenues $ 3,602,892 $ 120,140 $ 376,371 $ 4,099,403

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Primary Geographic Market Research Conferences Consulting Total

United States and Canada $ 2,199,008 $ 295,857 $ 239,625 $ 2,734,490
Europe, Middle East and Africa 751,267 122,591 122,146 996,004
Other International 424,273 58,421 32,133 514,827
Total revenues $ 3,374,548 $ 476,869 $ 393,904 $ 4,245,321

(1) Revenue is reported based on where the sale is fulfilled.

The Company’s revenue is generated primarily through direct sales to clients by domestic and international sales forces and a network of independent
international sales agents. Most of the Company’s products and services are provided on an integrated worldwide basis and, because of this integrated
delivery approach, it is not practical to precisely separate Company’s revenue by geographic location. Accordingly, revenue information presented in the
above tables is based on internal allocations, which involve certain management estimates and judgments.

By Timing_of Revenue Recognition

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Timing of Revenue Recognition Research Conferences Consulting Total

Transferred over time (1) $ 3,740,694 $ — $ 334,945 $ 4,075,639
Transferred at a point in time (2) 360,698 214,449 83,176 658,323
Total revenues $ 4,101,392 $ 214,449 $ 418,121 $ 4,733,962

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Timing of Revenue Recognition Research Conferences Consulting Total

Transferred over time (1) $ 3,313,111 $ — $ 296,546 $ 3,609,657
Transferred at a point in time (2) 289,781 120,140 79,825 489,746
Total revenues $ 3,602,892 $ 120,140 $ 376,371 $ 4,099,403

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Timing of Revenue Recognition Research Conferences Consulting Total

Transferred over time (1) $ 3,083,936 $ — 3 316,042 $ 3,399,978
Transferred at a point in time (2) 290,612 476,869 77,862 845,343
Total revenues $ 3,374,548 $ 476,869 $ 393,904 $ 4,245,321

(1) Research revenues were recognized in connection with performance obligations that were satisfied over time using a time-elapsed output method to
measure progress. Consulting revenues were recognized over time using labor hours as an input measurement basis.

(2) The revenues in this category were recognized in connection with performance obligations that were satisfied at the point in time that the contractual
deliverables were provided to the customer.

Determining a measure of progress for performance obligations that are satisfied over time and when control transfers for performance obligations that are
satisfied at a point in time requires management to make judgments that affect the timing of
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revenue recognition. A key factor in this determination is when the customer can direct the use of, and can obtain substantially all of the benefits from, the
deliverable.

For performance obligations recognized in accordance with a time-elapsed output method, the Company’s efforts are expended consistently throughout the
contractual period and the Company transfers control evenly by providing stand-ready services. For performance obligations satisfied under Consulting
fixed fee or time and materials engagements, the Company believes that labor hours are the best measure of depicting the Company’s progress because
labor output corresponds directly to the value of the Company’s performance to date as control is transferred.

For customer contracts that are greater than one year in duration, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of December 31, 2021 was approximately $4.4 billion. The Company expects to recognize $2.6 billion, $1.5 billion
and $362.6 million of this revenue (most of which pertains to Research) during the year ending December 31, 2022, the year ending December 31, 2023
and thereafter, respectively. The Company applies a practical expedient allowed in ASC 606 and, accordingly, it does not disclose such performance
obligation information for customer contracts that have original durations of one year or less. The Company’s performance obligations for contracts
meeting this ASC 606 disclosure exclusion primarily include: (i) stand-ready services under Research subscription contracts; (ii) holding conferences and
meetings where attendees and exhibitors can participate; and (iii) providing customized Consulting solutions for clients under fixed fee or time and
materials engagements. The remaining duration of these performance obligations is generally less than one year, which aligns with the period that the
parties have enforceable rights and obligations under the affected contracts.

Customer Contract Assets and Liabilities

The payment terms and conditions in the Company’s customer contracts vary. In some cases, customers prepay and, in other cases, after the Company
conducts a credit evaluation, payment may be due in arrears. Because the timing of the Company’s service delivery typically differs from the timing of
customer payments, the Company recognizes either a contract asset (the Company performs either fully or partially under the contract but a contingency
remains) or a contract liability (upfront customer payments precede the Company’s performance, resulting in deferred revenue). Amounts recorded as
contract assets are reclassified to fees receivable when all of the outstanding conditions have been resolved and the Company’s right to payment becomes
unconditional. Contracts with payments due in arrears are also recognized as fees receivable. As contractual performance obligations are satisfied, the
Company correspondingly relieves its contract liabilities and records the associated revenue.

The table below provides information regarding certain of the Company’s balance sheet accounts that pertain to its contracts with customers (in thousands).
December 31,

2021 2020

Assets:

Fees receivable, gross (1) $ 1,371,680 $ 1,251,508
Contract assets recorded in Prepaid expenses and other current assets (2) $ 20,054 $ 14,440
Contract liabilities:

Deferred revenues (current liability) (3) $ 2,238,035 $ 1,974,548
Non-current deferred revenues recorded in Other liabilities (3) 48,176 26,754
Total contract liabilities $ 2,286,211 $ 2,001,302

(1) Fees receivable represent an unconditional right of payment from the Company’s customers and include both billed and unbilled amounts.

(2) Contract assets represent recognized revenue for which the Company does not have an unconditional right to payment as of the balance sheet date
because the project may be subject to a progress billing milestone or some other billing restriction.

(3) Deferred revenues represent amounts (i) for which the Company has received an upfront customer payment or (ii) that pertain to recognized fees
receivable. Both situations occur before the completion of the Company’s performance obligation(s).

The Company recognized revenue of $1,613.3 million, $1,494.0 million and $1,436.9 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively, which was

attributable to deferred revenues that were recorded at the beginning of each such year. Those amounts primarily consisted of (i) Research revenues and (ii)
Conferences revenues pertaining to conferences and meetings that occurred
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during the reporting periods. During 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not record any material impairments related to its contract assets.
Costs of Obtaining and Fulfilling a Customer Contract

When the Company concludes that a liability should be recognized for the costs of obtaining a customer contract and determines how such liability should
be measured, certain commissions are capitalized as a recoverable direct incremental cost of obtaining the underlying contract. No other amounts are
capitalized as a cost of obtaining or fulfilling a customer contract because no expenditures have been identified that meet the requisite capitalization
criteria. For Research and Consulting, the Company amortizes deferred commissions on a systematic basis that aligns with the transfer to customers of the
services to which the commissions relate. For Conferences, deferred commissions are expensed during the period when the related conference or meeting
occeurs.

During 2021, 2020 and 2019, deferred commission amortization expense was $472.5 million, $440.5 million and $369.5 million, respectively, and was
included in Selling, general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company classifies Deferred commissions as a
current asset on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at both December 31, 2021 and 2020 because those costs were, or will be, amortized over the twelve
months following the respective balance sheet dates.

Note 10 — Stock-Based Compensation

The Company grants stock-based compensation awards as an incentive for employees and directors to contribute to the Company’s long-term success. The
Company currently awards stock-settled stock appreciation rights, service-based and performance-based restricted stock units, and common stock
equivalents. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had 4.3 million shares of its common stock, par value $0.0005 per share, (the “Common Stock”)
available for stock-based compensation awards under its 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Currently, the Company issues treasury shares upon
the exercise, release or settlement of stock-based compensation awards.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of stock-based compensation awards requires the use of certain subjective
assumptions, including the expected life of a stock-based compensation award and Common Stock price volatility. In addition, determining the appropriate
periodic stock-based compensation expense requires management to estimate the likelihood of the achievement of certain performance targets. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair values of stock-based compensation awards and the related periodic expense represent management’s best
estimates, which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of judgment. As a result, if circumstances change and the Company deems it necessary
in the future to modify the assumptions it made or to use different assumptions, or if the quantity and nature of the Company’s stock-based compensation
awards changes, then the amount of expense may need to be adjusted and future stock-based compensation expense could be materially different from what
has been recorded in the current year.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The tables below summarize the Company’s stock-based compensation expense by award type and expense category line item during the years ended
December 31 (in millions).

Award type 2021 2020 2019

Stock appreciation rights $ 82 $§ 78 $ 6.7
Restricted stock units (1) 89.6 54.1 61.6
Common stock equivalents 0.8 0.7 0.7
Total (2) $ 98.6 $ 626 $ 69.0
Expense category line item 2021 2020 2019

Cost of services and product development $ 350 $ 29.7 % 29.1
Selling, general and administrative 63.6 32.9 394
Acquisition and integration charges (3) — — 0.5
Total (1) (2) $ 98.6 $ 626 $ 69.0

(1) On February 5, 2020, prior to the COVID-19 related shutdown in the U.S., the Compensation Committee (“Committee”) of the Board of Directors of
the Company established performance measures for the performance-based restricted stock units
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(the “PSUs”) awarded to the Company’s executive officers in 2020 under the Plan. Based on preliminary corporate performance results for the 2020
performance measures, the 2020 PSUs would have been earned at 50% of target. However, on February 3, 2021, the Committee determined to use its
discretion under the Plan to approve a payout at 95% of target. In deciding to exercise this discretion to adjust the performance-based RSU payout, the
Committee considered the Company’s strong overall performance in 2020 despite the significant negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a
result of the modification, the Company recognized $6.5 million of incremental compensation cost during the year ended December 31, 2021.

(2) Includes charges of $41.2 million, $17.9 million and $21.5 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, for awards to retirement-eligible
employees. Those awards vest on an accelerated basis.

(3) These charges were the result of restricted stock units granted in connection with the CEB integration process.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $103.0 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, which is expected to be expensed over
the remaining weighted average service period of approximately 2.4 years.

Stock-Based Compensation Awards

The disclosures presented below provide information regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation awards, all of which have been classified as
equity awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 505.

Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock-settled stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) permit the holder to participate in the appreciation of the value of the Common Stock. After the applicable
vesting criteria have been satisfied, SARs are settled in shares of Common Stock upon exercise by the employee. SARs vest ratably over a four-year
service period and expire seven years from the date of grant. The fair value of a SARs award is recognized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over four years. SARs have only been awarded to the Company’s executive officers.

When SARs are exercised, the number of shares of Common Stock issued is calculated as follows: (1) the total proceeds from the exercise of the SARs
award (calculated as the closing price of the Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of exercise less the exercise price of
the SARs award, multiplied by the number of SARs exercised) is divided by (2) the closing price of the Common Stock on the date of exercise. Upon
exercise, the Company withholds a portion of the shares of the Common Stock to satisfy statutory tax withholding requirements. SARs recipients do not
have any stockholder rights until the shares of Common Stock are issued in respect of the award, which is subject to the prior satisfaction of the vesting and
other criteria relating to such grants.

The table below summarizes changes in SARs outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Per Share
Per Share Weighted Weighted Average
Weighted Average Remaining
Units of SARs Average Grant Date Contractual
(in millions) Exercise Price Fair Value Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1.0 $ 12359 $ 27.76 4.37
Granted 0.2 180.64 49.13 6.11
Exercised (0.4) 103.53 22.97 n/a
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 (1) (2) 08 $ 145.36 $ 34.72 4.45
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2021 (2) 03 $ 12520 $ 28.17 3.44

n/a = not applicable

(1) As of December 31, 2021, 0.5 million of the total SARs outstanding were unvested. The Company expects that substantially all of those unvested
awards will vest in future periods.

(2) As of December 31, 2021, the total SARs outstanding had an intrinsic value of $156.1 million. On such date, SARs vested and exercisable had an
intrinsic value of $62.8 million.

The fair value of a SARs award is determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model with the following weighted average
assumptions for the years ended December 31:
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2021 2020 2019

Expected dividend yield (1) — % — % —%
Expected stock price volatility (2) 31% 23 % 21 %
Risk-free interest rate (3) 0.4 % 1.5 % 2.5 %
Expected life in years (4) 4.74 4.68 4.59

(1) The expected dividend yield assumption was based on both the Company’s historical and anticipated dividend payouts. Historically, the Company has
not paid cash dividends on its Common Stock.

(2) The determination of expected stock price volatility was based on both historical Common Stock prices and implied volatility from publicly traded
options in the Common Stock.

(3) The risk-free interest rate was based on the yield of a U.S. Treasury security with a maturity similar to the expected life of the award.

(4) The expected life represents the Company’s estimate of the weighted average period of time the SARs are expected to be outstanding (that is, the
period between the service inception date and the expected exercise date).

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) give the awardee the right to receive shares of Common Stock when the vesting conditions are met and certain restrictions
lapse. Each RSU that vests entitles the awardee to one share of Common Stock. RSU awardees do not have any of the rights of a Gartner stockholder,
including voting rights and the right to receive dividends and distributions, until the shares are released. The fair value of an RSU award is determined on
the date of grant based on the closing price of the Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on that date. Service-based RSUs vest
ratably over four years and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Performance-based RSUs are subject to the satisfaction of both
performance and service conditions, vest ratably over four years and are expensed on an accelerated basis over the vesting period.

The table below summarizes the changes in RSUs outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Per Share
Weighted
Average
Units of RSUs Grant Date
(in millions) Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1.2 $ 136.09
Granted (1) 0.5 188.02
Vested and released (0.5) 127.77
Forfeited (0.1) 153.68
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 (2) (3) 1.1 8 160.04

(1) The 0.5 million of RSUs granted during 2021 consisted of 0.1 million of performance-based RSUs awarded to executives and 0.4 million of service-
based RSUs awarded to non-executive employees and non-management board members. The performance-based awards include RSUs in final
adjustments of 2020 grants and approximately 0.1 million of RSUs representing the target amount of the grant for 2021 that is tied to an increase in
Gartner’s total contract value for such year. The number of performance-based RSUs for 2021 that holders could receive ranges from 0% to 200% of
the target amount based on the extent to which the corresponding performance goals have been achieved and subject to certain other conditions. Any
adjustments in the number of performance-based RSUs under the 2021 grant will be made in 2022.

(2) The Company expects that substantially all of the RSUs outstanding will vest in future periods.

(3) As of December 31, 2021, the weighted average remaining contractual term of the RSUs outstanding was approximately 1.1 years.

Common Stock Equivalents

Common stock equivalents (“CSEs”) are convertible into Common Stock. Each CSE entitles the holder to one share of Common Stock. Members of the
Company’s Board of Directors receive their directors’ fees in CSEs unless they opt to receive up to 50% of those fees in cash. Generally, CSEs have no
defined term and are converted into shares of Common Stock when
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service as a director terminates unless the director has elected an accelerated release. The fair value of a CSE award is determined on the date of grant
based on the closing price of the Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on that date. CSEs vest immediately and, as a result, they
are recorded as expense on the date of grant.

The table below summarizes the changes in CSEs outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Per Share
Weighted Average

Grant Date

Units of CSEs Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 113,540 $ 28.80
Granted 2,810 255.93
Converted to shares of Common Stock upon grant (2,032) 211.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 114,318  $ 31.15

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESP Plan”) wherein eligible employees are permitted to purchase shares of Common Stock
through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 10% of an employee’s compensation, or $23,750 in any calendar year, at a price equal to 95% of the
closing price of the Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange at the end of each offering period. As of December 31, 2021, the
Company had 3.3 million shares available for purchase under the ESP Plan. The ESP Plan is considered non-compensatory under FASB ASC Topic 718
and, as a result, the Company does not record stock-based compensation expense for employee share purchases. The Company received $18.2 million,
$18.1 million and $17.6 million in cash from employee share purchases under the ESP Plan during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 11 — Computation of Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution of securities that could share in earnings. Potential shares of common stock are excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share when their effect would be anti-dilutive.

The table below sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted income per share for the years ended December 31 (in thousands, except per share data).

2021 2020 2019
Numerator:
Net income used for calculating basic and diluted income per share $ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 233,290
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares used in the calculation of basic income per share 85,026 89,315 89,817
Dilutive effect of outstanding awards associated with stock-based compensation plans 1,151 702 1,154
Shares used in the calculation of diluted income per share 86,177 90,017 90,971
Income per share (1):
Basic $ 933 $ 299 % 2.60
Diluted $ 921 $ 296 $ 2.56

(1) Both basic and diluted income per share for 2021, 2020 and 2019 included a tax benefit of approximately $0.63, $0.31 and $0.42 per share,
respectively, related to intercompany sales of certain intellectual property (see Note 12 — Income Taxes).

The table below presents the number of outstanding awards associated with stock-based compensation plans that were not included in the computations of
diluted income per share in the above table because the effect would have been anti-dilutive. During years with net income, the outstanding awards were
anti-dilutive because their exercise prices were greater than the average market price per share of Common Stock during such year.
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Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(All)lti-dilutive outstanding awards associated with stock-based compensation plans (in millions) 05 02
Average market price per share of Common Stock during the year $ 252.07 $ 130.95 $ 148.38
(1) The number of anti-dilutive common stock equivalents for 2021 was de minimis.
Note 12 — Income Taxes
Below is a summary of the components of the Company’s income before income taxes for the years ended December 31 (in thousands).
2021 2020 2019
U.s. $ 485,472  $ 111,880 $ 115,543
Non-U.S. 484,398 214,253 160,196
Income before income taxes $ 969,870 $ 326,133 $ 275,739
The components of the expense (benefit) for income taxes on the above income are summarized in the table below (in thousands).
2021 2020 2019
Current tax expense:
U.S. federal $ 117,024  $ 14,480 $ 30,208
State and local 36,266 16,360 11,630
Foreign 64,835 62,993 53,105
Total current 218,125 93,833 94,943
Deferred tax (benefit) expense:
U.S. federal (4,640) (7,206) (16,389)
State and local 3,156 (13,121) (6,897)
Foreign (33,389) (22,673) (48,186)
Total deferred (34,873) (43,000) (71,472)
Total current and deferred 183,252 50,833 23,471
(Expense) benefit relating to interest rate swaps used to increase equity (7,281) 8,257 17,666
Benefit from stock transactions with employees used to increase equity 78 56 54
Benefit relating to defined-benefit pension adjustments used to increase equity 261 242 1,258
Total tax expense $ 176,310 $ 59,388 $ 42,449

The components of long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities) are summarized in the table below (in thousands).
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December 31,

2021 2020
Accrued liabilities $ 90,384 $ 81,302
Operating leases 60,226 51,450
Loss and credit carryforwards 31,662 23,852
Assets relating to equity compensation 15,863 14,981
Other assets 12,195 16,290
Gross deferred tax assets 210,330 187,875
Valuation allowance (23,331) (15,717)
Net deferred tax assets 186,999 172,158
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements (14,576) (9,852)
Intangible assets (123,523) (172,723)
Prepaid expenses (70,149) (46,105)
Other liabilities (20,536) (13,152)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (228,784) (241,832)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (41,785) $ (69,674)

Net deferred tax assets and net deferred tax liabilities were $140.0 million and $181.8 million as of December 31, 2021, respectively, and $103.6 million
and $173.2 million as of December 31, 2020, respectively. These amounts are reported in Other assets and Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Management has concluded it is more likely than not that the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and results of future operations will generate
sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance at December 31, 2021.

The valuation allowances of $23.3 million and $15.7 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, primarily related to loss and credit
carryovers that are not likely to be realized.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had state and local tax net operating loss carryforwards of $12.6 million, of which $0.3 million expires within six
to fifteen years and $12.3 million expires within sixteen to twenty years. The Company also had state tax credits of $6.7 million, a majority of which will
expire in five to six years. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of $5.7 million, of which $0.1 million
expires over the next 20 years and $5.6 million can be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the Company also had foreign tax credit carryforwards of
$15.2 million, all of which will expire between 2028 and 2031. These amounts have been reduced for associated unrecognized tax benefits, consistent with
ASU No. 2013-11, “Income Taxes—Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax
Credit Carryforward Exists.”

The items comprising the differences between the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate on income before income
taxes for the years ended December 31 are summarized in the table below.
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2021 2020 2019

Statutory tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 2.8 1.7 15
Effect of non-U.S. operations 3.4 (1.8) 2.7
Intercompany sale of intellectual property (5.6) (8.7) (13.8)
Net activity in recognized tax benefits 1.3 6.4 4.7
Law changes 1.3 1.8 —
Stock-based compensation expense (2.0) (2.8) 3.9
Nondeductible meals and entertainment costs — 0.3 1.7
Limitation on executive compensation 1.7 1.3 2.4
Global intangible low-taxed income, net of foreign tax credits 1.7 1.4 1.9
Foreign-derived intangible income (0.3) (0.8) (1.0)
Other items, net (0.3) (1.6) (1.8)
Effective tax rate 18.2 % 18.2 % 15.4 %

The Company completed intercompany sales of certain intellectual property in 2021, 2020 and 2019. As a result, the Company recorded net tax benefits of
approximately $54.1 million, $28.3 million and $38.1 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These benefits represent the value of future tax
deductions for amortization of the assets in the acquiring jurisdiction, net of any tax recognized in the selling jurisdiction. The Company’s intellectual
property footprint continues to evolve and may result in tax rate volatility in the future.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $150.0 million and $127.1 million, respectively. The increase is
primarily due to positions taken with respect to certain intercompany transactions. The gross unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 related
primarily to transfer pricing on intercompany transactions, calculations of taxable earnings and profits and related foreign tax credits, the exclusion of
stock-based compensation expense from the Company’s cost sharing agreement, and the ability to realize certain refund claims. It is reasonably possible
that gross unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately $30.0 million within the next twelve months due to the anticipated closure of audits
and the expiration of certain statutes of limitation.

Included in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 are potential benefits of $141.5 million that, if recognized, would reduce
our effective tax rate on income from continuing operations. Also included in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 are
potential benefits of $8.5 million that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred taxes.

The table below is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, for the years
ended December 31 (in thousands).

2021 2020
Beginning balance $ 127,080 $ 102,770
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 29,636 20,177
Additions for tax positions of prior years 2,756 14,085
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (4,592) (2,301)
Reductions for expiration of statutes (3,240) (8,191)
Settlements (147) (390)
Change in foreign currency exchange rates (1,469) 930
Ending balance $ 150,024 $ 127,080

The Company accrues interest and penalties related to gross unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax provision. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
Company had $14.3 million and $10.2 million, respectively, of accrued interest and penalties related to gross unrecognized tax benefits. These amounts are
in addition to the gross unrecognized tax benefits disclosed above. The total amount of interest and penalties recognized in the income tax provision during
2021 and 2020 was $4.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively.
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The number of years with open statutes of limitation varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. The Company’s statutes are open with respect to the U.S.
federal jurisdiction for 2018 and forward, India for 2004 and forward, and Ireland for 2017 and forward. For other major taxing jurisdictions, including
U.S. states, the United Kingdom, Canada, Japan, and France, the Company’s statutes vary and are open as far back as 2011.

Under U.S. GAAP, no provision for income taxes that may result from the remittance of earnings held overseas is required if the Company has the ability
and intent to indefinitely reinvest such funds overseas. The Company continues to assert its intention to reinvest all accumulated undistributed foreign
earnings in its non-U.S. operations, except in instances where the repatriation of those earnings would result in minimal additional tax. Consequently, the
Company has not recognized income tax expense that would result from the remittance of those earnings. The accumulated undistributed earnings of non-
U.S. subsidiaries were approximately $120.1 million as of December 31, 2021. As a result of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, the income tax that
would be payable if such earnings were not indefinitely invested is estimated to be minimal.

Note 13 — Derivatives and Hedging

The Company enters into a limited number of derivative contracts to mitigate the cash flow risk associated with changes in interest rates on variable-rate
debt and changes in foreign exchange rates on forecasted foreign currency transactions. The Company accounts for its outstanding derivative contracts in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 815, which requires all derivatives, including derivatives designated as accounting hedges, to be recorded on the balance
sheet at fair value. The tables below provide information regarding the Company’s outstanding derivative contracts as of the dates indicated (in thousands,
except for number of contracts).

December 31, 2021
Fair Value
Asset Unrealized

Number of Notional (Liability), Net Balance Sheet Loss Recorded in
Derivative Contract Type Contracts Amounts 3) Line Item AOCYI/L
Interest rate swaps (1) 4 $ 1,400,000 $ (31,942) Other liabilities $ (56,323)

(21,795) Accrued liabilities
Foreign currency forwards (2) 138 533,506 (91) Accrued liabilities —
Total 142 % 1,933,506 $ (53,828) $ (56,323)
December 31, 2020
Fair Value
Asset Unrealized
Number of Notional (Liability), Net Balance Sheet Loss Recorded in
Derivative Contract Type Contracts Amounts 3) Line Item AOCI/L
Interest rate swaps (1) 4 $ 1,400,000 $ (74,289) Other liabilities (78,104)
(34,886) Accrued liabilities

Foreign currency forwards (2) 163 430,063 (1,514) Accrued liabilities —
Total 167 $ 1,830,063 $ (110,689) (78,104)

(1) As aresult of the payment under the then outstanding 2016 Credit Agreement term loan and revolving credit facility, the Company de-designated all of
its interest rate swaps effective June 30, 2020. Accordingly, hedge accounting is not applicable, and subsequent changes to fair value of the interest rate
swaps are recorded in Other income (expense), net. The amounts previously recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss are amortized into
Interest expense over the terms of the hedged forecasted interest payments. Note 6 — Debt provides additional information regarding the Company’s

interest rate swap contracts.

(2) The Company has foreign exchange transaction risk because it typically enters into transactions in the normal course of business that are denominated
in foreign currencies that differ from the local functional currency. The Company enters into short-term foreign currency forward exchange contracts to
mitigate the cash flow risk associated with changes in foreign currency rates on forecasted foreign currency transactions. These contracts are accounted
for at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses recognized in Other income (expense), net because the Company does not designate
these contracts as hedges for accounting purposes. All of the outstanding foreign currency forward exchange contracts at December 31, 2021 matured

before January 31, 2022.
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(3) See Note 14 — Fair Value Disclosures for the determination of the fair values of these instruments.

At December 31, 2021, all of the Company’s derivative counterparties were investment grade financial institutions. The Company did not have any
collateral arrangements with its derivative counterparties and none of the derivative contracts contained credit-risk related contingent features. The table
below provides information regarding amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for derivative contracts for the years ended
December 31 (in thousands).

Amount Recorded In 2021 2020 2019

Interest expense (income), net (1) $ 29,061 $ 24,880 $ (3,361)
Other (income) expense, net (2) (18,844) 22,300 2,488
Total expense (income), net $ 10,217  § 47,180 $ (873)

(1) Consists of interest expense (income) from interest rate swap contracts.

(2) Consists of net realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts, gains and losses on de-designated interest rate swaps.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, Other (income) expense, net included $10.3 million expense on interest rate swap contracts due to forecasted
interest payments no longer being probable as a result of the payment under the then outstanding 2016 Credit Agreement term loan and revolving
credit facility on June 30, 2020.

Note 14 — Fair Value Disclosures

The Company’s financial instruments include cash equivalents, fees receivable from customers, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, all of which are
normally short-term in nature. The Company believes that the carrying amounts of these financial instruments reasonably approximate their fair values due
to their short-term nature. The Company’s financial instruments also include its outstanding variable-rate borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement.
The Company believes that the carrying amounts of its variable-rate borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values because the rates of interest on
those borrowings reflect current market rates of interest for similar instruments with comparable maturities.

The Company enters into a limited number of derivatives transactions but does not enter into repurchase agreements, securities lending transactions or
master netting arrangements. Receivables or payables that result from derivatives transactions are recorded gross in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

FASB ASC Topic 820 provides a framework for the measurement of fair value and a valuation hierarchy based on the transparency of inputs used in the
valuation of assets and liabilities. Classification within the valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the resulting fair
value measurement. The valuation hierarchy contains three levels. Level 1 measurements consist of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. Level 2 measurements include significant other observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; identical
assets or liabilities in inactive markets; observable inputs such as interest rates and yield curves; and other market-corroborated inputs. Level 3
measurements include significant unobservable inputs such as internally-created valuation models. Generally, the Company does not utilize Level 3
valuation inputs to remeasure any of its assets or liabilities. However, Level 3 inputs may be used by the Company when certain long-lived assets,
including identifiable intangible assets, goodwill, and right-of-use assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis when there are indicators of
impairment. Additionally, Level 3 inputs may be used by the Company in its required annual impairment review of goodwill. Information regarding the
periodic assessment of the Company’s goodwill is included in Note 1 — Business and Significant Accounting Policies. The Company does not typically
transfer assets or liabilities between different levels of the valuation hierarchy.
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The table below presents the fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value and measured on a recurring basis in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands).

December 31,

Description 2021 2020
Assets:
Values based on Level 1 inputs:
Deferred compensation plan assets (1) $ 7,428 $ 2,589
Total Level 1 inputs 7,428 2,589
Values based on Level 2 inputs:
Deferred compensation plan assets (1) 96,627 85,932
Foreign currency forward contracts (2) 1,122 885
Total Level 2 inputs 97,749 86,817
Total Assets $ 105,177 § 89,406
Liabilities:
Values based on Level 2 inputs:
Deferred compensation plan liabilities (1) $ 110,861 $ 94,538
Foreign currency forward contracts (2) 1,213 2,399
Interest rate swap contracts (3) 53,737 109,175
Total Level 2 inputs 165,811 206,112
Total Liabilities $ 165,811 $ 206,112
(1) The Company has a deferred compensation plan for the benefit of certain highly compensated officers, managers and other key employees (see Note

&)

3

15 — Employee Benefits). The assets consist of investments in money market funds, mutual funds and company-owned life insurance contracts. The
money market funds consist of cash equivalents while the mutual fund investments consist of publicly-traded and quoted equity shares. The Company
considers the fair values of these assets to be based on Level 1 inputs, and such assets had fair values of $7.4 million and $2.6 million as of December
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The carrying amounts of the life insurance contracts equal their cash surrender values. Cash surrender value
represents the estimated amount that the Company would receive upon termination of a contract, which approximates fair value. The Company
considers life insurance contracts to be valued based on Level 2 inputs, and such assets had fair values of $96.6 million and $85.9 million at December
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The related deferred compensation plan liabilities are recorded at fair value, or the estimated amount needed to settle
the liability, which the Company considers to be a Level 2 input.

The Company enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge the effects of adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
(see Note 13 — Derivatives and Hedging). Valuation of these contracts is based on observable foreign currency exchange rates in active markets,
which the Company considers to be a Level 2 input.

The Company has interest rate swap contracts that hedge the risk of variability from interest payments on its borrowings (see Note 6 — Debt). The fair
values of interest rate swaps are based on mark-to-market valuations prepared by a third-party broker. Those valuations are based on observable
interest rates from recently executed market transactions and other observable market data, which the Company considers to be Level 2 inputs. The
Company independently corroborates the reasonableness of the valuations prepared by the third-party broker by using an electronic quotation service.

The table below presents the carrying amounts (net of deferred financing costs) and fair values of financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value in
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands). The estimated fair value of the financial instruments was derived from quoted market prices
provided by an independent dealer, which the Company considers to be a Level 2 input.
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Carrying Amount Fair Value

December 31, December 31,
Description 2021 2020 2021 2020
2028 Notes $ 791,833 $ 790,783 $ 836,632 $ 846,296
2029 Notes 593,139 — 608,346 —
2030 Notes 791,491 790,690 816,208 843,800
Total $ 2,176,463 $ 1,581,473 $ 2,261,186 $ 1,690,096

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The Company’s certain long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets, goodwill, and right-of-use assets assets are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis when there are indicators of impairment. In the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded impairment
charges of $49.5 million on right-of-use assets and other long-lived assets primarily related to certain office leases that the Company determined will no
longer be used, net of a reduction in the related lease liabilities. The impairment was derived by comparing the fair value of the impacted assets to the
carrying value of those assets as of the impairment measurement date, as required under ASC Topic 360 using Level 3 inputs. See Note 7 — Leases for
additional discussion related to these impairment charges. There were no impairment charges recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019.

Additionally, see Note 2 — Acquisitions for fair value measurements of certain assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations that are recorded at
fair value on a nonrecurring basis.

Note 15 — Employee Benefits

Defined contribution plans. The Company has savings and investment plans (the “401(k) Plans”) covering substantially all U.S. employees. Company
contributions are based on the level of employee contributions, up to a maximum of 4% of an employee’s eligible salary, subject to an annual maximum.
For 2021, the maximum Company match was $7,200. Amounts expensed in connection with the 401(k) Plans totaled $44.1 million, $43.9 million and
$44.1 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Deferred compensation plans. The Company has supplemental deferred compensation plans for the benefit of certain highly compensated officers,
managers and other key employees. The plans’ investment assets are recorded at fair value in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The value
of those assets was $104.1 million and $88.5 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 14 — Fair Value Disclosures for fair value
information). The related deferred compensation plan liabilities, which were $110.9 million and $94.5 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, are carried at fair value and are adjusted with a corresponding charge or credit to compensation expense to reflect the fair value of the amount
owed to the employees. Deferred compensation plan liabilities are recorded in Other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Compensation expense
recognized for all of the Company’s deferred compensation plans was $1.3 million, $1.9 million and $0.6 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Defined benefit pension plans. The Company has defined benefit pension plans at several of its international locations. Benefits earned and paid under
those plans are generally based on years of service and level of employee compensation. The Company’s vested benefit obligation is the actuarial present
value of the vested benefits to which an employee is entitled based on the employee’s expected date of separation or retirement. The Company’s defined
benefit pension plans are accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC Topics 715 and 960. The table below presents the components of the Company’s
defined benefit pension plan expense for the years ended December 31 (in thousands). The components of pension expense, other than service cost, are
recorded in Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

2021 2020 2019
Service cost $ 4511 $ 4421 $ 3,659
Interest cost 605 718 851
Expected return on plan assets (350) (493) (517)
Recognition of actuarial loss 576 474 237
Recognition of loss due to settlements 286 — —
Total defined benefit pension plan expense $ 5,628 § 5120 §$ 4,230
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The table below presents the key assumptions used in the computation of pension expense for the years ended December 31.

Weighted average discount rate (1)
Expected return on plan assets
Average compensation increase
Cash balance interest credit rate

2020 2019
0.94 % 1.28 % 1.81 %
1.19 % 2.04 % 2.54 %
2.58 % 2.58 % 2.58 %
0.80 % 1.20 % 1.90 %

(1) Discount rates are typically determined by using the yields on long-term corporate or government bonds in the relevant country with a duration

consistent with the expected term of the underlying pension obligations.

The table below provides information regarding changes in the projected benefit obligation of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans for the years

ended December 31 (in thousands).

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost
Interest cost

Actuarial (gain) loss due to assumption changes and plan experience (1)
Benefits payments (2)
Plan amendments

Settlements

Foreign currency impact
Projected benefit obligation at end of year (3)

The table below presents the key assumptions used in determining the projected benefit obligations at December 31.

Weighted average discount rate (4)
Average compensation increase
Cash balance interest credit rate

(1) The actuarial (gain) losses were primarily due to changes in the weighted average discount rate assumption.
(2) The Company projects benefit payments will be made in future years directly to plan participants as follows: $1.6 million in 2022; $1.7 million in
2023; $1.9 million in 2024; $2.1 million in 2025; $2.3 million in 2026; and $15.9 million in total in the five years thereafter.

(3) Measured as of December 31.

2021 2020 2019
62,297 $ 52,503 44,890
4,511 4,421 3,659
605 718 851
(2,230) 1,516 4,524
(1,198) (1,438) (830)
269 — —
(1,606) — —
(4,675) 4,577 (591)
57973 $ 62,297 52,503

2020 2019
1.24 % 0.94 % 1.28 %
2.57 % 2.58 % 2.58 %
1.20 % 0.80 % 1.20 %

(4) Discount rates are typically determined by using the yields on long-term corporate or government bonds in the relevant country with a duration

consistent with the expected term of the underlying pension obligations.

The tables below provide information regarding the funded status of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans and the related amounts recorded in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 (in thousands).



Funded status of the plans 2021 2020 2019

Projected benefit obligation $ 57,973 $ 62,297 $ 52,503
Pension plan assets at fair value (1) (29,737) (28,636) (23,444)
Funded status — shortfall (2) $ 28,236 $ 33,661 $ 29,059
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 54,701 $ 58,963 $ 49,485

Amounts recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the plans
Other liabilities — accrued pension obligation (2) $ 28,236 $ 33,661 $ 29,059

Stockholders’ equity — deferred actuarial loss (3) $ (6,672) $ (9,309) $ (8,584)

(1) The pension plan assets are held by third-party trustees and are invested in a diversified portfolio of equities, high-quality government and corporate
bonds, and other investments. The assets are primarily valued based on Level 1 and Level 2 inputs under the fair value hierarchy in FASB ASC Topic
820, with the majority of the invested assets considered to be of low-to-medium investment risk. The Company projects a future long-term rate of
return on these plan assets of 1.58%, which it believes is reasonable based on the composition of the assets and both current and projected market
conditions. Additional information regarding pension plan asset activity is provided below.

(2) Funded status — shortfall represents the amount of the projected benefit obligation that the Company has not funded with a third-party trustee. These
liabilities of the Company are recorded in Other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The level of future contributions by the Company will
vary and is dependent on a number of factors including investment returns, interest rate fluctuations, plan demographics, funding regulations and the
results of the final actuarial valuation.

(3) The deferred actuarial loss as of December 31, 2021 is recorded in AOCI/L and will be reclassified out of AOCI/L and recognized as pension expense
over approximately 13 years, subject to certain limitations set forth in FASB ASC Topic 715. The amortization of deferred actuarial losses from
AOCI/L to pension expense in each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was immaterial.

The table below provides a rollforward of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans assets for the years ended December 31 (in thousands).

2021 2020 2019
Pension plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 28,636 $ 23,444 $ 19,460
Company contributions 4,865 3,924 4,405
Benefit payments (1,198) (1,438) (830)
Actual return on plan assets 1,066 684 714
Settlements (1,606) — —
Foreign currency impact (2,026) 2,022 (305)
Pension plan assets at the end of the year $ 29,737 $ 28,636 $ 23,444

The Company also has a reinsurance asset arrangement with a large international insurance company that is intended to fund benefit payments for one of its
plans. The reinsurance asset is not a pension plan asset but is an asset of the Company. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the reinsurance asset was recorded
at its cash surrender value of $9.5 million and $10.0 million, respectively, and recorded in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company
believes that cash surrender value approximates fair value and is equivalent to a Level 2 input under the FASB’s fair value hierarchy in FASB ASC Topic
820.

Note 16 — Segment Information

The Company’s products and services are delivered through three segments — Research, Conferences and Consulting, as described below.
e Research equips executives and their teams from every function and across all industries with actionable, objective insight, guidance and tools. Our

experienced experts deliver all this value informed by a combination of practitioner-sourced and data-driven research to help our clients address their
mission critical priorities.
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* Conferences provides executives and teams across an organization the opportunity to learn, share and network. From our Gartner Symposium/Xpo
series, to industry-leading conferences focused on specific business roles and topics, to peer-driven sessions, our offerings enable attendees to
experience the best of Gartner insight and guidance.

* Consulting serves senior executives leading technology-driven strategic initiatives leveraging the power of Gartner’s actionable, objective insight.
Through custom analysis and on-the-ground support we enable optimized technology investments and stronger performance on our clients’ mission
critical priorities.

The Company evaluates segment performance and allocates resources based on gross contribution margin. Gross contribution, as presented in the table
below, is defined as operating income or loss excluding certain Cost of services and product development expenses, Selling, general and administrative
expenses, Depreciation, Amortization of intangibles, and Acquisition and integration charges. Certain bonus and fringe benefit costs included in
consolidated Cost of services and product development are not allocated to segment expense. The accounting policies used by the reportable segments are
the same as those used by the Company. There are no intersegment revenues. The Company does not identify or allocate tangible assets, including capital
expenditures, by reportable segment. Accordingly, tangible assets are not reported by segment because the information is not available by segment and is
not reviewed in the evaluation of segment performance or in making decisions regarding the allocation of resources.

The Company earns revenue from clients in many countries. Other than the United States, there is no individual country where revenues from external
clients represent 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated revenues. Additionally, no single client accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s
consolidated revenues and the loss of a single client, in management’s opinion, would not have a material adverse effect on revenues.

The tables below present information about the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31 (in thousands).

Research Conferences Consulting Consolidated

2021

Revenues $ 4,101,392 $ 214,449 $ 418,121  $ 4,733,962

Gross contribution 3,036,925 133,748 158,843 3,329,516

Corporate and other expenses (2,413,765)

Operating income $ 915,751
2020

Revenues $ 3,602,892 $ 120,140 $ 376,371  $ 4,099,403

Gross contribution 2,597,852 57,302 115,744 2,770,898

Corporate and other expenses (2,280,748)

Operating income $ 490,150
2019

Revenues $ 3,374,548 $ 476,869 $ 393,904 $ 4,245,321

Gross contribution 2,351,720 241,757 118,450 2,711,927

Corporate and other expenses (2,341,840)

Operating income $ 370,087

The table below provides a reconciliation of total segment gross contribution to net income for the years ended December 31 (in thousands).
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2021 2020 2019

Total segment gross contribution $ 3,329,516 $ 2,770,898 $ 2,711,927
Costs and expenses:
Cost of services and product development - unallocated (1) 39,647 16,519 17,174
Selling, general and administrative 2,155,658 2,038,963 2,103,424
Depreciation and amortization 212,405 218,984 211,779
Acquisition and integration charges 6,055 6,282 9,463
Operating income 915,751 490,150 370,087
Interest expense and other, net (98,191) (119,203) (92,273)
Gain on event cancellation insurance claims 152,310 — —
Loss from divested operations — — (2,075)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (44,814) —
Less: Provision for income taxes 176,310 59,388 42,449
Net income $ 793,560 $ 266,745 $ 233,290

(1) The unallocated amounts consist of certain bonus and fringe costs recorded in consolidated Cost of services and product development that are not
allocated to segment expense. The Company’s policy is to allocate bonuses to segments at 100% of a segment employee’s target bonus. Amounts
above or below 100% are absorbed by corporate.

Disaggregated revenue information by reportable segment for the three years ended December 31, 2021 is presented in Note 9 — Revenue and Related
Matters. Long-lived asset information by geographic location as of December 31 is summarized in the table below (in thousands).

2021 2020
Long-lived assets (1):
United States and Canada $ 706,854 $ 820,973
Europe, Middle East and Africa 298,083 265,782
Other International 125,572 153,609
Total long-lived assets $ 1,130,509 $ 1,240,364

(1) Excludes goodwill and intangible assets for all dates.

Note 17 — Contingencies

Legal Matters. The Company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company records a provision
for pending litigation in its consolidated financial statements when it is determined that an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of the loss can
be reasonably estimated. The Company believes that the potential liability, if any, in excess of amounts already accrued from all proceedings, claims and
litigation will not have a material effect on its financial position, cash flows or results of operations when resolved in a future period.

Indemnifications. The Company has various agreements that may obligate it to indemnify the other party with respect to certain matters. Generally, these
indemnification clauses are included in contracts arising in the normal course of business under which the Company customarily agrees to hold the other
party harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations related to matters such as title to assets sold and licensed or certain intellectual
property rights. It is not possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future payments under these indemnification agreements due to the
conditional nature of the Company’s obligations and the unique facts of each particular agreement. Historically, payments made by the Company under
these agreements have not been material. As of December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any material payment obligations under any such
indemnification agreements.

Note 18 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for bad debt. The table below summarizes the activity in the Company’s allowance for losses for the years ended
December 31 (in thousands).
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Balance at Additions Deductions Balance at

Beginning Charged to from the End
of Year Expense Reserve of Year
2021 $ 10,000 $ 2,800 $ (6,300) $ 6,500
2020 $ 8,000 $ 16,000 $ (14,000) $ 10,000
2019 $ 7,700 $ 14,000 $ (13,700) $ 8,000

Note 19 — Subsequent Event

On February 3, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized incremental share repurchases of up to an additional $500.0 million of Gartner’s
common stock. This authorization is in addition to the previously authorized repurchases of up to $2.8 billion, which as of the end of January 2022 had
approximately $527.0 million remaining.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Gartner, Inc.

Date:  February 23, 2022 By: /s/ Eugene A. Hall
Eugene A. Hall
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below appoints Eugene A. Hall and Craig W. Safian and each of them, acting individually, as his or her attorney-in-
fact, each with full power of substitution, for him or her in all capacities, to sign all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with
appropriate exhibits and other related documents, with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Each of the undersigned ratifies and confirms his or her
signatures as they may be signed by his or her attorney-in-fact to any amendments to this report. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name Title Date

/s/ Eugene A. Hall Director and Chief Executive Officer February 23, 2022
Eugene A. Hall (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Craig W. Safian Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 23, 2022
Craig W. Safian (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Peter E. Bisson Director February 23, 2022
Peter E. Bisson

/s/ Richard J. Bressler Director February 23, 2022
Richard J. Bressler

/s/ Raul E. Cesan Director February 23, 2022
Raul E. Cesan

/s/ Karen E. Dykstra Director February 23, 2022
Karen E. Dykstra

/s/ Diana S. Ferguson Director February 23, 2022
Diana S. Ferguson

/s/ Anne Sutherland Fuchs Director February 23, 2022
Anne Sutherland Fuchs

/s/ William O. Grabe Director February 23, 2022
William O. Grabe

/s/ Stephen G. Pagliuca Director February 23, 2022
Stephen G. Pagliuca

/s/ Eileen M. Serra Director February 23, 2022
Eileen M. Serra

/s/ James C. Smith Director February 23, 2022

James C. Smith
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2019, Gartner, Inc. (“Gartner,” “we,” “us” or “our”) had one class of securities registered under
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): our common stock, par value $0.0005 per
share (the “common stock™).

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK

We are authorized to issue 250,000,000 shares of common stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01
per share.

The principal stock exchange on which our common stock is listed is the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“IT.” All outstanding shares of common stock are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

The following description of the terms of our common stock is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to
our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our by-laws, each of which is incorporated by reference as exhibits to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.6 is a part.

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted for action by our
stockholders. There is no provision for cumulative voting with regard to the election of directors.

Dividend and Liquidation Rights

Subject to the preferences applicable to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at any time, holders of our common
stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by our board of directors from funds legally available therefor
and are entitled, in the event of a liquidation, to share ratably in all assets available for distribution after payment of all debts.

Other Rights

The holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights and no rights to convert their common stock into any other
securities, and our common stock is not subject to any redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Additionally, a stockholder or group of stockholders may nominate director candidates and have the candidates included
in our proxy materials, provided that the stockholder(s) and nominee(s) satisfy the requirements specified in our amended and
restated articles of incorporation and our by-laws.

Anti-Takeover Provisions of our Articles of Incorporation, our By-Laws and Delaware Law
Various provisions contained in our amended and restated articles of incorporation, our by-laws and Delaware law could

delay or discourage some transactions involving an actual or potential change in control of Gartner or our management and may
limit the ability of our stockholders to remove current management or approve transactions that our stockholders may



deem to be in their best interests. Provisions in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our by-laws:

+ authorize our board of directors to establish one or more series of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which
can be determined by the board of directors at the time of issuance;

* do not authorize cumulative voting;
+ authorize the board of directors to amend, alter or repeal the by-laws and to adopt new by-laws;
+ provide that only the board of directors or the chief executive officer may call a special meeting of the stockholders;

* in connection with stockholder meetings, provide an advanced written notice procedure with respect to stockholder
nomination for directors and bringing other business; and

« provide that our directors may fill any vacancies on our board of directors, including newly created board seats
resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors and vacancies resulting from the death, resignation,
retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other cause.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which regulates, subject to some
exceptions, acquisitions of publicly held Delaware corporations. In general, Section 203 prohibits us from engaging in a
“business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date the person becomes an
interested stockholder, unless:

» our board of directors approved the business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested
stockholder prior to the date the person attained this status;

« upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the person becoming an interested stockholder, the person
owned at least 85 percent of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares
owned by persons who are directors and also officers and issued under employee stock plans under which employee
participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered
in a tender or exchange offer; or

* on or subsequent to the date the person became an interested stockholder, our board of directors approved the business
combination and the stockholders other than the interested stockholder authorized the transaction at an annual or
special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3 percent of the outstanding stock not owned
by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include:

+ any merger or consolidation involving us and the interested stockholder;



+ any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10 percent or more of our assets;

* in general, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by us of any of our stock to the interested
stockholder;

* any transaction involving us that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of our stock owned by the
interested stockholders; and

+ the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges, or other financial
benefits provided by or through us.

In general, Section 203 defines an “interested stockholder” as any person who, together with the person’s affiliates and
associates, owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15 percent or
more of a corporation’s voting stock.



GARTNER, INC.
LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHT AGREEMENT

Gartner, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants you (or the “Grantee”) a stock appreciation right (the “SAR”) under the
Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”), to exercise in exchange for a payment from
the Company pursuant to this SAR. The date of this Agreement is February 9, 2022 (the “Grant Date”). In general, the latest
date this SAR will expire is February 9, 2029 (the “Expiration Date”). However, as provided in Appendix A (attached hereto),
this SAR may expire earlier than the Expiration Date. Subject to the provisions of Appendix A and of the Plan, the principal
features of this SAR are as follows:

Number of Shares to which this SAR pertains: As provided in the notice of grant.
Exercise Price per Share: As provided in the notice of grant.
Vesting Schedule:

Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Shares to which this SAR pertains shall vest on each of the first four anniversaries of
the date hereof, or February 9, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026, subject to Grantee’s Continued Service through each such date.



APPENDIX A

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

1. Grant of SAR. The Company hereby grants to the Grantee under the Plan, as a separate incentive in connection
with his or her employment and not in lieu of any salary or other compensation for his or her services, a Stock Appreciation Right
(“SAR”) pertaining to all or any part of an aggregate of Shares shown on the attached notice of grant, which SAR entitles the
Grantee to exercise the SAR in exchange for Shares in the amount determined under Paragraph 9 below.

2. Exercise Price. The purchase price per Share for this SAR (the “Exercise Price”) shall be the Fair Market Value of
a Share on the Grant Date, as reflected in the notice of grant.

3. Vesting Schedule.

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

General Rule. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the right to exercise this SAR will vest in
accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the notice of grant which constitutes part of this
Agreement. Shares scheduled to vest on any date will vest only if the Grantee remains in Continued
Service (as defined below) through such date. Subject to the following subsections of this Paragraph 3,
should the Grantee’s Continued Service end at any time (the “Termination Date”) while the SAR remains
outstanding, any unvested portion of this SAR will be immediately cancelled.

Termination of Continued Service due to Death or Disability. If the Grantee’s termination of Continued
Service is due to the Grantee’s death or Disability, the unvested portion of this SAR shall vest in full on the
Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if a Grantee’s Continued Service terminates due to his or her
death or Disability and the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in accordance with the requirements set
forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement, such termination of Continued Service shall be governed by this
Paragraph 3(b) and shall not be treated as a Retirement.

Termination of Continued Service due to Retirement-Eligible Voluntary Resignation During the Year of
Grant. If termination of Continued Service is due to a voluntary resignation and the Grantee is eligible for
a Retirement in accordance with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement, occurring
during the calendar year in which the grant was made, the unvested portion of the SAR shall continue to
vest after the Termination Date as set forth in the notice of grant, despite the termination of Continued
Service (subject to Paragraph 17(c) hereof); provided, that the number of Shares to which this SAR
pertains will be reduced to equal the percentage of days in that year in which the Grantee was in Continued
Service (i.e., for the avoidance of doubt, the number of Shares will equal the number specified in the notice
of grant, multiplied by the number of days from January 1 for which the Grantee was in Continued Service,
divided by 365).

Termination of Continued Service due to Retirement-Eligible Voluntary Resignation After the Year of Grant
or Retirement-Eligible Termination without Cause. If the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in accordance
with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement and his or her termination of Continued
Service is due to (i) a voluntary resignation



occurring any time after the calendar year in which the grant was made, or (ii) an involuntary termination
without Cause, other than pursuant to a Qualifying Termination (which treatment is governed exclusively
by Paragraph 3(e)), the entire unvested portion of the SAR shall continue to vest after the Termination Date
as set forth in the notice of grant, despite the termination of Continued Service, subject to Paragraph 17(c)
hereof.

(e) Qualifying Termination following a Change of Control. Unless the Grantee’s employment, severance or
other written agreement with the Company provides more favorable treatment, in the event that the
Grantee’s Continued Service is terminated without Cause (including as a result of the elimination of his or
her position) during the twelve (12) months following a Change of Control (a “Qualifying Termination™),
the unvested portion of the SAR shall vest on the Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) to the
extent that the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in accordance with the requirements set forth in
Paragraph 28 of this Agreement and he or she experiences a Qualifying Termination, the vesting provisions
set forth in this Paragraph 3(e) (not Paragraph 3(d)) shall control, and (ii) Section 13.10 of the Plan does
not apply to the SAR granted hereunder.

® Other Conditions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the vesting terms set forth in this
Paragraph 3 are contingent upon the Grantee being in full compliance with all the terms of this Agreement
at the time of vesting. The Committee, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some
lesser portion of the balance, of the SARs at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated,
such SARs will be considered as having vested as of the date specified by the Committee.

4. Termination of SAR. In the event of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service, the Grantee shall have the
right to exercise any vested but unexercised portion of this SAR for the timeframe indicated in the table below following the date
of such termination of Continued Service. Any unvested portion of this SAR automatically will terminate and be forfeited (at no
cost to the Company) on the first day on which it no longer is possible such portion to become vested:



Termination Scenario Post-Termination Exercise Period
* Involuntary termination for Cause Earlier of Expiration Date or ninety (90) days after the date
* Involuntary termination without Cause (not Retirement- of termination of Continued Service (excluding any period
eligible) during which Grantee is prohibited from trading under the
* Voluntary resignation (not Retirement-eligible) Company’s Insider Trading Policy)
* Death Earlier of Expiration Date or twelve (12) months after the
+ Disability date of termination of Continued Service
* Qualifying Termination
» Retirement-Eligible Separation (defined below) Through the Expiration Date

For purposes of this Agreement, a “Retirement-Eligible Separation” means a termination of Continued Service due to
either a Retirement-eligible involuntary termination without Cause or a Retirement-eligible voluntary resignation (whether during
or after the year of grant), as described in Paragraph 3(c) or Paragraph 3(d), as applicable.

5. Death of Grantee. In the event that the Grantee dies while in the employ of the Company and/or a parent of the
Company or Subsidiary, the administrator or executor of the Grantee’s estate (or such other person to whom the SAR is
transferred pursuant to the Grantee’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution), may exercise any vested but
unexercised portion of the SAR in accordance with Paragraph 4 above. Any such transferee must furnish the Company (a) written
notice of his or her status as a transferee, (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer of this
SAR and compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to such transfer, and (c) written acceptance of the terms and
conditions of this SAR as set forth in this Agreement.

6. Persons Eligible to Exercise SAR. Except as provided in Paragraph 5 above or as otherwise determined by the
Committee in its discretion, this SAR shall be exercisable during the Grantee’s lifetime only by the Grantee.

7. SAR is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in Paragraph 5 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby shall not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law
or otherwise) and shall not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign,
pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this grant, or of any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale
under any execution, attachment or similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately shall
become null and void. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Grantee may transfer (not for consideration and for bona fide estate
planning purposes) the Stock Appreciation Rights awarded under this Agreement to a revocable estate planning trust that is
established solely for the benefit of Grantee and his or her immediate family. Any such transfer will be permitted only if it is in
compliance with such rules and procedures as the Company may establish from time to time. Among other things, Grantee must
acknowledge and agree that (a) for U.S. income tax purposes, all taxable income from the Stock Appreciation Rights will be
reported to Grantee alone, (b) if Grantee proposes to change the nature or character of the transferee trust, Grantee first must
inform the Company and the Company may require that the Stock Appreciation Rights be transferred back to Grantee alone, and
(c) no additional other or further transfers of the Stock Appreciation Rights will be permitted under any circumstance.

8. Exercise of SAR. This SAR may be exercised by the person then entitled to do so as to any Shares, and such
exercise must be in accordance with the Company’s published exercise procedures, as in effect from time to time, which may
require the Grantee to exercise this SAR




through the Company’s designated broker or administrator. Payment of the aggregate exercise price and all taxes that the
Company determines are required to be withheld by reason of the exercise of this SAR or as are otherwise required under
Paragraph 10 below shall be pursuant to a net exercise, whereby upon exercise of the SAR, Shares having a Fair Market Value
equal to the aggregate exercise price applicable to the portion of the SAR being exercised, and all applicable withholdings, shall
be withheld from the Shares that the Grantee would otherwise have received pursuant to Paragraph 9 below.

9. Receipt of SAR Amount. Upon exercise of this SAR, the Grantee shall be entitled to receive the number of Shares
(the “SAR Amount”), subject to Paragraph 8, determined by (i) multiplying (a) the difference between the Fair Market Value of
a Share over the Exercise Price; times (b) the number of Shares with respect to which this SAR is exercised, and (ii) dividing the
product of (a) and (b) by the Fair Market Value of a Share. The SAR Amount shall be paid to the Grantee solely in whole Shares;
any fractional amount shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share. Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of this SAR may
be delivered in the form and manner determined by the Company, including, without limitation, in book form or listed in street
name with a brokerage company of the Company’s choice. For purposes of this Paragraph 9, Fair Market Value has the same
meaning as in the Plan or as otherwise determined by the Company or its delegate.

10.  Tax Withholding and Payment Obligations. When the Shares are issued as payment for exercised SARs, the
Grantee will recognize immediate U.S. taxable income if the Grantee is a U.S. taxpayer. If the Grantee is a non-U.S. taxpayer, the
Grantee will be subject to applicable taxes in his or her jurisdiction. The Company (or the employing parent of the Company or
Subsidiary) will withhold a portion of the Shares otherwise issuable in payment for exercised SARs that have an aggregate
market value sufficient to pay the federal, state and local income, employment and any other applicable taxes required to be
withheld by the Company (or the employing parent of the Company or Subsidiary) with respect to the Shares, not to exceed the
amount determined by using the maximum federal, state or local marginal income tax rates applicable to the Grantee or the
Company, as applicable, with respect to the Shares on the date that the amount of tax to be withheld or remitted is to be
determined. No fractional Shares will be withheld or issued pursuant to the exercise of SARs and the issuance of Shares
thereunder. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company (or the employing parent of the Company or
Subsidiary) may instead, in its discretion, withhold an amount necessary to pay the applicable taxes from the Grantee’s paycheck,
with no withholding of Shares. In the event the withholding requirements are not satisfied through the withholding of Shares (or
through the Grantee’s paycheck, as indicated above), no payment will be made to the Grantee (or his or her estate) for SARs
unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as determined by the Committee) have been made by the Grantee with respect to the
payment of any income and other taxes which the Company determines must be withheld or collected with respect to such SARs.
By accepting this award of SARs, the Grantee expressly consents to the withholding of Shares and to any cash or Share
withholding as provided for in this Paragraph 10. All income and other taxes related to the SAR award and any Shares delivered
in payment thereof are the sole responsibility of the Grantee. In no event will the Company reimburse the Grantee for any taxes
that may be imposed on the Grantee as result of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section
409A”).

11.  Suspension of Exercisability. If at any time the Company shall determine, in its discretion, that the listing,
registration or qualification of the SARs upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory authority, is necessary or desirable as a condition of the exercise of SARs hereunder,
this SAR may not be exercised, in whole or in part, unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval
shall have been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company.



The Company shall make reasonable efforts to meet the requirements of any such state or federal law or securities exchange and
to obtain any such consent or approval of any such governmental authority.

12. No Rights of Stockholder. Neither the Grantee nor any person claiming under or through the Grantee shall have
any of the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until
certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book entry form) shall have been issued, recorded on the records of the
Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to the Grantee (including through electronic delivery to a brokerage
account). After such issuance, recordation and delivery, the Grantee will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with
respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.

13. Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under the Agreement to single or multiple
assignees, and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. The rights and obligations
of the Grantee under this Agreement may be assigned only with the prior written consent of the Company.

14. No Effect on Employment. The Grantee’s employment with the Company and any parent of the Company or
Subsidiary is on an at-will basis only, subject to the provisions of applicable law. Accordingly, subject to any written, express
employment contract with the Grantee, nothing in this Agreement or the Plan shall confer upon the Grantee any right to continue
to be employed by the Company or any parent of the Company or Subsidiary or shall interfere with or restrict in any way the
rights of the Company or the employing parent of the Company or Subsidiary, which are hereby expressly reserved, to terminate
the employment of the Grantee at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without good cause. Such reservation of rights can
be modified only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company or the parent of the
Company or Subsidiary employing the Grantee.

15.  Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement shall be addressed
to the Company, in care of its Secretary at the Company’s headquarters, P.O. Box 10212, 56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, CT
06902-7700, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.

16.  Maximum Term of SAR. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this SAR is not exercisable after
the Expiration Date.

17. Non-Competition. (a)(i) “Competitive Acts” shall mean: (A) the development, production, marketing or selling of
(or assisting others to develop, produce, market or sell): (x) syndicated research that competes with the Company or its
Subsidiaries; or (y) a product or service which is competitive with the existing or planned products or services of the Company
with which Grantee was involved in or managed at any time during the last twenty-four (24) months of the Grantee’s Continued
Service; and (B) the direct or indirect provision of services to, or solicitation of, the Company’s clients or known prospects with
whom Grantee had contact, managed, or became aware of as a result of being employed by the Company, for the purposes of
developing, producing, marketing or selling such competitive products or services.

(ii) Grantee understands and agrees that the Company’s business is global in nature and that its clients are located
throughout the world; therefore, a territorial limitation on the non-competition covenants set forth in Paragraph 17 would not
allow the Company to adequately protect its legitimate business interests, and the absence of such a limitation is entirely
reasonable under these circumstances. In addition, Grantee agrees that the provisions of this Paragraph 17 are



reasonable to protect and preserve the Company’s legitimate business interests, including the protection of the Company’s
Confidential Information (as defined below) and the Company’s substantial investment made to develop and retain its
Confidential Information, client base, accounts and related goodwill.

(iii) The Company may, in its sole discretion, waive any portion of the Grantee’s obligations contained in Paragraph 17.
No such waiver shall be valid unless directly provided to Grantee, in writing, by the Company’s General Counsel or his/her
designee.

(b) Grantee agrees that, for two (2) years following the termination of his or her Continued Service for any reason
whatsoever (the “Restricted Period”), the Grantee will not, on his or her own behalf or on behalf of any other person or entity
(whether as a consultant, analyst, sales person, independent contractor, independent business venturer, partner, member,
employee or otherwise), directly or indirectly: (i) engage in any Competitive Acts; and/or (ii) entice, encourage, cause or invite
any of the Company’s clients, known prospects, and vendors to discontinue, diminish, or otherwise adversely modify the business
done with the Company, or otherwise interfere with the relationship between the Company and its clients, known prospects, and
vendors.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service due
to a Retirement-Eligible Separation prior to the second (2"9) anniversary of the Grant Date, the Restricted Period shall initially
last for two (2) years following such termination of Continued Service (the “Initial Retirement Restricted Period”); provided,
that in order to receive vesting of any portion of the SAR following the end of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, the
Grantee must comply with the following (in any event, subject to continued compliance with the terms of the Plan and this
Agreement):

(i) Initial Post-Restriction Tranche. Provide the Company’s Capital Appreciation Team (via email at
Equity@Gartner.com) and the Company’s General Counsel with (x) no less than five (5) business days prior to the expiration of
the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, a written acknowledgment that, in consideration for vesting of the first tranche of the
SAR that is scheduled to vest after the Initial Retirement Restricted Period (the “Initial Post-Restriction Tranche”), he or she is
electing to, and shall, be subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 17 through the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-
Restriction Tranche (and in such case, the Restricted Period shall be extended through such vesting date), and (y) no less than
five (5) business days prior to the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, a written confirmation that he or
she has complied with the provisions of this Paragraph 17 from the end of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period and will
comply with such provisions through the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche. In the event that the
Grantee does not timely provide either or both of such notices, any remaining unvested portion of this SAR will be immediately
cancelled upon the expiration of the applicable deadline set forth in this Paragraph 17(c)(i).

(ii) Second Post-Restriction Tranche. To the extent that any portion of the SAR remains unvested
following vesting of the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, provide the Company’s Capital Appreciation Team (via email at
Equity@Gartner.com) and the Company’s General Counsel with (x) no less than five (5) business days prior to the vesting of the
Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, a written acknowledgment that, in consideration for the final tranche of the SAR that is
scheduled to vest after the Initial Retirement Restricted Period (the “Second Post-Restriction Tranche”), he or she is electing to,
and shall, be subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 17 through the applicable vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction
Tranche (and in such case, the Restricted Period shall be extended through such vesting date), and (y) no less than five (5)
business days prior to the applicable vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction Tranche, a



written confirmation that he or she has complied with the provisions of this Paragraph 17 from the end of the vesting date for the
Initial Post-Restriction Tranche and will comply with such provisions through the vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction
Tranche. In the event that the Grantee does not timely provide either or both of such notices, any remaining unvested portion of
this SAR will be immediately cancelled upon the expiration of the applicable deadline set forth in this Paragraph 17(c)(ii).

(iii)Illustration. For illustrative purposes only, if the Grantee were to incur a termination of Continued
Service due to a Retirement-Eligible Separation three months after the Grant Date, (x) the Initial Retirement Restricted Period
would extend to the date that is two years and three months following the Grant Date (and the first two tranches of the SAR
would vest during the Initial Retirement Restricted Period on the first and second anniversaries of the Grant Date, subject to the
Grantee’s continued compliance with the terms of this Agreement), (y) in order to receive vesting of the Initial Post-Restriction
Tranche, the Grantee would be required to (A) give written acknowledgment of continued applicability of this Paragraph 17
through the third anniversary of the Grant Date (i.e., the vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche), no less than five
business days prior to expiration of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and (B) give written confirmation of compliance
with this Paragraph 17 through the third anniversary of the Grant Date, no less than five business days prior to the third
anniversary of the Grant Date, and (z) in order to receive vesting of the Second Post-Restriction Tranche, the Grantee would be
required to (A) give written acknowledgment of continued applicability of this Paragraph 17 through the fourth anniversary of the
Grant Date (i.e., the vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction Tranche), no less than five business days prior to the third
anniversary of the Grant Date, and (B) give written confirmation of compliance with this Paragraph 17 through the fourth
anniversary of the Grant Date, no less than five business days prior to the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date.

(d) Grantee agrees that, in addition to any and all other remedies available to the Company (at law, in equity, or as
otherwise set forth in this Agreement), the Company shall be entitled to liquidated damages for any violation of Paragraph 17
during the Restricted Period (or, in the event of a Retirement-Eligible Separation, the Initial Retirement Restricted Period) in an
amount equal to: (i) the final twelve (12) months’ salary, commissions, and bonus paid to the Grantee; and (ii) an additional
amount equal to the aggregate dollar value of shares underlying any stock appreciation rights, performance stock units, and/or
restricted stock units that vested (or, in the case of stock appreciation rights, vested and Grantee exercised) at any time during the
twelve (12) months prior to the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service. The dollar value of each such share shall be equal to
the closing price of Gartner stock on the date of grant of the applicable stock appreciation right, performance stock unit or
restricted stock unit. To the extent that Grantee chooses to receive the Initial Retirement Post-Restriction Tranche and/or the
Second Post-Restriction Tranche but violates the provisions of Paragraphs 17(c)(i) and/or (ii), respectively, in addition to any and
all other remedies available to the Company (at law, in equity, or otherwise set forth in this Agreement), the Company shall be
entitled to liquidated damages equal to an amount equal to the aggregate dollar value of shares underlying any stock appreciation
rights, performance stock units, and/or restricted stock units that vested (or, in the case of stock appreciation rights, vested and
Grantee exercised) at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to the violation of such Paragraph. Grantee agrees that the
liquidated damages set forth herein are a reasonable approximation of the damages experienced by the Company for a violation
of Paragraph 17, and are not to be deemed a penalty of any kind.

(e) Grantee acknowledges that the time, geographic and scope limitations of the non-competition obligation set forth
herein are fair and reasonable in all respects, and that Grantee will not be precluded from gainful employment if obligated to
comply with the provisions hereof. To the extent a court of appropriate jurisdiction finds the duration and/or geographic scope of
the non-competition or non-solicitation restrictions to be unenforceable under applicable law, then it is the



intention of the parties that such restriction be enforced to the fullest extent which the court deems reasonable. In the event of
Grantee’s breach or violation of this Paragraph 17, or good faith allegation by the Company of such breach or violation, the
Restricted Period, the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 17(c)(i) and (ii) (as applicable),
shall be tolled until such breach or violation, or allegation thereof, has been duly cured or resolved.

(f) During the Restricted Period, the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 17(c)(i)
and (ii) (as applicable), the Grantee will notify (in writing and not less than 72 hours in advance) the Company’s General Counsel
if he or she intends to become an employee or other service provider of any entity other than the Company (for example, but not
by way of limitation, as an employee, consultant, analyst, sales person, independent contractor, agent, independent business
venturer, partner or member).

18.  Non-Solicitation and No-Hire. The Grantee further agrees that, during the Restricted Period, the Initial Retirement
Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 17(c)(i) and (ii) (as applicable), the Grantee will not, directly or
indirectly solicit, entice, or recruit employees of the Company to leave its employ, or offer or cause to be offered employment to
any person who was employed by the Company at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to the termination of Grantee’s
Continued Service. General mass solicitations of employment that are not directed at the Company or any employee(s) of the
Company shall not be prohibited by this Paragraph 18. For purposes of this Paragraph 18 (and the preceding Paragraph 17), the
“Company” shall include the Company and its Subsidiaries.

19.  Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this SAR contained herein, this Agreement
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties
hereto.

20. Governing Law. This Agreement and the grant of SARs shall be construed in accordance with and governed by
the laws of the State of Delaware, other than its conflicts of law provisions; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing,
Sections 17 and 18 of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Connecticut, without regard to its conflicts of
law provisions.

21. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict
between one or more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall
govern. Capitalized terms and phrases used and not defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

22, Committee Authority. The Committee shall have all discretion, power, and authority to interpret the Plan and this
Agreement and to adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any SARs have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Committee in good faith shall be final and binding upon the Grantee, the
Company and all other interested persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law. No member of the
Committee shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or
this Agreement.

23. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company, in its sole discretion, may decide to deliver any documents
related to Stock Appreciation Rights awarded under the Plan or future Stock Appreciation Rights that may be awarded under the
Plan by electronic means. The Grantee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate
in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated
by the Company.



24.  Captions. The captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for the
interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

25.  Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable,
such provision shall be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability shall not be construed to have any effect on, the
remaining provisions of this Agreement.

26.  Modifications to the Agreement; Clawback. The Plan and this Agreement together the entire understanding of the
parties on the subjects covered. The Grantee expressly warrants that he or she is not executing this Agreement in reliance on any
promises, representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. Except as otherwise provided herein, modifications
to this Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the
Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this
Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of the Grantee, to avoid imposition
of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A prior to the actual payment of Shares pursuant to this SAR,
provided that such revision would not materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this
Agreement. In no event will the Company pay or reimburse the Grantee for any taxes or other costs imposed on account of
Section 409A. Additionally, this Agreement and the award made hereunder shall be subject to any clawback policy which the
Company may adopt from time to time as required by law or otherwise.

27.  Amendment, Suspension, Termination. By accepting this SAR, the Grantee expressly warrants that he or she has
received an SAR to purchase stock under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. The Grantee
understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time.

28. Defined Terms: Capitalized terms used in this Agreement without definition will have the meanings provided for
in the Plan. When used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms will have the following meanings:

“Confidential Information” means all information related to the operation of the Company's business and
knowledge of the Company's assets, including, but not limited to, (i) financial information, (ii) products, (iii)
product and services costs, prices, profits and sales, (iv) forecasts, (v) computer programs, (vi) data bases (and the
documentation and information contained therein), (vii) computer access codes and similar information, (viii)
software ideas, (ix) know-how, technologies, concepts and designs, (x) research projects and all information
connected with research and development efforts, (xi) records, (xii) business relationships, methods and
recommendations, (xiii) client lists (including identities of clients and prospective clients, identities of individual
contracts at business entities which are clients or prospective clients, client spending, preferences, business or
habits), (xiv) subscription or consultant termination dates, (xv) personnel files, (xvi) competitive analyses, (xvii)
other confidential or proprietary information or trade secrets that have not been made available to the general
public by the Company's senior management, and (xviii) non-public information provided to the Company by its
clients, and other tangible or intangible assets and other information obtained by the Grantee in the course of his or
her employment with the Company.

“Continued Service” means that the Grantee’s employment relationship is not interrupted or terminated by the
Grantee, the Company, or any parent or Subsidiary of
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the Company. The Grantee’s employment relationship will not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) any
leave of absence approved in accordance with the Company’s written personnel policies, including sick leave,
family leave, military leave, or any other personal leave; or (ii) transfers between locations of the Company or
between the Company and any parent, Subsidiary or successor; provided, however, that, unless otherwise provided
in the Company’s written personnel policies, in this Agreement or under applicable laws, rules or regulations, or
unless the Committee has otherwise expressly provided for different treatment with respect to this Agreement,

(x) no such leave may exceed ninety (90) days, and (y) any vesting shall cease on the ninety-first (91%)
consecutive date of any leave of absence during which the Grantee’s employment relationship is deemed to
continue and will not recommence until such date, if any, upon which the Grantee resumes service with the
Company, its parent, Subsidiary or successor. If the Grantee resumes such service in accordance with the terms of
the Company’s military leave policy, upon resumption of service, the Grantee will be given vesting credit for the
full duration of the Grantee’s leave of absence. Continuous employment will be deemed interrupted and
terminated for the Grantee if the Grantee’s weekly work hours change from full time to part time. Part-time status
for the purpose of vesting continuation will be determined in accordance with policies adopted by the Company
from time to time, which policies, if any, shall supersede the determination of part-time status set forth in the
Company’s posted “employee status definitions”.

“Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.

“Retirement” means termination of the Grantee’s employment in accordance with the Company’s retirement
policies, as in effect from time to time, if on the date of such termination, the Grantee is at least 55 years old, and
his or her Continued Service has extended for at least ten (10) years.

Your acceptance of this grant indicates your agreement and understanding that this grant is subject to all of the terms and
conditions contained in the Plan and this Agreement, which includes the notice of grant. Your acceptance of this grant indicates
your agreement and understanding that this grant is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in the Plan and this Award
Agreement, which includes the notice of grant and this Agreement.

As a condition to receiving this Stock Appreciation Right grant and in consideration of such grant, you accept and
agree to abide by the Agreement Regarding Certain Conditions of Employment provided to you in connection with such
grant, including but not limited to the confidentiality and post-employment restrictions on competition set forth therein.
You hereby ratify, affirm and consent to those terms and conditions.
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GARTNER, INC.
LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

Gartner, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants you (or the “Grantee”) the number of performance stock units indicated in
the notice of grant (a “PSU” or the “PSUs”) under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the
“Plan”) (this type of Award is referred to as Performance Shares under the Plan). The date of this Agreement is February 9, 2022
(the “Grant Date”). Subject to the provisions of Appendix A, Appendix B (each attached hereto) and of the Plan, the principal
features of this PSU grant are as follows:

Target Number of PSUs: As provided in the notice of grant, subject to adjustment as provided under Performance
Adjustment below.

Performance Adjustment: The performance conditions and performance goals applicable to the PSUs are as set forth in
Appendix B.

Vesting Schedule:

Twenty-five percent (25%) of the PSUs eligible to vest (if any, as determined as set forth on Appendix B) shall vest on
each of the first four anniversaries of the date hereof, or February 9, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026, subject to Grantee’s Continued
Service through each such date.



APPENDIX A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS

1. Grant of PSUs. The Company hereby grants to the Grantee under the Plan, as a separate incentive in connection
with his or her employment and not in lieu of any salary or other compensation for his or her services, the number of
Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”) indicated in the notice of grant, subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Agreement
and the Plan. This type of Award is referred to as “Performance Shares” under the Plan.

2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. Each PSU has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of
grant. Unless and until the PSUs have vested in the manner set forth in Paragraphs 3 or 4, the Grantee will have no right to
payment of such PSUs. Prior to actual payment of any vested PSUs, such PSUs will represent an unfunded and unsecured
obligation of the Company. Payment of any vested PSUs will be made in Shares only. In no event will the Grantee be permitted,
directly or indirectly, to specify the taxable year of the payment of any PSUs payable under the Agreement.

3. Vesting Schedule.

(a) General Rule. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the PSUs awarded by this Agreement are
scheduled to vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the notice of grant. PSUs scheduled
to vest on a particular date will vest only if the Grantee remains in Continued Service (as defined below)
through such date. Subject to the following subsections of this Paragraph 3, should the Grantee’s
Continued Service end at any time (the “Termination Date”) while the PSUs remain outstanding, any
unvested PSUs will be immediately cancelled.

(b) Termination of Continued Service due to Death or Disability. If the Grantee’s termination of Continued
Service is due to the Grantee’s death or Disability, the unvested portion of the PSUs shall vest in full on the
Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if a Grantee’s Continued Service terminates due to his or her
death or Disability and the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in accordance with the requirements set
forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement, such termination of Continued Service shall be governed by this
Paragraph 3(b) and shall not be treated as a Retirement.

(o) Termination of Continued Service due to Retirement-Eligible Voluntary Resignation During the Year of
Grant. If termination of Continued Service is due to a voluntary resignation and the Grantee is eligible for
a Retirement in accordance with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement, occurring
during the calendar year in which the grant was made, the unvested portion of the PSUs shall continue to
vest after the Termination Date as set forth in the notice of grant, despite the termination of Continued
Service (subject to Paragraph 13(c) hereof); provided, that the target number of PSUs so granted will be
reduced to equal the percentage of days in that year in which the Grantee was in Continued Service (i.e.,
for the avoidance of doubt, the target number of PSUs will equal the number specified in the notice of
grant, multiplied by the number of days from January 1 for which the Grantee was in Continued Service,
divided by 365).



(d) Termination of Continued Service due to Retirement-Eligible Voluntary Resignation After the Year of Grant
or Retirement-Eligible Termination without Cause. If the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in accordance
with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement and his or her termination of Continued
Service is due to (i) a voluntary resignation occurring any time after the calendar year in which the grant
was made, or (ii) an involuntary termination without Cause, other than pursuant to a Qualifying
Termination (which treatment is governed exclusively by Paragraph 3(e)), the entire unvested portion of
the PSUs shall continue to vest after the Termination Date as set forth in the notice of grant, despite the
termination of Continued Service, subject to Paragraph 13(c) hereof.

(e) Qualifying Termination following a Change of Control. Unless the Grantee’s employment, severance or
other written agreement with the Company provides more favorable treatment, in the event that the
Grantee’s Continued Service is involuntarily terminated without Cause (including as a result of the
elimination of his or her position) during the twelve (12) months following a Change of Control
(“Qualifying Termination”), the unvested portion of the PSUs shall vest on the Termination Date, with
the performance goals hereunder being deemed achieved at one-hundred percent (100%) of the target level
of performance. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) to the extent that the Grantee is eligible for a Retirement in
accordance with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 28 of this Agreement and he or she experiences a
Qualifying Termination, the vesting provisions set forth in this Paragraph 3(e) (not Paragraph 3(d)) shall
control, and (ii) Section 13.10 of the Plan does not apply to the PSUs granted hereunder.

) Other Conditions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the vesting terms set forth in this
Paragraph 3 are contingent upon the Grantee being in full compliance with all the terms of this Agreement
at the time of vesting, and (ii) in the case of PSUs as to which the Performance Adjustment referred to in
the notice of grant has not been made at the Termination Date, the PSUs that will be deemed vested on the
Termination Date or otherwise pursuant to this Paragraph 3 shall be determined, and shall vest, when such
Performance Adjustment has occurred.

4, Committee Discretion. The Committee, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser
portion of the balance, of the PSUs at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such PSUs will be considered
as having vested as of the date specified by the Committee. If the Committee, in its discretion, accelerates the vesting of the
balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the PSUs and the PSUs are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of
Section 409A, the payment of such accelerated PSUs nevertheless shall be made at the same time or times as if such PSUs had
vested in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the notice of grant (whether or not the Grantee remains in Continued
Service through such date(s)). The immediately preceding sentence may be superseded in a future agreement or amendment to
this Award Agreement only by direct and specific reference to the sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such PSUs that are
“deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A are accelerated in connection with the Grantee’s termination of
Continued Service (other than due to death), the PSUs that vest on account of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service will
not be considered due or payable until the Grantee has a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. In



addition, if the Grantee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of the Grantee’s separation
from service, then any such accelerated PSUs otherwise payable within the six (6) month period following the Grantee’s
separation from service instead will be paid on the date that is six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of the Grantee’s
separation from service, unless the Grantee dies following his or her separation from service, in which case, the accelerated PSUs
will be paid to the Grantee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to Paragraph 8. Thereafter, such
PSUs shall continue to be paid in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement. Each
payment payable to a U.S. taxpayer under this Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2). For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any final Treasury Regulations and other Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder,
as each may be amended from time to time.

5. Payment after Vesting. Any PSUs that vest in accordance with Paragraph 4 will be released to the Grantee (or in
the event of the Grantee’s death, to his or her estate) in Shares as soon as practicable following the date of vesting, subject to
Paragraph 8, but in no event later than the applicable two and one-half (2-/%) month period of the “short-term deferral” rule set
forth in the Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the Treasury Regulations issued under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the
PSUs are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A, the vested PSUs will be released to the Grantee (or in
the event of the Grantee’s death, to his or her estate) in Shares as soon as practicable following the date of vesting, subject to
Paragraph 8, but in no event later than the end of the calendar year that includes the date of vesting or, if later, the fifteen (15th)
day of the third (3rd) calendar month following the date of vesting (provided that the Grantee will not be permitted, directly or
indirectly, to designate the taxable year of the payment). Further, if some or all of the PSUs that are “deferred compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A vest on account of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service (other than due to death)
in accordance with Paragraph 3, the PSUs that vest on account of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service will not be
considered due or payable until the Grantee has a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. In addition, if
the Grantee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of the Grantee’s separation from service
(other than due to death), then any accelerated PSUs will be paid to the Grantee no earlier than six (6) months and one (1) day
following the date of the Grantee’s separation from service unless the Grantee dies following his or her separation from service,
in which case, the PSUs will be paid to the Grantee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to
Paragraph 8. Any PSUs that vest in accordance with Paragraph 4 will be paid to the Grantee (or in the event of the Grantee’s
death, to his or her estate) in Shares in accordance with the provision of such paragraph, subject to Paragraph 8.

6. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the PSUs that have not
vested pursuant to Paragraphs 3 or 4 at the time the Grantee ceases to be in Continued Service will be forfeited and automatically
transferred to and reacquired by the Company at no cost to the Company. The Grantee shall not be entitled to a refund of any of
the price paid for the PSUs forfeited to the Company pursuant to this Paragraph 6.

7. Death of Grantee. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Grantee under this Agreement will, if the Grantee
is then deceased, be made to the administrator or executor of the Grantee’s estate (or such other person to whom the PSUs are
transferred pursuant to the Grantee’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution). Any such transferee must
furnish the Company (a) written notice of his or her status as a transferee, (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish
the validity of the transfer of these PSUs and compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to such transfer, and (c) written
acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Performance Stock Unit grant as set forth in this Agreement.




8. Withholding of Taxes. When the Shares are issued as payment for vested PSUs, the Grantee will recognize
immediate U.S. taxable income if the Grantee is a U.S. taxpayer. If the Grantee is a non-U.S. taxpayer, the Grantee may be
subject to applicable taxes in his or her jurisdiction. The Company (or the employing parent of the Company or Subsidiary) will
withhold a portion of the Shares otherwise issuable in payment for vested PSUs that have an aggregate market value sufficient to
pay the federal, state and local income, employment and any other applicable taxes required to be withheld by the Company (or
the employing parent of the Company or Subsidiary) with respect to the Shares, not to exceed the amount determined by using
the maximum federal, state or local marginal income tax rates applicable to the Grantee or the Company, as applicable, with
respect to the Shares on the date that the amount of tax to be withheld or remitted is to be determined. No fractional Shares will
be withheld or issued pursuant to the grant of PSUs and the issuance of Shares thereunder. The Company (or the employing
parent of the Company or Subsidiary) may instead, in its discretion, withhold an amount necessary to pay the applicable taxes
from the Grantee’s paycheck, with no withholding of Shares. In the event the withholding requirements are not satisfied through
the withholding of Shares (or, through the Grantee’s paycheck, as indicated above), no payment will be made to the Grantee (or
his or her estate) for PSUs unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as determined by the Committee) have been made by the
Grantee with respect to the payment of any income and other taxes which the Company determines must be withheld or collected
with respect to such PSUs. By accepting this Award, the Grantee expressly consents to the withholding of Shares and to any cash
or Share withholding as provided for in this Paragraph 8. All income and other taxes related to the Performance Stock Unit award
and any Shares delivered in payment thereof are the sole responsibility of the Grantee. In no event will the Company reimburse
the Grantee for any taxes or other costs that may be imposed on the Grantee as result of Section 409A.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Grantee nor any person claiming under or through the Grantee shall have any
of the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until
certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book entry form) shall have been issued, recorded on the records of the
Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to the Grantee (including through electronic delivery to a brokerage
account). Notwithstanding any contrary provisions of this Agreement, any quarterly or other regular, periodic dividends or
distributions (as determined by the Company) paid on Shares will accrue with respect to (i) unvested PSUs and (ii) PSUs that are
vested but unpaid, and no such dividends or other distributions will be paid on PSUs nor PSUs that are vested but unpaid
pursuant to Paragraph 4, and in each case will be subject to the same forfeiture provisions (if any), and be paid out at the same
time or time(s), as the underlying PSUs on which such dividends or other distributions have accrued. After such issuance,
recordation and delivery, the Grantee will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares
and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.

10.  No Effect on Employment or Service. The Grantee’s employment with the Company and any parent of the
Company or Subsidiary is on an at-will basis only, subject to the provisions of applicable law. Accordingly, subject to any
written, express employment contract with the Grantee, nothing in this Agreement or the Plan shall confer upon the Grantee any
right to continue to be employed by the Company or any parent of the Company or Subsidiary or shall interfere with or restrict in
any way the rights of the Company or the employing parent of the Company or Subsidiary, which are hereby expressly reserved,
to terminate the employment of the Grantee at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without good cause. Such reservation
of rights can be modified only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company or the parent
of the Company or Subsidiary employing the Grantee.

11.  Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement shall be addressed
to the Company, in care of its Secretary at the Company’s




headquarters, P.O. Box 10212, 56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, CT 06902-7700, or at such other address as the Company may
hereafter designate in writing.

12. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in Paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby shall not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law
or otherwise) and shall not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign,
pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this grant, or of any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale
under any execution, attachment or similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately shall
become null and void. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Grantee may transfer (not for consideration and for bona fide estate
planning purposes) the Performance Stock Units awarded under this Agreement to a revocable estate planning trust that is
established solely for the benefit of Grantee and his or her immediate family. Any such transfer will be permitted only if it is in
compliance with such rules and procedures as the Company may establish from time to time. Among other things, Grantee must
acknowledge and agree that (a) for U.S. income tax purposes, all taxable income from the Performance Stock Units will be
reported to Grantee alone, (b) if Grantee proposes to change the nature or character of the transferee trust, Grantee first must
inform the Company and the Company may require that the Performance Stock Units be transferred back to Grantee alone, and
(c) no additional other or further transfers of the Performance Stock Units will be permitted under any circumstance.

13. Non-Competition. (a)(i) “Competitive Acts” shall mean: (A) the development, production, marketing or selling of
(or assisting others to develop, produce, market or sell): (x) syndicated research that competes with the Company or its
Subsidiaries; or (y) a product or service which is competitive with the existing or planned products or services of the Company
with which Grantee was involved in or managed at any time during the last twenty-four (24) months of the Grantee’s Continued
Service; and (B) the direct or indirect provision of services to, or solicitation of, the Company’s clients or known prospects with
whom Grantee had contact, managed, or became aware of as a result of being employed by the Company, for the purposes of
developing, producing, marketing or selling such competitive products or services.

(ii) Grantee understands and agrees that the Company’s business is global in nature and that its clients are located
throughout the world; therefore, a territorial limitation on the non-competition covenants set forth in Paragraph 13 would not
allow the Company to adequately protect its legitimate business interests, and the absence of such a limitation is entirely
reasonable under these circumstances. In addition, Grantee agrees that the provisions of this Paragraph 14 are reasonable to
protect and preserve the Company’s legitimate business interests, including the protection of the Company’s Confidential
Information (as defined below) and the Company’s substantial investment made to develop and retain its Confidential
Information, client base, accounts and related goodwill.

(iii) The Company may, in its sole discretion, waive any portion of the Grantee’s obligations contained in Paragraph 13.
No such waiver shall be valid unless directly provided to Grantee, in writing, by the Company’s General Counsel or his/her
designee.

(b) Grantee agrees that, for a period of two (2) years following the termination of his or her Continued Service for any
reason whatsoever (the “Restricted Period”), the Grantee will not, on his or her own behalf or on behalf of any other person or
entity (whether as a consultant, analyst, sales person, independent contractor, independent business venturer, partner, member,
employee or otherwise), directly or indirectly: (i) engage in any Competitive Acts; and/or (ii) entice, encourage, cause or invite
any of the Company’s clients, known prospects, and vendors to discontinue, diminish, or otherwise adversely modify the business
done with the Company, or



otherwise interfere with the relationship between the Company and its clients, known prospects, and vendors.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event of the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service due
to either a Retirement-eligible involuntary termination without Cause or a Retirement-eligible voluntary resignation (whether
during or after the year of grant), as described in Paragraph 3(c) or Paragraph 3(d), as applicable (a “Retirement-Eligible
Separation”), prior to the second (2"9) anniversary of the Grant Date, the Restricted Period shall initially last for two (2) years
following such termination of Continued Service (the “Initial Retirement Restricted Period”); provided, that in order to receive
vesting of any portion of the PSUs following the end of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, the Grantee must comply with
the following (in any event, subject to continued compliance with the terms of the Plan and this Agreement):

@) Initial Post-Restriction Tranche. Provide the Company’s Capital Appreciation Team (via email at
Equity@Gartner.com) and the Company’s General Counsel with (x) no less than five (5) business days prior to the expiration of
the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, a written acknowledgment that, in consideration for vesting of the first tranche of the
PSUs that is scheduled to vest after the Initial Retirement Restricted Period (the “Initial Post-Restriction Tranche”), he or she is
electing to, and shall, be subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 13 through the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-
Restriction Tranche (and in such case, the Restricted Period shall be extended through such vesting date), and (y) no less than
five (5) business days prior to the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, a written confirmation that he or
she has complied with the provisions of this Paragraph 13 from the end of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period and will
comply with such provisions through the applicable vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche. In the event that the
Grantee does not timely provide either or both of such notices, any remaining unvested portion of the PSUs will be immediately
cancelled upon the expiration of the applicable deadline set forth in this Paragraph 13(c)(i).

(ii) Second Post-Restriction Tranche. To the extent that any portion of the PSUs remains unvested following
vesting of the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, provide the Company’s Capital Appreciation Team (via email at
Equity@Gartner.com) and the Company’s General Counsel with (x) no less than five (5) business days prior to the vesting of the
Initial Post-Restriction Tranche, a written acknowledgment that, in consideration for the final tranche of the PSUs that is
scheduled to vest after the Initial Retirement Restricted Period (the “Second Post-Restriction Tranche”), he or she is electing to,
and shall, be subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 13 through the applicable vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction
Tranche (and in such case, the Restricted Period shall be extended through such vesting date), and (y) no less than five (5)
business days prior to the applicable vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction Tranche, a written confirmation that he or she
has complied with the provisions of this Paragraph 13 from the end of the vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche and
will comply with such provisions through the vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction Tranche. In the event that the Grantee
does not timely provide either or both of such notices, any remaining unvested portion of the PSUs will be immediately cancelled
upon the expiration of the applicable deadline set forth in this Paragraph 13(c)(ii).

(iii)  Illustration. For illustrative purposes only, if the Grantee were to incur a termination of Continued Service
due to a Retirement-Eligible Separation three months after the Grant Date, (x) the Initial Retirement Restricted Period would
extend to the date that is two years and three months following the Grant Date (and the first two tranches of the PSUs would vest
during the Initial Retirement Restricted Period on the first and second anniversaries of the Grant Date, subject to the Grantee’s
continued compliance with the terms of this Agreement), (y) in order to receive vesting of the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche,
the Grantee would be required to (A) give written acknowledgment of continued applicability of this Paragraph 13 through the



third anniversary of the Grant Date (i.e., the vesting date for the Initial Post-Restriction Tranche), no less than five business days
prior to expiration of the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and (B) give written confirmation of compliance with this
Paragraph 13 through the third anniversary of the Grant Date, no less than five business days prior to the third anniversary of the
Grant Date, and (z) in order to receive vesting of the Second Post-Restriction Tranche, the Grantee would be required to (A) give
written acknowledgment of continued applicability of this Paragraph 13 through the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date (i.e., the
vesting date for the Second Post-Restriction Tranche), no less than five business days prior to the third anniversary of the Grant
Date, and (B) give written confirmation of compliance with this Paragraph 13 through the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date,
no less than five business days prior to the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date.

(d) Grantee agrees that, in addition to any and all other remedies available to the Company (at law, in equity, or as
otherwise set forth in this Agreement), the Company shall be entitled to liquidated damages for any violation of Paragraph 13
during the Restricted Period (or, in the event of a Retirement-Eligible Separation, the Initial Retirement Restricted Period) in an
amount equal to: (i) the final twelve (12) months’ salary, commissions, and bonus paid to the Grantee; and (ii) an additional
amount equal to the aggregate dollar value of shares underlying any stock appreciation rights, performance stock units, and/or
restricted stock units that vested (or, in the case of stock appreciation rights, vested and Grantee exercised) at any time during the
twelve (12) months prior to the Grantee’s termination of Continued Service. The dollar value of each such share shall be equal to
the closing price of Gartner stock on the date of grant of the applicable stock appreciation right, performance stock unit or
restricted stock unit. To the extent that Grantee chooses to receive the Initial Retirement Post-Restriction Tranche and/or the
Second Post-Restriction Tranche but violates the provisions of Paragraphs 13(c)(i) and/or (ii), respectively, in addition to any and
all other remedies available to the Company (at law, in equity, or otherwise set forth in this Agreement), the Company shall be
entitled to liquidated damages equal to an amount equal to the aggregate dollar value of shares underlying any stock appreciation
rights, performance stock units, and/or restricted stock units that vested (or, in the case of stock appreciation rights, vested and
Grantee exercised) at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to the violation of such Paragraph. Grantee agrees that the
liquidated damages set forth herein are a reasonable approximation of the damages experienced by the Company for a violation
of Paragraph 13, and are not to be deemed a penalty of any kind.

(e) Grantee acknowledges that the time, geographic and scope limitations of the non-competition obligation set forth
herein are fair and reasonable in all respects, and that Grantee will not be precluded from gainful employment if obligated to
comply with the provisions hereof. To the extent a court of appropriate jurisdiction finds the duration and/or geographic scope of
the non-competition or non-solicitation restrictions to be unenforceable under applicable law, then it is the intention of the parties
that such restriction be enforced to the fullest extent which the court deems reasonable. In the event of Grantee’s breach or
violation of this Paragraph 13, or good faith allegation by the Company of such breach or violation, the Restricted Period, the
Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 13(c)(i) and (ii) (as applicable),shall be tolled until
such breach or violation, or allegation thereof, has been duly cured or resolved.

(f) During the Restricted Period, the Initial Retirement Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 13(c)(i)
and (ii) (as applicable), the Grantee will notify (in writing and not less than 72 hours in advance) the Company’s General Counsel
if he or she intends to become an employee or other service provider of any entity other than the Company (for example, but not
by way of limitation, as an employee, consultant, analyst, sales person, independent contractor, agent, independent business
venturer, partner or member).



14. Non-Solicitation and No-Hire. The Grantee further agrees that, during the Restricted Period, the Initial Retirement
Restricted Period, and the periods set forth in Paragraphs 13(c)(i) and (ii) (as applicable), the Grantee will not, directly or
indirectly solicit, entice, or recruit employees of the Company to leave its employ, or offer or cause to be offered employment to
any person who was employed by the Company at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to the termination of Grantee’s
Continued Service. General mass solicitations of employment that are not directed at the Company or any employee(s) of the
Company shall not be prohibited by this Paragraph 14. For purposes of this Paragraph 14 (and the preceding Paragraph 13, the
“Company” shall include the Company and its Subsidiaries).

15. Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under the Agreement to single or multiple
assignees, and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. The rights and obligations
of the Grantee under this Agreement may be assigned only with the prior written consent of the Company.

16. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested PSUs awarded under this Agreement
will be registered under the federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, the Grantee’s subsequent
sale of the Shares will be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply with the
Company’s insider trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.

17.  Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties
hereto.

18.  Conditions for Issuance of Stock. The shares of stock deliverable to the Grantee may be either previously
authorized but unissued shares or issued shares which have been reacquired by the Company. The Company shall not be required
to transfer on its books or list in street name with a brokerage company or otherwise issue any certificate or certificates for Shares
hereunder prior to fulfillment of all the following conditions: (a) the admission of such Shares to listing on all stock exchanges on
which such class of stock is then listed; and (b) the completion of any registration or other qualification of such Shares under any
state or federal law or under the rulings or regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental
regulatory body, which the Committee shall, in its absolute discretion, deem necessary or advisable; and (c) the obtaining of any
approval or other clearance from any state or federal governmental agency, which the Committee shall, in its absolute discretion,
determine to be necessary or advisable; and (d) the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of vesting of the
PSUs as the Committee may establish from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.

19.  Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between
one or more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall govern.
Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

20. Committee Authority. The Committee shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt
such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke
any such rules (including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any PSUs have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Committee shall be final and binding upon the Grantee, the Company and all
other persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law. No member of the Committee shall be personally
liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.



21. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company, in its sole discretion, may decide to deliver any documents
related to Performance Stock Units awarded under the Plan or future Performance Stock Units that may be awarded under the
Plan by electronic means. The Grantee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate
in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated
by the Company.

22.  Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Agreement.

23.  Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable,
such provision shall be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability shall not be construed to have any effect on, the
remaining provisions of this Agreement.

24, Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. The
Grantee expressly warrants that he or she is not executing this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or
inducements other than those contained herein.

25. Modifications to the Agreement; Clawback. The Plan and this Agreement together the entire understanding of the
parties on the subjects covered. The Grantee expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any
promises, representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan can be
made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the Plan or this Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or
advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of the Grantee, to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income
recognition under Section 409A prior to the actual payment of Shares pursuant to this award of PSUs, provided that such revision
would not materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this Agreement. Additionally, this
Agreement and the award made hereunder shall be subject to any clawback policy which the Company may adopt from time to
time as required by law or otherwise.

26.  Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this award, the Grantee expressly warrants that
he or she has received an award under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. The Grantee
understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time.

27. Governing Law. This Agreement and the grant of PSUs shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of law provisions; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing,
Sections 13 and 14 of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Connecticut, without regard to its conflicts of
law provisions.

28. Defined Terms: Capitalized terms used in this Agreement without definition will have the meanings provided for
in the Plan. When used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms will have the following meanings:

“Confidential Information” means all information related to the operation of the Company's business and

knowledge of the Company's assets, including, but not limited to, (i) financial information, (ii) products, (iii)
product and services costs, prices, profits and sales, (iv) forecasts, (v) computer programs, (vi) data bases
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(and the documentation and information contained therein), (vii) computer access codes and similar information,
(viii) software ideas, (ix) know-how, technologies, concepts and designs, (x) research projects and all information
connected with research and development efforts, (xi) records, (xii) business relationships, methods and
recommendations, (xiii) client lists (including identities of clients and prospective clients, identities of individual
contracts at business entities which are clients or prospective clients, client spending, preferences, business or
habits), (xiv) subscription or consultant termination dates, (xv) personnel files, (xvi) competitive analyses, (xvii)
other confidential or proprietary information or trade secrets that have not been made available to the general
public by the Company's senior management, and (xviii) non-public information provided to the Company by its
clients, and other tangible or intangible assets and other information obtained by the Grantee in the course of his or
her employment with the Company.

“Continued Service” means that the Grantee’s employment relationship is not interrupted or terminated by the
Grantee, the Company, or any parent or Subsidiary of the Company. The Grantee’s employment relationship will
not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) any leave of absence approved in accordance with the Company’s
written personnel policies, including sick leave, family leave, military leave, or any other personal leave; or

(ii) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company and any parent, Subsidiary or successor;
provided, however, that, unless otherwise provided in the Company’s written personnel policies, in this Agreement
or under applicable laws, rules or regulations, or unless the Committee has otherwise expressly provided for
different treatment with respect to this Agreement, (x) no such leave may exceed ninety (90) days, and (y) any
vesting shall cease on the ninety-first (91%) consecutive date of any leave of absence during which the Grantee’s
employment relationship is deemed to continue and will not recommence until such date, if any, upon which the
Grantee resumes service with the Company, its parent, Subsidiary or successor. If the Grantee resumes such
service in accordance with the terms of the Company’s military leave policy, upon resumption of service, the
Grantee will be given vesting credit for the full duration of the Grantee’s leave of absence. Continuous
employment will be deemed interrupted and terminated for the Grantee if the Grantee’s weekly work hours change
from full time to part time. Part-time status for the purpose of vesting continuation will be determined in
accordance with policies adopted by the Company from time to time, which policies, if any, shall supersede the
determination of part-time status set forth in the Company’s posted “employee status definitions”.

“Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.

“Retirement” means termination of the Grantee’s employment in accordance with the Company’s retirement
policies, as in effect from time to time, if on the date of such termination, the Grantee is at least 55 years old, and
his or her Continued Service has extended for at least ten (10) years.

Your acceptance of this grant indicates your agreement and understanding that this grant is subject to all of the terms and
conditions contained in the Plan and this Award Agreement, which includes the notice of grant and this Agreement.
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As a condition to receiving this Performance Stock Unit grant and in consideration of such grant, you accept and
agree to abide by the Agreement Regarding Certain Conditions of Employment provided to you in connection with such
grant, including but not limited to the confidentiality and post-employment restrictions on competition set forth therein.
You hereby ratify, affirm and consent to those terms and conditions.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Entity Name

1422722 Ontario Inc.

Burton Group, Inc.

Capterra Inc.

CEB (Barbados) SRL

CEB Global Holdings Limited

CEB Global Limited

CEB Holdings UK 1 Limited

CEB Holdings UK 2 Limited

CEB Inc.

CEB International Holdings, Inc.
Computer Financial Consultants Limited
Computer Financial Consultants, Inc.
CXO Acquisition Co.

Dataquest, Inc.

Evanta Ventures, Inc.

G.G. Properties, Ltd.

Gartner Advisory (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Gartner Australasia PTY Limited (including branch in New Zealand)

Gartner Austria GmbH
Gartner Belgium BVBA (including branch in Luxembourg)
Gartner Canada Co.

Gartner Consulting (Beijing) Co., LTD. (including branches in Shanghai & Shenzhen)

Gartner Cyprus Ltd

Gartner Danmark ApS

Gartner Deutschland GmbH

Gartner do Brasil Servicos de Pesquisas Ltda.

Gartner Espana, S.L. (including branch in Portugal)
Gartner Europe Holdings B.V.

Gartner Finland Oy

Gartner France SARL

Gartner Group (Thailand) Ltd.

Gartner Group Taiwan Ltd.

Gartner Gulf FZ LLC (including branch in Abu Dhabi)
Gartner Holdings Cyprus Ltd

Gartner Holdings, LLC

Gartner Hong Kong Limited

Gartner India Research & Advisory Services Private Limited
Gartner Investments I, LLC

Gartner Investments II, LLC

Gartner Ireland Limited

State/Country

Ontario, Canada

Utah, United States
Delaware, United States
Barbados

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
United Kingdom
United States
Delaware, United States
California, United States
Delaware, United States
Bermuda

Singapore

Australia

Austria

Belgium

Nova Scotia, Canada
China

Cyprus

Denmark

Germany

Brazil

Spain

Netherlands

Finland

France

Thailand

Taiwan

United Arab Emirates
Cyprus

Delaware, United States
Hong Kong

India

Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
Ireland

EXHIBIT 21.1



SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Entity Name

Gartner Israel Advisory Ltd.
Gartner Italia S.r.l.

Gartner Japan Ltd.

Gartner Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Gartner Nederland B.V.

Gartner Norge AS

Gartner Poland Sp. z o.0.

Gartner QFC LLC

Gartner Research & Advisory (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Gartner Research & Advisory Korea Co., Ltd.

Gartner Research Holdings Ltd.
Gartner RUS LLC

Gartner Saudi Arabia Limited
Gartner South Africa (Pty) Ltd.
Gartner Sverige AB

Gartner Switzerland GmbH

Gartner Turkey Teknoloji Aragtirma ve Danmismanlik Hizmetleri Limited Sirketi

Gartner U.K. Limited

Gartner, LLC

Infinote Corporation

Infinote India Private Limited

L2, Inc.

Leadership Transition Institute, LLC
Machina Research USA, Incorporated
Meta Group GmbH

META Group Saudi

Nubera eBusiness, S.L.

Pulse Q&A Inc.

Pulse Social Research Platform Inc.
SCM World US Inc.

Senexx Israel Ltd.

SirclelT, Inc.

Software Advice, Inc.

Sports Leadership Acquisition Co.
Talent Assessment Holdings Ltd.
The Research Board, Inc.

TOPO Research, LLC

Valtera Corporation

EXHIBIT 21.1

State/Country

Israel

Italy

Japan

Mexico

Netherlands

Norway

Poland

Qatar

Malaysia

Korea

Bermuda

Russia

Saudi Arabia

South Africa

Sweden

Switzerland

Turkey

United Kingdom
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
India

Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
Germany

Saudi Arabia

Spain

Delaware, United States
Canada

Delaware, United States
Israel

Delaware, United States
California, United States
Delaware, United States
United Kingdom
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States
Illinois, United States



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-104753, 333-127349, 333-160924, 333-176058, 333-200585, 333-
217347, and 333-258460) on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 23, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Gartner, Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s KPMG LLP

New York, New York

February 23, 2022



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Eugene A. Hall, certify that:

)
@)

3

4)

&)

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Gartner, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ Eugene A. Hall

Eugene A. Hall
Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 23, 2022



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Craig W. Safian, certify that:

e
&)

®3)

“

®)

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Gartner, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ Craig W. Safian

Craig W. Safian
Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 23, 2022



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Gartner, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Eugene A. Hall, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Craig W. Safian, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(@) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Eugene A. Hall

Name: Eugene A. Hall

Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 23, 2022

/s/ Craig W. Safian

Name: Craig W. Safian

Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 23, 2022

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Appendix L
Certificate of Compliance

In compliance with Local Law 1-2006, as amended. the Proposer/Bidder hereby certifies the
following:
1. The chief executive officer of the Proposer/Bidder is:

Gartner, Inc. (Name)

56 Top Gallant Road, Stamford, CT - 06902-7700, United States of America ( Address)

+1-203-964-0096 (Telephone Number)

2. The Proposer/Bidder agrees to comply with the requirements of the Nassau County
Living Wage Law, and with all applicable federal, state and local laws.

3. Inthe past five years, Proposer/Bidder has _X _ has not been found by a court
or a government agency to have violated federal, state, or local laws regulating payment
of wages or benefits, labor relations, or occupational safety and health. If a violation has
been assessed by the Proposer/Bidder, describe below:

4. In the past five years, an administrative proceeding, investigation, or government body-
initiated judicial action has _ x_ has not been commenced against or relating to
the Proposer/Bidder in connection with federal, state, or local laws regulating payment of
wages or benefits, labor relations, or occupational safety and health. If such a proceeding,
action, or investigation has been commenced, describe below:

28



5. Proposer/Bidder agrees to permit access to work sites and relevant payroll records by
authorized County representatives for the purpose of monitoring compliance with the
Living Wage Law and investigating employee complaints of noncompliance.

I hereby certify that | have read the foregoing statement and, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, it is true, correct and complete. Any statement or representation made herein shall be
accurate and true as of the date stated below.

% // / 6’/ 2059
i - "V Contracts

Signature of

/g/a/d///fm /ﬁonmu
Name of ‘/ Y/T{TC%%S

Sworn to before me this

/8 dayor :Ta’m(a/v 2005

L47/ //(O"Z

Notary Purllc «.a 5, MELISSA A MCKAY

9 /"

f‘\q Notary Public - State of Fldrida
J Commission # HH 122101

or n. My Comm. Expires Apr 26, 2025

Bonded through National Notary Assn.
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Board of Directors
September 2018 — Page 1

Board of Directors

The following figure shows the Gartner Board of Directors.

Figure 1. Gartner Board of Directors
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Michael J. Bingle has been a director since October 2004. Mr. Bingle is a Managing Partner
and Managing Director of Silver Lake, a private equity firm that he joined in January 2000. Prior
thereto, he was a principal with Apollo Management, L.P., a private equity firm, and an
investment banker at Goldman, Sachs & Co. Mr. Bingle is a former director of TD Ameritrade
Holding.

Peter Bisson has been a director since August 2016. He recently retired from McKinsey &
Company where he last served as Director and Global Leader of the High Tech Practice. Mr.
Bisson held a number of other leadership positions at McKinsey & Company, including chair of
its knowledge committee, which guides the firm’s knowledge investment and communication
strategies, member of the firm’s shareholders committee, and leader of the firm’s strategy and
telecommunications practices. In more than 30 years at McKinsey & Company, Mr. Bisson
advised a variety of multinational public companies in the technology-based products and
services industry. His experience includes advising clients on corporate strategy and M&A,
design and execution of performance improvement programs, marketing and technology
development. Mr. Bisson is also a director of ADP.
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Richard J. Bressler has been a director since February 2006. Mr. Bressler is President and
Chief Financial Officer of iHeartMedia, Inc., and Chief Financial Officer of Clear Channel
Outdoor Holdings, Inc. Prior to joining iHeartMedia, he served as Managing Director of Thomas
H. Lee Partners, L.P., a Boston-based private equity firm, from 2006 to July 2013. He joined
Thomas H. Lee Partners from his role as Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Viacom Inc., where he managed all strategic, financial, business development and
technology functions. Mr. Bressler has also served in various capacities with Time Warner Inc.,
including Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Time Warner Digital Media and Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Time Warner Inc. Prior to joining Time Inc., he was
a partner with the accounting firm of Ernst & Young. Mr. Bressler is currently a Director of
iHeartMedia, Inc., and a former director of The Nielsen Company B.V. and Warner Music Group
Corp.

Raul E. Cesan has been a director since February 2012. Since 2001, Mr. Cesan has been the
Founder and Managing Partner of Commercial Worldwide LLC, an investment firm. Prior
thereto, he spent 25 years at Schering — Plough Corporation, serving in various capacities of
substantial responsibility: the President and Chief Operating Officer (from 1998 to 2001);
Executive Vice President of Schering-Plough Corporation and President of Schering-Plough
Pharmaceuticals (from 1994 to 1998); President of Schering Laboratories, U.S. Pharmaceutical
Operations (from 1992 to 1994); and President of Schering — Plough International (from 1988
to 1992). Mr. Cesan is also a director of The New York Times Company.

Karen E. Dykstra has been a director since July 2007. She served as Chief Financial and
Administrative Officer from November 2013 to July 2015, and as Chief Financial Officer from
September 2012 to November 2013, of AOL, Inc. From January 2007 until December 2010,
Ms. Dykstra was a Partner of Plainfield Asset Management LLC (“Plainfield”), and she served
as Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Plainfield Direct LLC, Plainfield’s
business development company, from May 2006 to 2010, and as a director from 2007 to 2010.
Prior thereto, she spent over 25 years with Automatic Data Processing, Inc., serving most
recently as Chief Financial Officer from January 2003 to May 2006, and prior thereto as Vice
President — Finance, Corporate Controller and in other capacities. Ms. Dykstra is a director of
VMware, Inc. and a former director of Crane Co. and AOL, Inc.

Anne Sutherland Fuchs has been a director since July 1999. She served as Group President,
Growth Brands Division, Digital Ventures, a division of J.C. Penney Company, Inc., from
November 2010 until April 2012. She also served as Chair of the Commission on Women’s
Issues for New York City during the Bloomberg Administration, a position she held from 2002
through 2013. Previously, Ms. Fuchs served as a consultant to companies on branding and
digital initiatives, and as a senior executive with operational responsibility at LVMH Moét
Hennessy Louis Vuitton, Phillips de Pury & Luxembourg and several publishing companies,
including Hearst Corporation, Conde Nast, Hachette and CBS. Ms. Fuchs is also a director of
Pitney Bowes Inc.

William O. Grabe has been a director since April 1993. Mr. Grabe is an Advisory Director of
General Atlantic LLC, a global private equity firm. Prior to joining General Atlantic in 1992,

Mr. Grabe was a Vice President and Corporate Officer of IBM Corporation. Mr. Grabe is
presently a director of Covisint Corporation, QTS Realty Trust, Inc. and Lenovo Group Limited
as well as private companies that are portfolio companies of General Atlantic. Mr. Grabe is a
former director of Infotech Enterprises Limited, Compuware Corporation and iGate Computer
Systems Limited (formerly Patni Computer Systems Ltd.)
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Eugene A. Hall has been our Chief Executive Officer and a director since August 2004. Prior to
joining Gartner, Mr. Hall was a senior executive at Automatic Data Processing, Inc., a Fortune
500 global technology and service company, serving most recently as President, Employers
Services Major Accounts Division, a provider of human resources and payroll services. Prior to
joining ADP in 1998, Mr. Hall spent 16 years at McKinsey & Company, most recently as
Director.

Stephen G. Pagliuca has served as a director from July 1990 (except for a six month hiatus
beginning in late 2009 when he entered the Massachusetts U.S. Senate race). Mr. Pagliuca is a
Managing Director of Bain Capital Partners, LLC and is also a Managing Partner and an owner
of the Boston Celtics basketball franchise. Mr. Pagliuca joined Bain & Company in 1982, and
founded the Information Partners private equity fund for Bain Capital in 1989. Prior to joining
Bain, Mr. Pagliuca worked as a senior accountant and international tax specialist for Peat
Marwick Mitchell & Company in the Netherlands. Mr. Pagliuca is a director of several private
companies that are portfolio companies of Bain Capital, and a former director of Burger King
Holdings, Inc., HCA, Inc. (Hospital Corporation of America), Quintiles Transnational Corporation
and Warner Chilcott PLC.

James C. Smith has been a director since October 2002 and Chairman of the Board since
August 2004. Until its sale in 2004, Mr. Smith was Chairman of the Board of First Health Group
Corp., a national health benefits company. Mr. Smith also served as First Health’s Chief
Executive Officer from January 1984 through January 2002 and President from January 1984 to
January 2001. Mr. Smith is a director of various private companies.
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Stockholder Ownership

Gartner is a publicly owned company with common stock traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “IT.” At the present time, Gartner does not have any individuals with
5% or more of the company shares.
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Certifications, Accreditations and Third-Party
Recognition

Gartner was named to Forbes America’s Best Employers 2018. Gartner was ranked
199th on Forbes America’s Best Employers 2018 top large companies list. Companies,
like Gartner, compete aggressively for top talent, piling on more perks and benefits every
year. Forbes partnered with market research company Statista to identify the companies
liked best by employees with an annual ranking of America’s best employers.

Gartner was recognized as a Best Place To Work For LGBTQ Equality. Gartner received
a top score of 100 percent on the 2018 Corporate Equality Index. Gartner’s 2018 award
follows recognition received by CEB in previous years.

Gartner was named one of Fortune’s 2018 World’s Most Admired Companies. Gartner,
is proud to be fourth on Fortune Magazine’s Information Technology Services Most
Admired list. Within Information Technology Services, Gartner ranked in the top ten of all
nine key criteria and in the top four for innovation, people management, quality of
management, financial soundness. quality of products/services and global
competitiveness.

Gartner has earned a Glassdoor Employees’ Choice Award, which honors the top 50
Best Places to Work across the United Kingdom. This award was entirely based on
feedback employees voluntarily and anonymously shared on Glassdoor.

Gartner was named to Forbes’ list of the Best Management Consulting Firms for 2018.
Gartner is also proud to be top ranked on Forbes’ list of Top Professional Service Firms.
Within the Professional Service Firms industry, Gartner ranked higher than competitors.

Gartner was rated the No. 1 Analyst Firm of the Year 2016 (again from 2015 and “the
clear category leader”), and in 2015 having the No. 1 Analyst as well (with four in the top
ten) within the Kea Company survey as posted by the Institute of Industry Analyst
Relations.

Gartner’s Machina (acquired 2016) was named Best New Entrant 2016 by the Institute
of Industry Analyst Relations.

Gartner was rated the No. 1 Analyst Firm of the Year 2014, across all ten categories,
within the Kea Company value survey of 1,900+ worldwide IT analyst firm users.

Gartner was rated No. 1 within the Analyst Value Survey 2013 conducted by Kea
Company for “Producing the Most Valuable” (a) Research/Data, (b) Events, (c) Inquiry
Calls, (d) Reprint Rights, and (e) Advisory/strategy.

Gartner is certified to the internationally recognized ISO 9001:2015 quality standard for
‘Benchmarking of IT cost efficiency, IT outsource contract pricing, IT customer
satisfaction and/or IT and business alignment, using a database of comparative
information, carried out through a network of European offices’. The certification is
awarded by BSI and covers the Gartner offices in Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland,
France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and
U.K.

Gartner fields 850 media inquiries per month worldwide from leading business and trade
publications, online news portals and broadcast media interested in what we have to say
about the business of technology.

© 2018 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

Gartner is a trademark of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates.
For INTERNAL or RESTRICTED use of Gartner only. ®



Certifications, Accreditations and Third-Party Recognition
February 2019 — Page 2

B The Wall Street Journal, The Economist and The Financial Times, along with more than
30 other leading business publications worldwide, consider Gartner a trusted,
independent source, quoting us an average of 70 times every week.

B 73% of the Global 500 support their key technology decisions with Gartner advice.

B Gartner (Stamford and Trumbull locations) was voted one of the 20 Great Places to
Work by Connecticut Magazine.

B Gartner was named one of the world’s Most InDemand Employers for 2012 by LinkedIn.
B Gartner made Glassdoor’s list of 50 Best Places to Work for 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013.
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Acquisitions History

Since its inception, Gartner has made many acquisitions and investments. The acquired
businesses, people and products have broadened our comprehensive suite of product solutions
to business and IT professionals worldwide. Acquisitions in the past 10 years, and other key
acquisitions, are set forth in Table 1 below.

Table 1.  Gartner Acquisitions

Acquired

Organization

Acquisition
Date

Description of acquired business

CEB

April 2017

Best practices and talent management business

L2

March 2017

Marketing benchmarking business

Machina Research

November 2016

Provides strategic insight and market intelligence related to
Machine-to-Machine, Internet of Things, and Big Data

SCM World June 2016 Supply Chain research and events business

Capterra, Inc. September 2015 Prowdgr of software products lead generation for small
enterprises

Nubera eBusiness June 2015 Prowde_r of software products lead generation for small
enterprises

SirclelT/ Natural Language processing and Artificial Intelligence

June 2014

Senexx Israel technology development company

Marketvisio May 2014 F(_)rmer Gar_tr!er sgles ag(_ant and research firm in Finland
with a subsidiary in Russia

Software Advice March 2014 Prowdgr of software products lead generation for small
enterprises

Ideas International July 2012 Provider of tools, price and feature comparison data for the

server and storage market

Burton Group

December 2009

Leading research and advisory services firm providing
practical, technically in-depth advice to frontline IT
professionals

AMR Research

December 2009

Leading research and advisory services firm serving supply
chain management and IT professionals

META Group

April 2005

Leading provider of IT research, advisory services and
strategic consulting

The Research Board

May 1998

Exclusive members-only research organization composed
of the top CIOs worldwide

Dataquest, Inc.

December 1995

A leading provider of market research, statistical and
forecasting data to IT vendors, manufacturers and investors
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1.0 Gartner’s Best and Final Offer

1.1 Overview

Gartner, Inc. (“Gartner”) is pleased to provide the Office of the Nassau County
Comptroller (“County”) with this Best and Final Offer (“BAFQ”) for Project Monitoring
and Quality Assurance (PMQA) Services. As we have demonstrated throughout the
proposal process, Gartner remains committed to the success of the County’s ERP
initiative. We are the right PMQA partner to complement the County’s team to help
ensure the successful execution of this critical initiative.

In response to the County’s BAFO request dated August 24, 2020 Gartner has prepared
the following revision to our July 13, 2020 pricing. The key components of our revised
price proposal are summarized below:

1. Gartner maintained the staffing approach and team proposed in our initial
response. We preserved our highly qualified core team and subject matter
experts (“SMEs”) the County met during our Orals presentation on December 4,
2019 and June 24, 2020.

2. Gartner augmented its PM/QA approach to include a baseline readiness
assessment to ensure that we efficiently and effectively are up to speed with the
results of the prior phases as well as provide the County with an independent
assessment of System integrator readiness and County project team readiness.

3. While maintaining the same team and augmenting the approach, Gartner
provides a reduction of $27,098 from its prior BAFO to further demonstrate our
commitment to the County and the success of this initiative.

The Gartner Team fully recognizes the significance and importance of this project. The
ERP modernization is an essential initiative that will open a new world of operational
efficiencies for the County. We are the right team as only Gartner brings together the
highly qualified project team that has both extensive ERP PM/QA experience with the
full support and objective insight of the world’s leading information technology research
analysts.

1.2 Gartner’s PM/QA Approach Summary

Gartner’s approach to Nassau’s ERP modernization project is designed to drive
progress and manage risk every day. Our Project Monitoring approach is a direct
product of our experience with public and commercial sector clients. Our methodology
correlates life cycle phases with project workstreams, and identifies key activities
instrumental to the success of the project and which act as an early warning system for
developing issues.

Page 2
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Our team will use this approach to structure their activities, and to validate that the
project is addressing all the right issues, at the right times as well as ensure the County
has the necessary guidance and assistance to help course correct any potential
challenges. Gartner’s approach as illustrated in Figure 1 aligns to all the activities and
tasks that the County outlined in its RFP solicitation.

Figure 1. Gartner Approach for Phase Ill: ERP Project Monitoring and Targeted Quality
Assurance

Phase Illl: ERP Project Monitoring & Targeted Quality Assurance

Iniiate PMQA Assistance }——P Provide Targeted Quality Assurance

= Confirm PMQA goals, objectives, responsibilities and approach = Assist with oversight and risk management throughout the SDLC
= Identify key stakeholders and validate core project team = Provide project monitoring support to the County and the Sl in the form of

+ Review proposed sample deliverables to ensure that the breadth, depth, and - g&%‘?&?ﬁ P[':Jif;[w?g.er‘;“:;j:fe"?:f:t'on
format of the deliverables are acceptable ding regular project : P
- Risk identification mitigation and reporting

<+ = Meetwith key County and Sl stakeholders to discuss project readiness — Tracking and reporting of project issues
F e Request pertinent project documentation, including Phase | and |l deliverables = Monitor project progress/status (scopeirisk management, schedule, budget,
= Review available deliverables, including but not limited to future state vision quality)
requirements traceability matrix, roadmap, business case, system integrator = Provide quality assurance services in the form of
contract - Monthly Risk Assessments
+ Conduct PMQA kickoff meeting - Targeted Deliverable Reviews

- Targeted workstream support
* Frovide regular status reports (ongoing) « Review the SI (draft) project planning documents and proposed deliverables and

provide comments

= Afttendance in regular team, project and steering committee meetings, and in-
depth focus on specific program areas and deliverables to facilitate program
success

= = Baseline Risk and Readiness Assessment = Monthly Risk Assessments
5 * PMQA Approach & Kickoff = Targeted Deliverable Reviews
= = Regular Status Reports
RESTRICTED DISTRIEUTION
4 ® 2020 Gartrer, Inc. sndier its sfiilistes. All ights reserved. Gartner

Task 1: Initiate PMQA Assistance

The goal of our first task, Initiate PMQA Assistance, is to work closely with the County to
set the foundation for a successful Phase Il that is delivered on time and that meets the
County’s objectives. During this step, Gartner will seamlessly get up to speed through
reviewing available documentation and meet with key stakeholders to ascertain
readiness for system implementation. Gartner will also review proposed sample
deliverables with the County and the selected system integrator (Sl) to ensure that the
breadth, depth and format of the deliverables are acceptable (to the County) and
understood (by the Sl). During this step, we will also conduct a PM/QA kickoff meeting
to review our proposed processes and timelines that will set the foundation for ongoing
activities such as our ongoing status reports and risk assessments.

Task 2: Provide Targeted Quality Assurance

The goal of our second task, Provide Targeted Quality Assurance, is to provide
integrated project monitoring and technical quality assurance services to the County, via
a set of 16 monthly assessments and QA reviews across the project life cycle. During
this task, Gartner will assist with project planning and risk management throughout the

Page 3
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SDLC, monitor project progress and status as well as provide project management
support such as risk and issue identification, mitigation and reporting.

Gartner will develop monthly risk assessments, targeted work stream support and
targeted deliverable reviews and feedback throughout the project lifecycle. Furthermore,
Gartner will support key project meetings, including regular project management and
steering committee meetings.

Our approach ensures that the County will achieve its stated goals, including enhancing
business functionality, addressing end-of-life systems and point-solutions, achieving an
“affordable” level of functionality while allowing flexibility for future functionality,
integrating other County systems and standardizing business processes. With Gartner
as the County’s PM/QA partner, Nassau will have an exceptional independent project
view throughout implementation and will be able to get the right information at the right
time in the hands of the right stakeholders.

1.3 Cost Summary

This BAFO reflects the level of effort required to effectively support the County’s ERP
initiative and our commitment to being a strong and effective partner throughout the
implementation. Highlights include:

B As discussed in the Project Team section of the Proposal, Gartner identified a
highly skilled team with all of the required experience necessary to fully support
the County’s ERP project. Through exceptional ongoing strategic support and
targeted quality assurance Gartner will help ensure the project is delivered on
time and on budget.

B Gartner’s consulting staff is highly skilled in applying Gartner’s implementation
best practices to ERP PMQA projects. Gartner comes to the table with a set of
tools and templates developed through prior ERP oversight engagements. This
enables the most effective use of resources by both Gartner and the County,
which results in fewer hours required to complete tasks and deliverables.

It is important to note that Gartner maintained the same team from its original Proposal
with the same level of commitment from the core team member for its PM/QA services.
Gartner has not included any subcontractors as part of its proposed team. As such,
there are no subcontracting costs associated with our Proposal.

Table 1 outlines the cost build-up to the total fixed price for Phase lll. This estimated
allocation by resource is based on the proposed project timeline and assumptions
contained in this BAFO.
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Table 1. Phase lll Staff Hourly Rates and Hours

# Staff Name Role Proposed Rate |Total Hours Total
1|Aparna Nistala Engagement Manager | $ 353.00 730| $ 257,690.00

2 [Nitesh Nagpal Project Consultant S 353.00 580| S 204,740.00
3|Nitin Shenoy Project Consultant S 284.00 580| $ 164,720.00

4 |Keith Brill Subject Matter Expert | S 458.00 360| $ 164,880.00
5[Meg Collins/Brian Conologue [Quality Assurance S 521.00 32| $ 16,672.00

Total: 2282 $808,702.00

1.4 Fee Schedule

Our professional fees are based on the level of effort required to execute the activities
outlined in our Technical Proposal and the assumptions herein. Gartner will invoice a
monthly fee according to the following schedule:

Table 2.  Fee Schedule

Month #|Payment Milestone |Payment
1 Month 1 S 50,543.88
2 Month 2 S 50,543.88
3 Month 3 S 50,543.88
4 Month 4 S 50,543.88
5 Month 5 S 50,543.88
6 Month 6 S 50,543.88
7 Month 7 S 50,543.88
8 Month 8 S 50,543.88
9 Month 9 S 50,543.87
10 Month 10 S 50,543.87
11 Month 11 S 50,543.87
12 Month 12 S 50,543.87
13 Month 13 S 50,543.87
14 Month 14 S 50,543.87
15 Month 15 S 50,543.87
16 Month 16 S 50,543.87

1.5 Pricing Assumptions
Our BAFO pricing is based on the following assumptions:

m The County will provide timely access to all appropriate personnel. These
personnel will provide data necessary to complete this project, answer questions,
provide existing documentation and attend working sessions.

B Resumes of key personnel provided in Gartner’'s Proposal assume a project start
date of January 6, 2021. If the actual project start date is different, proposed
individuals may not be available. In this event, we will work with the County to
identify alternative personnel with appropriate skills and background.

Page 5

© 2020 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
Gartner is a trademark of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates.
For RESTRICTED use of Office of the Nassau County Comptroller only.

Gartner



Engagement: 330059414 — Final
RFP for Financial Based ERP Migration & Pre-Implementation BAFO for Office of the Nassau County Comptroller

Services

02 September 2020

The County will designate a project manager to act as the primary point of
contact for this project. The County project manager will be expected to work
closely with Gartner employees as needed and will: (a) approve project priorities,
detailed task plans and schedules; (b) facilitate the scheduling of Gartner
interviews with appropriate client personnel; (c) notify Gartner in writing of any
project or performance issues; and (d) assist in resolving project issues that may
arise.

Changes in resources or level of effort in order to best meet the objectives of this
engagement will be coordinated with the County Project Manager and approved
prior to application, without exceeding the overall amount of the contract.

The County project team and Gartner realize that it may be necessary to shift
estimated hours between resources in order to best meet project goals. This will
be done through mutual agreement.

The work effort described in Gartner’s Proposal assumes the County personnel
are available to assist in the manner defined in the Technical Proposal. In the
event that County personnel are not available, a change of scope may be
necessary.

The County will review and approve documents within ten business days. If no
formal approval or rejection is received within that time, the deliverable may be
considered accepted.

The County will schedule resources for project activities and provide meeting
facilities.

Office space, telephones, printing/copying and access to the open Internet will be
made available on a reasonable basis to Gartner at the County’s locations.

Any request for additional information or resources beyond the details described
in the Technical proposal that are made by the County will be considered a
change in scope for this engagement and will be handled accordingly (see
Changes to Scope in the Technical Proposal).

All deliverables will be developed using Microsoft products (e.g., Word and
PowerPoint) or Adobe products (e.g., PDF files) with additional media,
presentation and analysis applications/tools for selected training and
communications deliverables.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide our Best and Final Offer and look forward to
reviewing our proposal with the County.
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Any questions regarding this BAFO
should be addressed to:

Brian Conologue

Managing Partner

Gartner, Inc.

291 Broadway, 9th Floor

New York, NY 10007

Telephone: 203 219 7940

Email: brian.conologue@gartner.com

This Proposal was prepared for

Office of the Nassau County Comptroller:

Sergio Blanco

Counsel to the Comptroller

Office of the Nassau County Comptroller
240 Old Country Road, Suite 210
Mineola, NY 11501

Telephone: 516 571 2854

Facsimile: 516 571 5900

Email: sblanco@nassaucountyny.gov
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YORK war keef:;aﬁon CERTIFICATE OF
I | Board NYS WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE COVERAGE
1a. Legal Name & Address of Insured (use street address only) 1b. Business Telephone Number of Insured
GARTNER, INC

56 TOP GALLANT RD
STAMFORD, CT 06902

Work Location of Insured (Only required if coverage is specifically limited to
certain locations in New York State, i.e., a Wrap-Up Policy)

1c. NYS Unemployment Insurance Employer Registration Number of
Insured

1d. Federal Employer Identification Number of Insured or Social Security
Number

04-3099750

2. Name and Address of Entity Requesting Proof of Coverage
(Entity Being Listed as the Certificate Holder)

Nassau County
240 Old Country Road, Suite 210
Mineola NY 1501 USA

3a. Name of Insurance Carrier

American Casualty Company of Reading, PA
3b. Policy Number of Entity Listed in Box "1a"
WC 5 85006231

3c. Policy effective period

06/30/2022 to 06/30/2023

3d. The Proprietor, Partners or Executive Officers are
Iil included. (Only check box if all partners/officers included)
[] all excluded or certain partners/officers excluded.

This certifies that the insurance carrier indicated above in box “3" insures the business referenced above in box “1a” for workers'
compensation under the New York State Workers' Compensation Law. (To use this form, New York (NY) must be listed under Item 3A
on the INFORMATION PAGE of the workers' compensation insurance policy). The Insurance Carrier or its licensed agent will send
this Certificate of Insurance to the entity listed above as the certificate holder in box “2".

The insurance carrier must notify the above certificate holder and the Workers' Compensation Board within 10 days IF a policy is canceled
due to nonpayment of premiums or within 30 days IF there are reasons other than nonpayment of premiums that cancel the policy or
eliminate the insured from the coverage indicated on this Certificate. (These notices may be sent by regular mail.) Otherwise, this
Certificate is valid for one year after this form is approved by the insurance carrier or its licensed agent, or until the policy

expiration date listed in box "3c", whichever is earlier.

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights upon the certificate holder. This certificate does not amend,
extend or alter the coverage afforded by the policy listed, nor does it confer any rights or responsibilities beyond those contained in the

referenced policy.

This certificate may be used as evidence of a Workers' Compensation contract of insurance only while the underlying policy is in effect.

Please Note: Upon cancellation of the workers' compensation policy indicated on this form, if the business continues to be
named on a permit, license or contract issued by a certificate holder, the business must provide that certificate holder with a
new Certificate of Workers' Compensation Coverage or other authorized proof that the business is complying with the
mandatory coverage requirements of the New York State Workers' Compensation Law.

Under penalty of perjury, | certify that | am an authorized representative or licensed agent of the insurance carrier referenced
above and that the named insured has the coverage as depicted on this form.

Approved by: Kathleen Gabey

(Print name of authorized representative or licensed agent of insurance carrier)

Approved by: CJ@L&IMD m

07/27/2022

(Signature) .

Title:  Policy Support Assistant

(Date)

Telephone Number of authorized representative or licensed agent of insurance carrier:

407-804-7423

Please Note: Only insurance carriers and their licensed agents are authorized to issue Form C-105.2. Insurance brokers are NOT

authorized to issue it.
C-105.2 (9-17)

www.wcb.ny.gov



Workers' Compensation Law

Section 57. Restriction on issue of permits and the entering into contracts unless compensation is secured.

1.

The head of a state or municipal department, board, commission or office authorized or required by law to issue any
permit for or in connection with any work involving the employment of employees in a hazardous employment defined
by this chapter, and notwithstanding any general or special statute requiring or authorizing the issue of such permits,
shall not issue such permit unless proof duly subscribed by an insurance carrier is produced in a form satisfactory to
the chair, that compensation for all employees has been secured as provided by this chapter. Nothing herein,
however, shall be construed as creating any liability on the part of such state or municipal department, board,
commission or office to pay any compensation to any such employee if so employed.

The head of a state or municipal department, board, commission or office authorized or required by law to enter into
any contract for or in connection with any work involving the employment of employees in a hazardous employment
defined by this chapter, notwithstanding any general or special statute requiring or authorizing any such contract, shall
not enter into any such contract unless proof duly subscribed by an insurance carrier is produced in a form satisfactory
to the chair, that compensation for all employees has been secured as provided by this chapter.

C-105.2 (9-17) REVERSE
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE(MM/DD/YYYY)
01/24/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND T

HE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. If

.
SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this 5.“:_’
certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). t

PRODUCER ﬁg&lé{-\CT ﬁ

Aon Risk Services Northeast, Inc. PHONE EAX - -

stamford CT office (AIC. No. Ext): 8662837122 (AIC. No,): (800) 363-0105 g

1600 Summer Street E-MAIL °

stamford CT 06907-4907 USA ADDRESS: T
INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

INSURED INSURER A: The Continental Insurance Company 35289

Gartner, %qc d INSURER B: National Fire Ins. Co. of Hartford 20478

|5°g ggg (13821;1nt Roa INSURER C: valley Forge Insurance Co 20508

stamford CT 06904-2212 usA INSURERD:  American Casualty Co. of Reading PA 20427

INSURER E: AIG Specialty Insurance Company 26883
INSURER F: LToyd's Syndicate No. 2623 AA1128623

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 570097516387 REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. Limits shown are as requested

15%5 TYPE OF INSURANCE ?,?g,'j %,U\%R POLICY NUMBER (,\'m}'D'CD\,(WEE,FY ﬁﬂ',‘,';%%, LIMITS

B | X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY Y [ Y 16081135048 06/30/ 757% 30/2023] EACH OCCURRENCE $1,000,000
DAMAGE TO RENTED
| CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR PREMISES (E2 ocourence) $1,000,000
MED EXP (Any one person) $15,000
] PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $1,000,000| %
™
GEN L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $2,000,000| ©
| ] Poviey D s . Loc PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $2,000,000| 2
OTHER: §
A | AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY Y Y 6081318420 06/30/2022|06/30/2023| COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT $1,000, 000 hid
(Ea accident) ’ d .
| X | ANYAUTO BODILY INJURY ( Per person) é’
| owNED i%’::%%ULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) )
— ©
ﬁnlﬁjeégil?%g NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE 3
1 onLy AUTOS ONLY (Per accident) “é
)
A | x | umBRELLALIAB | X | occur 6011488543 06/30/2022(06/30/2023|EACH OCCURRENCE $10,000,000] ©
1 excess Las 1 CLAMS.MADE SIR applies per policy terms & conditions AGGREGATE $10,000,000
DED| X |RETENTION
D | WORKERS COMPENSATION AND Y [585006231 06/30/2022(06/30/2023 X | PER STATUTE | |OTH-
EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN AOS ER
b éﬁ:lEEgZAREII'\EnTB%RRIEF;Q:RILI\IIDIE%I?EXECUTIVE m nial v |585006276 06/30/2022|06/30/2023 E.L. EACHACCIDENT $1,000,000
(Mandatory in NH) CA E.L. DISEASE-EA EMPLOYEE $1,000,000
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT $1,000,000
E | E&O-MPL-Primary 013518083 06/30/2022|06/30/2023|Each Claim $1,000,000
Cyber/Privacy/Claims Aggregate $1,000,000
SIR applies per policy terms & conditions

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

Nassau County are included as Additional Insured as required by written contract but limited to the operations of the Insured
under said contract, per the applicable_endorsement with respects_to the General Liability, Automobile Liability and

Professional Liability policies.

General Liability and Auto Liability evidenced herein is Primary and Non-Contributory to other
insurance available to an Additional Insured, but only in accordance with the policy's provisions.

In addition, a waiver of

Subrogation can be granted in favor of a thi rd party as required by written contract but Tlimit to the operations of the Insured

under said contract, with respect to the General Liability, Automobile and Workers Compensation policies.

Umbrella Tiability

follows form of under]ying coverage: General Liability, Auto Liability and Employers liability.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

Nassau County .
240 0ld Country Road, Suite 210
Mineola NY 1501 USA

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE
EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

NArs Dl T ciiros Nutdonst Sone

B Bt b s LAt Pt PR

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



AGENCY CUSTOMER ID: 570000073310

.. LOC #:
oRe ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE page _ of _

Aon Risk Services Northeast, Inc.

NAMED INSURED

Gartner, Inc.
POLICY NUMBER
See Certificate Number: 570097516387
CARRIER NAIC CODE
See Certificate Number: 570097516387 EFFECTIVE DATE:
ADDITIONAL REMARKS

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: ACORD 25 FORM TITLE: Certificate of Liability Insurance

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
INSURER G: Federal Insurance Company 20281
INSURER
INSURER
INSURER

ADDITIONAL POLICIES

If a policy below does not include limit information, refer to the corresponding policy on the ACORD
certificate form for policy limits.

INSR ADDL |SUBR POLICY NUMBER roLiey POLICY LIMITS
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE INSD |wvD EFF];E::I,I;VE EXP]I)I‘:?{,ION
(MM/DD/YYYY) | (MM/DD/YYYY)
WORKERS COMPENSATION
C N/A | Y 585006326 06/30/2022| 06/30/2023
Retrospective
OTHER
G EPL - Primary 82611717 10/15/2022| 10/15/2023 |Limit per $10,000,000
Claims Made Occurrence
SIR applies per policy teffms & conditilons
Retention $1,000,000

ACORD 101 (2008/01)

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.



Workers'
NEW. | Compensation  CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE

STATE [ Bopard underthe NYS DISABILITY AND PAID FAMILY LEAVE BENEFITS LAW

PART 1. To be completed by Disability and Paid Family Leave Benefits Carrier or Licensed Insurance Agent of that Carrier

la. Legal Name & Addressofinsured (use street address only) 1b. Business Telephone Number of Insured

Gartner, Inc.
56 Top Gallant Road
Stamford, CT 06904 1c. Federal Employer ldentification Number of Insured or
Social Security Number
Work Location of Insured (Only required if coverage is specifically 04-3099750

limited to certain locations in New York State, i.e., Wrap-Up Policy)

2. Name and Address of Entity Requesting Proof of Coverage 3a. Name of Insurance Carrier

(Entity Being Listed as the Certificate Holder) New York Life Group Insurance Company of NY
NassauCo
240 Old Country Road Suite 210 3b. Policy Number of Entity Listed in Box "1a"
Mineola, NY 11501 _NYDO075554
3c. Policy effective period
1/1/2023 to 1/1/2024

4. Policy provides the following benefits:
X A.Both disability and paid family leave benefits.
[0 B. Disability benefits only.
[ C. Paid family leave benefitsonly.

5. Policy covers:

I A.All of the employer's employees eligible under the NYS Disability and Paid Family Leave Benefits Law.
[J B. Only the following class or classes ofemployer's employees:

Under penalty of perjury, | certify that| aman authorized representative or licensed agentof the insurance carrier referenced aboveand
that thenamed insured has NYS Disability and/or Paid Family Leave Benefits insurance coverage as described above.

Y(pree o,
)~

Date Signed  January 24, 2023 By

(Signature of insurance carrier's authorized representative or NYS Licensed Insurance Agent ofthat insurance carrier)

Telephone Number _1-866-761-4236 Name and Title Underwriting Director

IMPORTANT: IfBoxes 4A and 5A are checked, and this form is signed by the insurance carrier's authorized representative or NYS Licensed
Insurance Agent of that carrier, this certificate is COMPLETE. Mail it directly to the certificate holder.

If Box 4B, 4C or 5B is checked, this certificate is NOT COMPLETE for purposes of Section 220, Subd. 8 of the NYS Disability
and Paid Family Leave Benefits Law. It must be mailed for completion to the Workers' Compensation Board, Plans Acceptance
Unit, PO Box 5200, Binghamton, N'Y 13902-5200.

PART 2. To be completed by the NYS Workers' Compensation Board (Only ifBox 4B,4Cor 5B of Part 1 has been checked)

State of New York
Workers' Compensation Board
Accordingto information maintained by the NYS Workers' Compensation Board, the above-named employer has complied with the
NYS Disability and Paid Family Leave Benefits Law with respectto all of his/heremployees.

Date Signed By

(Signatureof Authorized NYS Workers' Compensation Board Employee)

Telephone Number Name and Title

Please Note: Onlyinsurance carriers licensed to write N'YSdisability and paid family leave benefits insurance policies and N'Y Slicensed i nsurance agents of
those insurance carriers are authorized toissue Form DB-120.1. Insurance brokersare NOT authorized to issue orm
L (10-17) I|I

o 0-

thlsfI|
DB-120.1 (10-17) ”HlH‘DB— 20.1



Additional Instructions for Form DB-120.1

By signing this form, the insurance carrier identified in Box 3 on this form is certifying that it is insuring the
business referenced in box "1a" for disability and/or paid family leave benefits under the New York State
Disability and Paid Family Leave Benefits Law. The Insurance Carrier or its licensed agent will send this
Certificate of Insurance to the entity listed as the certificate holder in Box 2.

The insurance carrier must notify the above certificate holder and the Workers' Compensation Board within 10 days
IF apolicy is cancelled due to nonpayment of premiums or within 30 days IF there are reasons other than
nonpayment of premiums that cancel the policy or eliminate the insured from coverage indicated on this Certificate.
(These notices may be sent by regular mail.) Otherwise, this Certificate is valid for one year after this form is
approved by the insurance carrier or its licensed agent, or until the policy expiration date listed in Box 3c, whichever
is earlier.

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights upon the certificate holder. This
certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage afforded by the policy listed, nor does it confer any
rights or responsibilities beyond those contained in the referenced policy.

This certificate may be used as evidence of a Disability and/or Paid Family Leave Benefits contract of insurance
only while the underlying policy is in effect.

Please Note: Upon the cancellation of the disability and/or paid family leave benefits policy indicated on this
form, if the business continues to be named on a permit, license or contract issued by a certificate holder, the
business must provide that certificate holder with a new Certificate of NYS Disability and/or Paid Family Leave
Benefits Coverage or other authorized proof that the business is complying with the mandatory coverage
requirements of the New York State Disability and Paid Family Leave Benefits Law.

DISABILITY AND PAID FAMILY LEAVE BENEFITS LAW
§220. Subd. 8

(a) The head of a state or municipal department, board, commission or office authorized or required by law to issue any
permit for or in connection with any work involving the employment of employees in employment as defined in this
article, and not withstanding any general or special statute requiring or authorizing the issue of such permits, shall not
issue such permit unless proof duly subscribed by an insurance carrier is produced in a form satisfactory to the chair, that
the payment of disability benefits and after January first, two thousand and twenty-one, the payment of family leave
benefits for all employees has been secured as provided by this article. Nothing herein, however, shall be construed as
creating any liability on the part of such state or municipal department, board, commission or office to pay any disability
benefits to any such employee if so employed.

(b) The head of a state or municipal department, board, commission or office authorized or required by law to enter into
any contract for or in connection with any work involving the employment of employees in employment as defined in this
article and notwithstanding any general or special statute requiring or authorizing any such contract, shall not enter into
any such contract unless proof duly subscribed by an insurance carrier is produced in a form satisfactory to the chair, that

the payment of disability benefits and after January first, two thousand eighteen, the payment of family leave benefits for
all employees has been secured as provided by this article.

DB-120.1 (10-17) Reverse
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